Government 2749: Political Psychology and International Relations

Spring 2025 Mon 3 PM - 5 PM ET Classroom: CGIS K107 Harvard University Professor: Joshua D. Kertzer Email: jkertzer@gov.harvard.edu CGIS K206

Office Hours: by appointment

Preliminary syllabus - contents may change (January 25, 2025)

Course description

This graduate seminar explores the intersection of political psychology and international politics. Despite the proliferation of research at this intersection, many (most?) seminars on political psychology cover hardly any IR; many (most?) seminars in IR feature barely any political psychology. This class is an effort to bridge that divide.

Because of the "big tent" nature of IR, the interdisciplinary nature of the topic (spanning political science, various fields of psychology, and behavioral economics), and the ambiguity about what falls under its purview (can you have a theory of politics without a theory of mind? If not, what *doesn't* count as psychological? As Stanley Hoffmann argued in his presidential address to the International Society of Political Psychology in June 1985, "The term political psychology is a pleonasm: not all psychology is about politics, thank goodness, but politics is wholly psychological."), it is impossible to cover the entire field in a twelve week seminar (even with additional reading lists! Including non-required readings, there are about 1350 articles and books on the syllabus this year, and this barely scratches the surface). The course is thus designed as a curated overview, in the hopes that it will familiarize you with some of the debates in the field and introduce you to material you might have not encountered elsewhere, opening up new lines of inquiry, and providing inspiration for future research. The class is normally intended for Gov and HKS PhD students who have taken graduate-level IR courses before.

The reading list for the class is deliberately eclectic, drawing on a wide array of research traditions, and employing a diverse set of methodologies. It includes:

- Foundational works in social psychology and behavioral economics (which I'll group together here as "behavioral approaches"), which much of the psychological work in IR continues to draw from (with varying degrees of fidelity).
- Classic works in IR that draw on behavioral approaches, because it's important to know where the field has been.
- New works in IR that draw on behavioral approaches, which give a sense of where the field is going.

• Cutting edge research in social psychology and behavioral economics, which may give a sense of where the field will be going in the future.

Table 1: Tentative Class Schedule

1	Introduction: Psychology and rationality	January 27, 2025
2	Cold cognition I: Heuristics, biases and prospect theory	February 3, 2025
3	Cold cognition II: Updating, learning, signaling, and predicting	February 10, 2025
4	Hot cognition I: Motivated reasoning, images, stereotypes, and perceptions	February 24, 2025
5	Hot cognition II: Emotions, morality, taboos, and indivisible issues	March 3, 2025
6	Dispositions I: Personality, operational codes, integrative complexity	March 10, 2025
7	Dispositions II: Values, ideology, and culture	March 24, 2025
8	Intergroup I: Small groups, social categorization, social identity, and social dominance	March 31, 2025
9	Intergroup II: Honor, reputation, status, reciprocity, revenge	April 7, 2025
10	Intergroup III: National and transnational identities, and constructing the nation	April 14, 2025
11	Violence as cause and effect: political violence and exposure to threat and repression	April 21, 2025
12	Genetic, neurobiological, evolutionary, and quantum psychology	April 28, 2025

We begin the semester with an introductory class that both reviews course logistics and explores the relationship between psychology and rationality, which we use as a launching pad from which to investigate the landscape of political psychology in international relations.

We spend the following two weeks on what loosely might be thought of as "cold," cognitive models of information processing: heuristics and biases, prospect theory, learning and updating from the past, predicting the future, and communicating through the use of signals. In contrast, the following two weeks focus on what generally might be though of as "hot," motivated models of decision-making: motivated reasoning, images and stereotypes, infrahumanization and dehumanization, perception, as well as emotions, morality, taboos, and indivisible issues. The divisions here are somewhat arbitrary — signaling and perception are mirror images of one another, and a number of the topics covered in subsequent weeks could easily be inserted here instead — but a broader level, what unites these latter two weeks is the way in which political judgments are often affect-laden.

The next two weeks focus on different dispositional theories and individual differences: personality, operational codes, integrative complexity, values, ideology, and culture. Historically, much of the work on personality and operational codes in IR has focused on the leader-level, while much of the work on values and ideology has focused on the mass public, but as the gap between the study of elite and mass political behavior has begun to dissipate, these two weeks might be better thought of as exploring the ways that different types of actors systematically differ from one another more generally.

The next three weeks all explore interaction and intergroup behavior: the psychology of small groups (how do these individual-level differences aggregate?), social categorization, social identity, and social dominance (how do individuals identify with and act as a part of groups in the first place?), honor, reputation and status, reciprocity and revenge, and thinking about collective identity at both the national, subnational, and supranational levels. If weeks 6-7 are

dispositional, the penultimate week turns to the power of the situation, looking at the effects of violence, threat and political repression, and in turn, terrorism and radicalization. Finally, we conclude with genetic, biological, and evolutionary theories, which portray many of the above mechanisms in a new light.

Course time

Class will take place on Mondays at 3-5 PM in CGIS K107.

Technology

We'll be using two different platforms for the course, each for a different purpose.

Canvas

- The course website (https://canvas.harvard.edu/courses/142857), which contains the syllabus and course readings.
- There are *no required texts to purchase* for this class; all readings are available electronically on the course website as PDFs.

Slack

- Used for all class communication and asynchronous participation/discussion about course material.
- The Gov 2749 Slack workspace has two channels:
 - #announcements. All class announcements will appear here.
 - #general. This channel is for general discussion about the course material.
 Participation in this channel counts towards your participation grade in the class (see below for details).
- The link to the Slack workspace is posted on Canvas. Note that HUIT has gotten more militant about its Slack IT protocols in the past year and auto-logs users out once a month, so if you think you're missing Slack notifications, that's probably why.

If you have technical difficulties with any of these platforms, more detailed information is available via HUIT.

Course requirements and grading

15% Class participation (synchronous)

15% Slack participation (asynchronous)

20% In-class presentations/facilitation

15% Paper proposal and peer review exercise: March 10-14, 2025

35% Final paper due: May 5, 2025

This is a seminar-style class that revolves around class discussion; students should come to class having done the readings and ready to talk about them. Enrollment is normally limited to graduate students, and auditing is not normally permitted. After the first week, each week will be led in collaboration with graduate student facilitators, who will introduce the week's topic, place the course readings in a broader perspective, before opening the floor for broader class discussion.

Because the class is designed to be helpful for your research, the main assignment in the class is to write an original research paper. The paper should either propose or test a psychological theory on a topic related to international politics, with the goal of producing something that, after some revision, could eventually be published in a top journal. A number of the works on this syllabus began as papers written in graduate seminars (including here in the Harvard Government department!); think of this assignment as a chance to write something that will make it on this syllabus in the future.

Since so much of what we do as scholars is a collective enterprise, mid-way through the semester, the class also has a peer review exercise. You'll work up a short (3-5 page) proposal for your research paper, and submit it to me electronically. I'll then send each proposal to 2-3 other students in the class, who will provide written feedback on each proposal, so that you'll begin the second half of the semester with helpful advice about how to move forward with the project. I'll provide more information about the paper and review requirements early in the semester.

In addition to in-class participation, we'll also use the course's Slack channel for asynchronous participation. Starting on February 3, a short (e.g. 1 paragraph) reaction post will be due on the course's #general Slack channel at 12 PM the day of each class meeting. This will be a chance for you to ask questions, flag the parts of the material that was of the most interest to you, engage with one another's comments and questions, and help set the agenda for the seminar later that day. Please treat discussions on Slack the same way that you would treat in-person interactions in class: engaging with one another other respectfully and constructively.

While 15% of the course grade comes from synchronous participation in class and 15% comes from asynchronous participation over Slack, asynchronous participation through Slack can also be supplementary to synchronous participation in class: students who may not be as comfortable speaking during class can make up for it by being more active in asynchronous

participation over Slack, provided they have the preapproval of the instructor.

Collaboration and academic integrity policy

Discussion and the exchange of ideas are essential to academic work. For assignments in this course, you are encouraged to discuss the material presented in the course with your classmates. However, you should ensure that any written work you submit for evaluation is the result of your own research and writing and reflects your own approach to the topic. You must also adhere to standard citation practices in political science and properly cite any books, articles, websites, etc. that have helped you with your work. We specifically forbid the use of generative artificial intelligence (AI) tools for any written assignments in the class. Violations of this policy will be considered academic misconduct.

Special accommodations

Harvard has an office dedicated to students seeking accessibility accommodations, the Disability Access Office (DAO). They're happy to help with any accommodation requests you require. Students requiring academic accommodations are requested to present their letter from the DAO and speak with me by the end of the second week of the term. Failure to make these arrangements by this date may negatively affect my ability to implement the arrangements on time.

Contents

Introduction: Psychology and rationality	7
Rationality and its discontents	7
The landscape of political psychology (inside and outside of IR)	
Cold cognition I: Heuristics, biases, and prospect theory	11
Heuristics and biases	11
Prospect theory	
Cold cognition II: Updating, learning, signaling, and predicting	16
Learning, analogical reasoning, and updating	16
Problem representation and poliheuristic theory	
Signaling and communicating	
Predicting and forecasting	
Hot cognition I: Motivated reasoning, images, stereotypes, and perceptions	23
Motivated reasoning	23
Images and stereotypes	
Infrahumanization and dehumanization	
Perception and misperception	29
Hot cognition II: Emotions, morality, taboos, and indivisible issues	32
Emotions	
Morality	
Fairness and social preferences	

Trust	42
Taboos and indivisible issues	44
Habit and practice	45
Dispositions I: Personality, operational codes, integrative complexity	47
Cognitive maps and operational codes	47
Personality, motives, and leadership style	48
Integrative complexity	51
Dispositions II: Ideology, values, and culture	53
Values and ideology	53
Culture	57
Intergroup I: Small groups, social categorization, and social identity	60
Small groups	60
Social categorization, social identity, and social dominance	63
Intergroup II: Honor, reputation, status, reciprocity, revenge	65
Honor, reputation, status, and the struggle for recognition	65
Reciprocity and revenge	69
Intergroup III: National, subnational, and supranational identities	71
National and transnational identities	71
Constructing nations and ethnic groups	74
Historical memory, apologies, and collective victimhood	77
Violence as cause and effect: Political violence and exposure to threat and repression	80
Exposure to threat, violence, and repression	80
Terrorism and (de)radicalization	85
Genetic, neurobiological, evolutionary, and quantum psychology	88
Genetic and neurobiological	88
Evolutionary	
Ouantum cognition	93

Introduction: Psychology and rationality

- Lake, David A., and Robert Powell. 1999. "International Relations: A Strategic-Choice Approach." In Strategic Choice and International Relations, ed. David A. Lake and Robert Powell. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Riker, William H. 1995. "The Political Psychology of Rational Choice Theory." *Political Psychology* 16 (1): 23-44.
- Elster, Jon. 2007. Explaining Social Behavior: More Nuts and Bolts for the Social Sciences. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, pp. 191-231.
- Thaler, Richard H. 2016. "Behavioral Economics: Past, Present, and Future." *American Economic Review* 106 (7): 1577-1600.
- Hafner-Burton, Emilie M., Stephan Haggard, David A. Lake, and David G. Victor. 2017. "The Behavioral Revolution and the Study of International Relations." *International Organization* 71 (S1): S1-S31.
- Mercer, Jonathan. 2005b. "Rationality and Psychology in International Politics." *International Organization* 59 (1): 77-106.
- Rathbun, Brian C., Joshua D. Kertzer, and Mark Paradis. 2017. "Homo Diplomaticus: Mixed-Method Evidence of Variation in Strategic Rationality." *International Organization* 71 (S1): S33-S60.

Recommended

Rationality and its discontents

- Verba, Sidney. 1961. "Assumptions of Rationality and Non-Rationality in Models of the International System." *World Politics* 14 (1): 93-117.
- Sen, Amartya K. 1977. "Rational Fools: A Critique of the Behavioral Foundations of Economic Theory." *Philosophy & Public Affairs* 6 (4): 317-344.
- Simon, Herbert A. 1978. "Rationality as a Process and Product of Thought." *American Economic Review* 68 (2): 1-16.
- Simon, Herbert A. 1985. "Human Nature in Politics: The Dialogue of Psychology with Political Science." *American Political Science Review* 79 (2): 293-304.
- Quattrone, George A., and Amos Tversky. 1988. "Contrasting Rational and Psychological Analyses of Political Choice." *The American Political Science Review*: 719-736.
- Satz, Debra, and John Ferejohn. 1994. "Rational Choice and Social Theory." *The Journal of Philosophy* 91 (2): 71-87.
- Green, Donald P., and Ian Shapiro. 1994. *Pathologies of Rational Choice Theory: A Critique of Applications in Political Science*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Kahler, Miles. 1998. "Rationality in International Relations." *International Organization* 52 (4): 919-941.
- Rabin, Matthew. 1998. "Psychology and Economics." Journal of Economic Literature 36 (1): 11-46.
- Stanovich, Keith E., and Richard F. West. 1998. "Individual Differences in Rational Thought." Journal of Experimental Psychology: General 127 (2): 161-188.

- Frieden, Jeffry A. 1999. "Actors and Preferences in International Relations." In Strategic Choice and International Relations, ed. David A. Lake and Robert Powell. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Morrow, James D. 1999. "The Strategic Setting of Choices: Signaling, Commitment, and Negotiation in International Politics." In *Strategic Choice and International Relations*, ed. David A. Lake and Robert Powell. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Stein, Arthur A. 1999. "The Limits of Strategic Choice: Constrained Rationality and Incomplete Explanation." In Strategic Choice and International Relations, ed. David A. Lake and Robert Powell. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Walt, Stephen M. 1999. "Rigor or Rigor Mortis?: Rational Choice and Security Studies." *International Security* 23 (4): 5-48.
- Martin, Lisa L. 1999. "The Contributions of Rational Choice: A Defense of Pluralism." *International Security* 24 (2): 74-83.
- Lupia, Arthur, Mathew D. McCubbins, and Samuel L. Popkin. 2000. "Beyond Rationality: Reason and the Study of Politics." In *Elements of Reason: Cognition, Choice, and the Bounds of Rationality*, ed. Arthur Lupia, Mathew D. McCubbins, and Samuel L. Popkin. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Fearon, James, and Alexander Wendt. 2002. "Rationalism v. Constructivism: A Skeptical View." In *Handbook of International Relations*, ed. Walter Carlsnaes, Thomas Risse, and Beth A. Simmons. London: Sage.
- Snidal, Duncan. 2002. "Rational Choice and International Relations." In *Handbook of International Relations*, ed. Walter Carlsnaes, Thomas Risse, and Beth A. Simmons. London: Sage.
- Camerer, Colin. 2003. *Behavioral game theory: Experiments in strategic interaction*. Princeton University Press.
- Fudenberg, Drew. 2006. "Advancing beyond advances in behavioral economics." *Journal of Economic Literature* 44 (3): 694–711.
- Pesendorfer, Wolfgang. 2006. "Behavioral economics comes of age: A review essay on advances in behavioral economics." *Journal of Economic Literature* 44 (3): 712–721.
- Della Vigna, Stefano. 2009. "Psychology and economics: Evidence from the field." *Journal of Economic literature* 47 (2): 315–372.
- Stanovich, Keith E. 2011. Rationality and the Reflective Mind. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Wilson, Rick K. 2011. "The Contribution of Behavioral Economics to Political Science." Annual Review of Political Science 14: 201-223.
- Rathbun, Brian C. 2019. Reasoning of State: Realists, Romantics and Rationality in International Relations. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Friedman, Jeffrey A. 2025. "Defining Rationality in Security Studies: Expected Utility, Theory-Driven Reasoning, and the Vietnam War." *Critical Review Forthcoming*.

- Hoffmann, Stanley. 1986. "On the Political Psychology of Peace and War: A Critique and an Agenda." *Political Psychology* 7 (1): 1-21.
- McGuire, William J. 1993. "The Poly-Psy Relationship: Three Phases of a Long Affair." In *Explorations in Political Psychology*, ed. Shanto Iyengar and William J. McGuire. Duke University Press.
- Tetlock, Philip E. 1998. "Social Psychology and World Politics." In *The Handbook of Social Psychology*, ed. Daniel T. Gilbert, Susan T. Fiske, and Gardner Lindzey. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Goldgeier, J.M., and P.E. Tetlock. 2001. "Psychology and International Relations Theory." *Annual Review of Political Science* 4: 67-92.
- Hermann, Margaret G. 2002. "Political psychology as a perspective in the study of politics." In *Political Psychology*, ed. Kristen Renwick Monroe. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Stein, Janice Gross. 2002. "Psychological Explanations of International Conflict." In *Handbook of International Relations*, ed. Walter Carlsnaes, Thomas Risse, and Beth A. Simmons. London: Sage.
- Krosnick, Jon A., and Kathleen M. McGraw. 2002. "Psychological Political Science Versus Political Psychology True To Its Name: A Plea for Balance." In *Political Psychology*, ed. Kristen Renwick Monroe. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Levy, Jack S. 2003. "Political Psychology and Foreign Policy." In Oxford Handbook of Political Psychology, ed. David O. Sears, Leonie Huddy, and Robert Jervis. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Schildkraut, Deborah J. 2004. "All Politics Is Psychological: A Review of Political Psychology Syllabi." *Perspectives on Politics* 2 (4): 807-819.
- McDermott, Rose. 2004b. *Political Psychology in International Relations*. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.
- Mintz, Alex. 2007. "Why Behavioral IR?" International Studies Review 9 (1): 157–162.
- Walker, Stephen G. 2007. "Back to the Future? Behavioral IR as a Case of Arrested Development." *International Studies Review* 9 (1): 165-172.
- Elms, Deborah Kay. 2008. "New Directions for IPE: Drawing From Behavioral Economics." *International Studies Review* 10 (2): 239–265.
- Van Aaken, Anne. 2014. "Behavioral International Law and Economics." *Harvard International Law Journal* 55 (2): 421-481.
- Broude, Tomer. 2015. "Behavioral International Law." *University of Pennsylvania Law Review* 163 (4): 1099-1157.
- Cottam, Martha L., Elena Mastors, Thomas Preston, and Beth Dietz. 2016. *Introduction to Political Psychology*. 3rd ed. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Stein, Janice Gross. 2017. "The Micro-Foundations of International Relations Theory: Psychology and Behavioral Economics." *International Organization* 71 (S1): S249-S263.

- Powell, Robert. 2017. "Research Bets and Behavioral IR." *International Organization* 71 (S1): S265-277.
- Kertzer, Joshua D., and Dustin Tingley. 2018. "Political Psychology in International Relations: Beyond the Paradigms." *Annual Review of Political Science* 21: 319-339.
- van Aaken, Anne, and Tomer Broude. 2019. "The Psychology of International Law: An Introduction." *European Journal of International Law* 30 (4): 1225–1236.
- Rivera Pichardo, Eduardo J., Salvador Vargas Salfate, and John T. Jost. 2020. "Political Psychology in the Global South: Collective Memory, Intergroup Relations, Ideology, and Political Participation." In *Cambridge Handbook of Political Psychology*, ed. Danny Osborne and Chris G. Sibley. Cambridge University Press.
- Davis, James W, and Rose McDermott. 2021. "The Past, Present, and Future of Behavioral IR." *International Organization* 75 (1): 147-177.
- Kertzer, Joshua D. 2025. "How Political Psychologists Think." Critical Review Forthcoming.

Cold cognition I: Heuristics, biases, and prospect theory

- Kahneman, Daniel, and Amos Tversky. 2000. *Choices, Values and Frames*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, Chapters 2,8,12.
- Zhou, Andi, H. E. Goemans, and Michael Weintraub. 2025. "Loss Framing and Risk-Taking in Territorial Disputes." *Journal of Politics* Forthcoming.
- Kertzer, Joshua D., Marcus Holmes, Brad L. LeVeck, and Carly Wayne. 2022. "Hawkish Biases and Group Decision Making." *International Organization* 76 (3): 513-548.
- Oprea, Ryan. 2024. "Decisions under risk are decisions under complexity." *American Economic Review* 114 (12): 3789–3811.
- Gigerenzer, Gerd, and Wolfgang Gaissmaier. 2011. "Heuristic Decision Making." *Annual Review of Psychology* 62: 451-482.
- Johnson, Dominic D. P. 2020. Strategic Instincts: The Adaptive Advantages of Cognitive Biases in International Politics. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, excerpts.
- Brooks, Sarah M., Raphael Cunha, and Layna Mosley. 2015. "Categories, Creditworthiness, and Contagion: How Investors' Shortcuts Affect Sovereign Debt Markets." *International Studies Quarterly* 59 (3): 587–601.
- Chen, Daniel L., Tobias J. Moskowitz, and Kelly Shue. 2016. "Decision-Making Under the Gambler's Fallacy: Evidence from Asylum Judges, Loan Officers, and Baseball Umpires." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 131 (3): 1181-1242.

Recommended

Heuristics and biases

- Tversky, Amos, and Daniel Kahneman. 1973. "Availability: A heuristic for judging frequency and probability." *Cognitive psychology* 5 (2): 207–232.
- Tversky, Amos, and Daniel Kahneman. 1974. "Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases." *Science* 185 (4157): 1124–1131.
- Nisbett, Richard E., and Lee Ross. 1980. *Human Inference: Strategies and Shortcomings of Social Judgment*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Arkes, Hal R., and Catherine Blumer. 1985. "The psychology of sunk cost." *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes* 35 (1): 124-140.
- Baron, Jonathan, and John C Hershey. 1988. "Outcome bias in decision evaluation." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 54 (4): 569-579.
- Plous, Scott. 1989. "Thinking the Unthinkable: The Effects of Anchoring on Likelihood Estimates of Nuclear War." *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 19 (1): 67–91.
- Hawkins, Scott A, and Reid Hastie. 1990. "Hindsight: Biased judgments of past events after the outcomes are known." *Psychological bulletin* 107 (3): 311-327.
- Schwarz, Norbert, Herbert Bless, Fritz Strack, Gisela Klumpp, Helga Rittenauer-Schatka, and Annette Simons. 1991. "Ease of retrieval as information: Another look at the availability heuristic." *Journal of Personality and Social psychology* 61 (2): 195–202.

- Jacowitz, Karen E, and Daniel Kahneman. 1995. "Measures of anchoring in estimation tasks." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 21: 1161–1166.
- Gilbert, Daniel T., and Patrick S. Malone. 1995. "The Correspondence Bias." *Psychological Bulletin* 117 (1): 21-38.
- Edwards, Kari, and Edward E. Smith. 1996. "A Disconfirmation Bias in the Evaluation of Arguments." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 71 (1): 5-24.
- Levy, Jack S. 1997. "Prospect Theory, Rational Choice, and International Relations." *International Studies Quarterly* 41 (1): 87-112.
- Arkes, Hal R, and Peter Ayton. 1999. "The sunk cost and Concorde effects: Are humans less rational than lower animals?" *Psychological Bulletin* 125 (5): 591-600.
- Lau, Richard R., and David P. Redlawsk. 2001. "Advantages and Disadvantages of Cognitive Heuristics in Political Decision Making." *American Journal of Political Science* 45 (4): 951-971.
- Kahneman, Daniel, and Shane Frederick. 2002. "Representativeness revisited: Attribute substitution in intuitive judgment." In *Heuristics of Intuitive Judgment: Extensions and Applications*, ed. Thomas Gilovich, Dale Griffin, and Daniel Kahneman. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Trope, Yaacov, and Nira Liberman. 2003. "Temporal Construal." *Psychological Review* 110 (3): 403-421.
- Epley, Nicholas, and Thomas Gilovich. 2006. "The anchoring-and-adjustment heuristic: Why the adjustments are insufficient." *Psychological Science* 17 (4): 311–318.
- Malle, Bertram F., Joshua M. Knobe, and Sarah E. Nelson. 2007. "Actor-Observer Asymmetries in Explanations of Behavior: New Answers to an Old Question." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 93 (4): 491-514.
- Shah, Anuj K, and Daniel M Oppenheimer. 2008. "Heuristics made easy: an effort-reduction framework." *Psychological bulletin* 134 (2): 207-222.
- Gennaioli, Nicola, and Andrei Shleifer. 2010. "What Comes to Mind." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 125 (4): 1399-1433.
- Kahneman, Daniel. 2011. Thinking Fast and Slow. New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux.
- Abrahms, Max. 2013. "The Credibility Paradox: Violence as a Double-Edged Sword in International Politics." *International Studies Quarterly* 57 (4): 660–671.
- Rapport, Aaron. 2013. "The Long and Short of It: Cognitive Constraints on Leaders' Assessments of "Postwar" Iraq." *International Security* 37 (3): 133-171.
- Travers, Mark, Leaf Van Boven, and Charles Judd. 2014. "The Secrecy Heuristic: Inferring Quality from Secrecy in Foreign Policy Contexts." *Political Psychology* 35 (1): 97-111.
- Kuziemko, Ilyana, Ryan W Buell, Taly Reich, and Michael I Norton. 2014. "Last-Place Aversion": Evidence and Redistributive Implications." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 129 (1): 105-149.
- Rapport, Aaron. 2015. Waging War, Planning Peace: U.S. Noncombat Operations and Major Wars. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Brighton, Henry, and Gerd Gigerenzer. 2015. "The bias bias." *Journal of Business Research* 68 (8): 1772–1784.

- DeKay, Michael L. 2015. "Predecisional Information Distortion and the Self-Fulfilling Prophecy of Early Preferences in Choice." *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 24 (5): 405-411.
- Allen, Eric J, Patricia M Dechow, Devin G Pope, and George Wu. 2017. "Reference-dependent preferences: Evidence from marathon runners." *Management Science* 63 (6): 1657-1672.
- Johnson, Dominic D. P., and Dominic Tierney. 2018/19. "Bad World: The Negativity Bias in International Politics." *International Security* 43 (3): 96-140.
- Sheffer, Lior, Peter John Loewen, Stuart Soroka, Stefaan Walgrave, and Tamir Sheafer. 2018. "Nonrepresentative Representatives: An Experimental Study of the Decision Making of Elected Politicians." *American Political Science Review* 112 (2): 302-321.
- Hansen, Kristina Jessen. 2019. "Who cares if they need help? The deservingness heuristic, humanitarianism, and welfare opinions." *Political Psychology* 40 (2): 413–430.
- Puig, Sergio. 2019. "Debiasing International Economic Law." European Journal of International Law 30 (4): 1339–1357.
- Broude, Tomer, and Inbar Levy. 2019. "Outcome Bias and Expertise in Investigations under International Humanitarian Law." *European Journal of International Law* 30 (4): 1303–1318.
- Brownlee, Jason. 2020. "Cognitive Shortcuts and Public Support for Intervention." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 64 (2-3): 261–289.
- Enke, Benjamin. 2020. "What you see is all there is." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 135 (3): 1363–1398.
- Fischhoff, Baruch, and Stephen B. Broomell. 2020. "Judgment and Decision Making." *Annual Review of Psychology* 71 (1): 331-355.
- Dvir, Rotem. 2021. "All Options Are on the Table? Time Horizons and the Decision-Making Process in Conflict." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 17 (August): orab028.
- Halevy, Nir, and Yair Berson. 2022. "Thinking about the distant future promotes the prospects of peace: A construal-level perspective on intergroup conflict resolution." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 66 (July): 1119–1143.
- Enke, Benjamin, and Thomas Graeber. 2023. "Cognitive Uncertainty." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 138 (September): 2021–2067.
- Andrews Fearon, Patricia, and Friedrich M. Götz. 2024. "The zero-sum mindset." Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 127 (October): 758–795.
- Shi, Dihan, and Guillermo Rosas. 2024. ""If Foreign, Then Cleaner": Individual Corruption Perceptions and Support for Free Trade in Developing Nations." *International Studies Quarterly* 68 (June): sqae079.
- Furnas, Alexander C., and Timothy M. LaPira. 2024. "The people think what I think: False consensus and unelected elite misperception of public opinion." *American Journal of Political Science* 68 (July): 958–971.

Prospect theory

Boettcher, William A. III. 1995. "Context, Methods, Numbers, And Words: Prospect Theory in International Relations." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 39 (3): 561-583.

- Farnham, Barbara. 1992. "Roosevelt and the Munich crisis: Insights from prospect theory." *Political Psychology*: 205-235.
- Shafir, Eldar. 1992. "Prospect theory and political analysis: A psychological perspective." *Political Psychology*: 311-322.
- McInerney, Audrey. 1992. "Prospect theory and Soviet policy towards Syria, 1966-1967." *Political Psychology*: 265-282.
- Kowert, Paul A, and Margaret G Hermann. 1997. "Who takes risks? Daring and caution in foreign policy making." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 41 (5): 611–637.
- Berejekian, Jeffrey. 1997. "The Gains Debate: Framing State Choice." *American Political Science Review* 91 (4): 789-805.
- McDermott, Rose. 1998. Risk-Taking in International Politics: Prospect Theory in American Foreign Policy. University of Michigan Press.
- Vertzberger, Yaacov Y.I. 1998. Risk Taking and Decisionmaking: Foreign Military Interventions. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Haas, Mark L. 2001. "Prospect theory and the Cuban missile crisis." *International Studies Quarterly* 45 (2): 241-270.
- McDermott, Rose, and Jacek Kugler. 2001. "Comparing rational choice and prospect theory analyses: The US decision to launch operation 'Desert Storm', January 1991." *The Journal of Strategic Studies* 24 (3): 49-85.
- Boettcher, William A. III. 2004. "The Prospects for Prospect Theory: An Empirical Evaluation of International Relations Applications of Framing and Loss Aversion." *Political Psychology* 25 (3): 331-362.
- Masters, Daniel. 2004. "Support and nonsupport for nationalist rebellion: A prospect theory approach." *Political Psychology* 25 (5): 703-726.
- Schaub, Gary. 2004. "Deterrence, compellence, and prospect theory." *Political Psychology* 25 (3): 389-411.
- Taliaferro, Jeffrey W. 2004. "Power Politics and the Balance of Risk: Hypotheses on Great Power Intervention in the Periphery." *Political Psychology* 25 (2): 177-211.
- McDermott, Rose. 2004c. "Prospect theory in political science: Gains and losses from the first decade." *Political Psychology* 25 (2): 289-312.
- Mercer, Jonathan. 2005a. "Prospect theory and political science." *Annual Review of Political Science* 8: 1-21.
- Butler, Christopher K. 2007. "Prospect theory and coercive bargaining." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 51 (2): 227-250.
- McDermott, Rose, James H. Fowler, and Oleg Smirnov. 2008. "On the Evolutionary Origin of Prospect Theory Preferences." *Journal of Politics* 70 (2): 335-350.
- Harrison, Glenn W, and E Elisabet Rutström. 2009. "Expected utility theory and prospect theory: One wedding and a decent funeral." *Experimental Economics* 12 (2): 133–158.

- Perla, Jr., Héctor. 2011. "Explaining Public Support for the Use of Military Force: The Impact of Reference Point Framing and Prospective Decision Making." *International Organization* 65 (1): 139-167.
- Vis, Barbara. 2011. "Prospect theory and political decision making." *Political Studies Review* 9 (3): 334–343.
- Linde, Jona, and Barbara Vis. 2017. "Do Politicians Take Risks Like the Rest of Us? An Experimental Test of Prospect Theory Under MPs." *Political Psychology* 38 (1): 101-117.
- Alesina, Alberto, and Francesco Passarelli. 2019. "Loss aversion in politics." *American Journal of Political Science* 63 (4): 936–947.
- Lim, Sijeong, and Seiki Tanaka. 2022. "Why Costly Rivalry Disputes Persist: A Paired Conjoint Experiment in Japan and South Korea." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (September): sqac063.

Cold cognition II: Updating, learning, signaling, and predicting

- Levy, Jack S. 1994. "Learning and foreign policy: sweeping a conceptual minefield." *International Organization* 48 (2): 279-312.
- Poulsen, Lauge N Skovgaard, and Emma Aisbett. 2013. "When the claim hits: Bilateral investment treaties and bounded rational learning." *World Politics* 65 (02): 273–313.
- Khong, Yuen Foong. 1992. Analogies at War: Korea, Munich, Dien Bien Phu and the Vietnam Decision of 1965. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, pp. 51-52, 97-147
- Binz, Marcel, and Eric Schulz. 2023. "Using cognitive psychology to understand GPT-3." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 120 (6): e2218523120.
- Jervis, Robert. 1970. *The Logic of Images in International Relations*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press. Chapters 1-2.
- Hall, Todd, and Keren Yarhi-Milo. 2012. "The Personal Touch: Leaders' Impressions, Costly Signaling, and Assessments of Sincerity in International Affairs." *International Studies Quarterly* 56 (3): 560-573.
- Mattingly, Daniel, Trevor Incerti, Changwook Ju, Colin Moreshead, Seiki Tanaka, and Hikaru Yamagishi. 2024. "Chinese state media persuades a global audience that the "China model" is superior: Evidence from a 19-country experiment." *American Journal of Political Science* Forthcoming.
- Mellers, Barbara, Eric Stone, Pavel Atanasov, Nick Rohrbaugh, S Emlen Metz, Lyle Ungar, Michael M Bishop, Michael Horowitz, Ed Merkle, and Philip Tetlock. 2015. "The psychology of intelligence analysis: Drivers of prediction accuracy in world politics." *Journal of experimental psychology: applied* 21 (1): 1-14.

Recommended

Learning, analogical reasoning, and updating

- Hermann, Charles F. 1990. "Changing Course: When Governments Choose to Redirect Foreign Policy." *International Studies Quarterly* 34 (1): 3-21.
- Breslauer, George W. and Philip E. Tetlock, eds. 1991. *Learning in U.S. and Soviet Foreign Policy*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Khong, Yuen Foong. 1992. Analogies at War: Korea, Munich, Dien Bien Phu and the Vietnam Decision of 1965. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Shimko, Keith L. 1994. "Metaphors and foreign policy decision making." *Political Psychology*: 655-671.
- Reiter, Dan. 1994. "Learning, Realism, and Alliances: The Weight of the Shadow of the Past." World Politics 46 (4): 490-526.
- Stein, Janice Gross. 1994. "Political learning by doing: Gorbachev as uncommitted thinker and motivated learner." *International Organization* 48 (2): 155-183.
- Lebovic, James H. 1995. "How organizations learn: US government estimates of foreign military spending." *American Journal of Political Science* 39 (4): 835–863.
- Houghton, David Patrick. 1996. "The role of analogical reasoning in novel foreign-policy situations." *British Journal of Political Science* 26 (04): 523–552.

- Smith, Alastair, and Allan C Stam. 2004. "Bargaining and the Nature of War." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 48 (6): 783-813.
- Powell, Robert. 2004. "Bargaining and Learning While Fighting." *American Journal of Political Science* 48 (2): 344-361.
- Herrmann, Richard K., and Jong Kun Choi. 2007. "From Prediction to Learning: Opening Experts' Minds to Unfolding History." *International Security* 31 (4): 132-161.
- Fuhrmann, Matthew, and Michael C. Horowitz. 2015. "When Leaders Matter: Rebel Experience and Nuclear Proliferation." *Journal of Politics* 77 (1): 72-87.
- Weisiger, Alex. 2016. "Learning from the Battlefield: Information, Domestic Politics, and Interstate War Duration." *International Organization* 70 (3): 347–375.
- Gift, Thomas, and Daniel Krcmaric. 2017. "Who Democratizes? Western-educated Leaders and Regime Transitions." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 61 (3): 671-701.
- Lissner, Rebecca Friedman. 2019. "Process Learning in Foreign Policy: From the Bay of Pigs to the Berlin Crisis." *Political Science Quarterly* 134 (4): 641–673.
- Fuhrmann, Matthew. 2020. "When Do Leaders Free-Ride? Business Experience and Contributions to Collective Defense." *American Journal of Political Science* 64 (2): 416–431.
- Arnold, Jeffrey B, J Tyson Chatagnier, and Gary E Hollibaugh Jr. 2020. "Allegiance, Ability, and Achievement in the American Civil War: Commander Traits and Battlefield Military Effectiveness." *International Studies Quarterly* 64 (1): 194–206.
- Barceló, Joan. 2020. "Are Western-Educated Leaders Less Prone to Initiate Militarized Disputes?" British Journal of Political Science 50 (2): 535–566.
- Chaudhry, Suparna, Sabrina Karim, and Matt K Scroggs. 2021. "How leaders' experiences and rebellion shape military recruitment during civil war." *Journal of Peace Research* 58 (5): 915-929.
- Kopányi-Peuker, Anita, and Matthias Weber. 2021. "Experience Does Not Eliminate Bubbles: Experimental Evidence." *The Review of Financial Studies* 34 (9): 4450-4485.
- Schneider, Jonah. 2020. "The Study of Leaders in Nuclear Proliferation and How to Reinvigorate It." *International Studies Review* 22 (1): 1-25.
- Spilker, Gabriele, Quynh Nguyen, and Thomas Bernauer. 2020. "Trading Arguments: Opinion Updating in the Context of International Trade Agreements." *International Studies Quarterly* 64 (4): 929–938.
- Jost, Tyler, Kaine Meshkin, and Robert Schub. 2022. "The character and origins of military attitudes on the use of force." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (2): sqac005.
- Heinzel, Mirko. 2022. "International Bureaucrats and Organizational Performance. Country-Specific Knowledge and Sectoral Knowledge in World Bank Projects." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (April): sqac013.
- Huang, Reyko, Daniel Silverman, and Benjamin Acosta. 2022. "Friends in the Profession: Rebel Leaders, International Social Networks, and External Support for Rebellion." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (February): sqab085.
- Lupton, Danielle L. 2022. "Military Experience and Elite Decision-Making: Self-Selection, Socialization, and the Vietnam Draft Lottery." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (February): sqab052.

- Timmerman, Matthew N. 2022. "Revolutionary Ideals and International Aggression." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 18 (September): orac020.
- Sharot, Tali, Max Rollwage, Cass R. Sunstein, and Stephen M. Fleming. 2023. "Why and When Beliefs Change." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 18 (January): 142–151.
- Brannon, Elizabeth L., Jakana L. Thomas, and Lora L. DiBlasi. 2024. "Fighting for Peace? The Direct and Indirect Effects of Women's Participation in Rebel Groups on Peace Negotiations." *The Journal of Politics* 86 (April): 507–520.
- Myrick, Rachel, and Chen Wang. 2024. "Domestic Polarization and International Rivalry: How Adversaries Respond to America's Partisan Politics." *The Journal of Politics* 86 (1): 141–157.
- Nones, Nicola. 2024. "Preferential Trade Agreements and Leaders' Business Experience." International Studies Quarterly 68 (September): sque129.
- Waldie, Bradford. 2024. "Nationalism, Internationalism, and Interventionism: How Overseas Military Service Influences Foreign Policy Attitudes." *International Studies Quarterly* 68 (4): sqae127.
- White, Peter B. 2024. "Rebel, Remain, or Resign? Military Elites' Decision-Making at the Onset of the American Civil War." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 68 (May): 938–963.

Problem representation and poliheuristic theory

- Snyder, Richard C., H.W. Bruck, and Burton Sapin. 1962. "Decision-Making as an Approach to the Study of International Politics." In *Foreign Policy Decision-Making*, ed. Richard C. Snyder, H.W. Bruck, and Burton Sapin. Glencoe, IL: The Free Press.
- Simon, Herbert A. 1973. "The structure of ill structured problems." *Artificial Intelligence* 4 (3-4): 181-201.
- Voss, James F., and Timothy A. Post. 1988. "On the Solving of Ill-structured Problems." In *The Nature of Expertise*, ed. Michelene H. Chi, Robert Glaser, and Marshall J. Farr. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Voss, James F. 1992. "On the Representation of Problems: An Information-Processing Approach to Foreign Policy Decision Making." In *Problem Representation in Foreign Policy Decision-making*, ed. Donald A. Sylvan and James F. Voss. Cambridge University Press.
- Sylvan, Donald A, and James F Voss. 1998. *Problem representation in foreign policy decision-making*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Mintz, Alex. 2004a. "Foreign Policy Decision Making in Familiar and Unfamiliar Settings: An Experimental Study of High-Ranking Military Officers." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 48 (1): 91-104.
- Mintz, Alex. 2004b. "How do leaders make decisions? A poliheuristic perspective." *Journal of conflict resolution* 48 (1): 3-13.
- DeRouen, Karl, and Christopher Sprecher. 2004. "Initial crisis reaction and poliheuristic theory." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 48 (1): 56–68.
- Goertz, Gary. 2004. "Constraints, Compromises, and Decision Making." Journal of Conflict Resolution 48 (1): 14-37.

- Stern, Eric. 2004. "Contextualizing and critiquing the poliheuristic theory." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 48 (1): 105–126.
- James, Patrick, and Enyu Zhang. 2005. "Chinese choices: A poliheuristic analysis of foreign policy crises, 1950–1996." Foreign Policy Analysis 1 (1): 31–54.
- Kinne, Brandon J. 2005. "Decision Making in Autocratic Regimes: A Poliheuristic Perspective." International Studies Perspectives 6 (1): 114–128.
- Ye, Min. 2007. "Poliheuristic theory, bargaining, and crisis decision making." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 3 (4): 317–344.
- Keller, Jonathan W., and Yi Edward Yang. 2008. "Leadership Style, Decision Context, and the Poliheuristic Theory of Decision Making: An Experimental Analysis." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 52 (5): 687-712.
- Brulé, David J. 2008. "The Poliheuristic Research Program: An Assessment and Suggestions for Further Progress." *International Studies Review* 10 (2): 266–293.
- Oppermann, Kai. 2014. "Delineating the scope conditions of the poliheuristic theory of foreign policy decision making: The noncompensatory principle and the domestic salience of foreign policy." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 10 (1): 23–41.
- Keller, Jonathan W., and Yi Edward Yang. 2016. "Problem Representation, Option Generation, and Poliheuristic Theory: An Experimental Analysis." *Political Psychology* 37 (5): 739-752.
- Grove, Andrea K. 2021. "Global South Leaders and Foreign Policy: The Acceptability Constraint and Transnational Considerations in the Decision Context." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 17 (July): orab025.
- Fouquet, Stephan. 2023. "Populist Leadership, Opportunistic Decision-Making, and Poliheuristic Theory: Cristina Kirchner's Decision to Defy "The Vultures"." Foreign Policy Analysis 19 (January): orad003.

Signaling and communicating

- Schelling, Thomas C. 1966. Arms and Influence. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Fearon, James. 1997. "Tying Hands versus Sinking Costs: Signaling Foreign Policy Interests." Journal of Conflict Resolution 41 (1): 68-90.
- Krauss, Robert M., and Ezequiel Morsella. 2000. "Communication and Conflict." In *The Handbook of Conflict Resolution: Theory and Practice*, ed. M. Deutsch and P.T. Coleman. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Schultz, Kenneth A. 2001. "Looking for Audience Costs." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 45 (1): 32-60.
- Maoz, Ifat, Andrew Ward, Michael Katz, and Lee Ross. 2002. "Reactive devaluation of an "Israeli" vs. "Palestinian" peace proposal." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 46 (4): 515-546.
- Tomz, Michael. 2007. "Domestic Audience Costs in International Relations: An Experimental Approach." *International Organization* 61 (4): 821-40.
- Weeks, Jessica L. 2008. "Autocratic Audience Costs: Regime Type and Signaling Resolve." International Organization 62 (1): 35-64.

- Sperber, Dan, Fabrice Clément, Christophe Heintz, Olivier Mascaro, Hugo Mercier, Gloria Origgi, and Deirdre Wilson. 2010. "Epistemic Vigilance." *Mind & Language* 25 (4): 359-393.
- Tingley, Dustin H., and Barbara F. Walter. 2011a. "Can Cheap Talk Deter? An Experimental Analysis." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 55 (6): 996-1020.
- Blumstein, Daniel T, Scott Atran, Scott Field, Michael Hochberg, Dominic Johnson, Raphael Sagarin, Richard Sosis, Bradley Thayer, James Fearon, Olivier Morin et al. 2012. "The peacock's tale: Lessons from evolution for effective signaling in international politics (with comment)." Cliodynamics: The Journal of Theoretical and Mathematical History 3 (1): 191-214.
- Mercer, Jonathan. 2012. "Audience Costs are Toys." Security Studies 21 (3): 398-404.
- Fuhrmann, Matthew, and Todd S. Sechser. 2014. "Signaling Alliance Commitments: Hand-Tying and Sunk Costs in Extended Nuclear Deterrence." *American Journal of Political Science* 58 (4): 919-935.
- McManus, Roseanne W. 2014. "Fighting words: The effectiveness of statements of resolve in international conflict." *Journal of Peace Research* 51 (6): 726–740.
- Quek, Kai. 2016. "Are Costly Signals More Credible? Evidence of Sender-Receiver Gaps." *Journal of Politics* 78 (3): 925-940.
- Kertzer, Joshua D., and Ryan Brutger. 2016. "Decomposing Audience Costs: Bringing the Audience Back into Audience Cost Theory." *American Journal of Political Science* 60 (1): 234-249.
- Yarhi-Milo, Keren, Joshua D. Kertzer, and Jonathan Renshon. 2018. "Tying Hands, Sinking Costs, and Leader Attributes." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 62 (10): 2150-2179.
- Albuyeh, Rod, and Mark Paradis. 2018. "Thawing Rivalries and Fading Friendships: An Experimental Approach to Rapprochement and Alienation." *Political Psychology* 39 (4): 811–27.
- McManus, Roseanne W. 2018. "Making it personal: The role of leader-specific signals in extended deterrence." *The Journal of Politics* 80 (3): 982–995.
- Wong, Seanon S. 2019. "Stoics and hotheads: leaders' temperament, anger, and the expression of resolve in face-to-face diplomacy." *Journal of Global Security Studies* 4 (2): 190-208.
- Haynes, Kyle. 2019. "A Question of Costliness: Time Horizons and Interstate Signaling." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 63 (8): 1939–1964.
- Post, Abigail. 2019. "Flying to Fail: Costly Signals and Air Power in Crisis Bargaining." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 63 (4): 869–895.
- Wong, Seanon S. 2020. "Mapping the Repertoire of Emotions and Their Communicative Functions in Face-to-face Diplomacy." *International Studies Review* 22 (1): 77-97.
- Yoder, Brandon K., and Kyle Haynes. 2021. "Signaling under the Security Dilemma: An Experimental Analysis." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 65 (4): 672-700.
- Blankenship, Brian. 2020. "Promises under Pressure: Statements of Reassurance in US Alliances." *International Studies Quarterly* 64 (4): 1017–1030.
- Sukin, Lauren. 2020. "Credible Nuclear Security Commitments Can Backfire: Explaining Domestic Support for Nuclear Weapons Acquisition in South Korea." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 64 (6): 1011-1042.

- Min, Eric. 2020. "Talking While Fighting: Understanding the Role of Wartime Negotiation." *International Organization* 74 (3): 610–632.
- Schwartz, Joshua A, and Christopher W Blair. 2020. "Do Women Make More Credible Threats? Gender Stereotypes, Audience Costs, and Crisis Bargaining." *International Organization* 74 (4): 872–895.
- Brutger, Ryan. 2021. "The Power of Compromise: Proposal Power, Partisanship, and Public Support in International Bargaining." *World Politics* 73 (1): 128–166.
- Casler, Don, and Richard Clark. 2021. "Trade Rage: Audience Costs and International Trade." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 65 (6): 1098-1130.
- Kim, Seok Joon. 2022. "Quick on the Draw: American Negativity Bias and Costly Signals in International Relations." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 66 (February): 246–271.
- Min, Eric. 2022. "Painful Words: The Effect of Battlefield Activity on Conflict Negotiation Behavior." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 66 (May): 595–622.
- Casler, Don, and Keren Yarhi-Milo. 2023. "Signaling, Resolve, and Reputation in International Politics." In *The Oxford Handbook of Political Psychology*, ed. Leonie Huddy, David O. Sears, Jack S. Levy, and Jennifer Jerit. 3rd ed. Oxford University Press.
- Chubb, Andrew, and Frances Yaping Wang. 2023. "Authoritarian Propaganda Campaigns on Foreign Affairs: Four Birds, One Stone, and the South China Sea Arbitration." *International Studies Quarterly* 67 (June): sqad047.
- Matush, Kelly. 2023. "Harnessing Backlash: How Leaders Can Benefit from Antagonizing Foreign Actors." *British Journal of Political Science* 53 (July): 902–918.
- Cho, Hyun-Binn, Kyle Haynes, and Brandon K. Yoder. 2024. "Provocation, Bargaining, and War." Journal of Conflict Resolution 68 (August): 1307–1331.
- Harris, Benjamin Norwood, and Erik Lin-Greenberg. 2024. "Cheap Tweets?: Crisis Signaling in the Age of Twitter." *International Studies Quarterly* 68 (March): sqae067.
- Koo, John N L, and Kai Quek. 2024. "Win-Win Deescalation." *International Studies Quarterly* 68 (September): sqae148.
- Wernerfelt, Birger. 2024. "The origin and function of arbitrary signals: Making false statements, having long hair, and smoking Virginia Slims." *PNAS nexus* 3 (9): pgae408.
- Búzás, Zoltán I, and Lotem Bassan-Nygate. 2024. "Race, shaming, and international human rights." *American Journal of Political Science* Forthcoming.

Predicting and forecasting

- Wilson, Timothy D., and Daniel T. Gilbert. 2005. "Affective Forecasting: Knowing What to Want." *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 14 (3): 131-134.
- Tetlock, Philip E. 2005. Expert Political Judgment: How Good is It? How Can We Know? Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Mellers, Barbara, Lyle Ungar, Jonathan Baron, Jaime Ramos, Burcu Gurcay, Katrina Fincher, Sydney E. Scott, Don Moore, Pavel Atanasov, Samuel A. Swift, Terry Murray, Eric Stone, and Philip E. Tetlock. 2014. "Psychological Strategies for Winning a Geopolitical Forecasting Tournament." *Psychological Science* 25 (5): 1106-1115.

- Chang, Welton, and Philip E. Tetlock. 2016. "Rethinking the training of intelligence analysts." *Intelligence and National Security* 31 (6): 903-920.
- Horowitz, Michael, Brandon M. Stewart, Dustin Tingley, Michael Bishop, Laura Resnick, Margaret Roberts, Welton Chang, Barbara Mellers, and Philip Tetlock. 2019. "What Makes Foreign Policy Teams Tick: Explaining Variation in Group Performance At Geopolitical Forecasting." *Journal of Politics* 81 (4): 1388-1404.
- Lebovic, James H. 2021. "Predilection or Prediction? Country Selection for the President's Daily Intelligence Brief, 1961–1977." Foreign Policy Analysis 18 (December): orab036.
- Gleditsch, Kristian Skrede. 2022. "One without the Other? Prediction and Policy in International Studies." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (July): sqac036.

Hot cognition I: Motivated reasoning, images, stereotypes, and perceptions

- Kertzer, Joshua D., Brian C. Rathbun, and Nina Srinivasan Rathbun. 2020. "The Price of Peace: Motivated Reasoning and Costly Signaling in International Relations." *International Organization* 74 (1): 95-118.
- Powers, Kathleen E., and Dan Altman. 2023. "The Psychology of Coercion Failure: How Reactance Explains Resistance to Threats." *American Journal of Political Science* 67 (January): 221–238.
- Fiske, Susan T., Amy J. C. Cuddy, Peter Glick, and Jun Xu. 2002. "A Model of (Often Mixed) Stereotype Content: Competence and Warmth Respectively Follow From Perceived Status and Competition." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 82 (6): 878-902.
- Herrmann, Richard K. 2013. "Perceptions and Image Theory in International Relations." In *Oxford Handbook of Political Psychology*, ed. Leonie Huddy, David O. Sears, and Jack S. Levy. 2nd ed. ed. Oxford University Press.
- Haslam, Nick, and Steve Loughnan. 2014. "Dehumanization and Infrahumanization." *Annual Review of Psychology* 65 (1): 399-423.
- Carson, Austin, Eric Min, and Maya Van Nuys. 2024. "Racial Tropes in the Foreign Policy Bureaucracy: A Computational Text Analysis." *International Organization* 78 (2): 189–223.
- Jervis, Robert. 2017. *Perception and Misperception in International Politics*. 2nd ed. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press. Chapter 3.
- Pomeroy, Caleb. 2025. "The Damocles Delusion: The Sense of Power Inflates Threat Perception in World Politics." *International Organization* Forthcoming.

Recommended

Motivated reasoning

- Abelson, Robert P. 1986. "Beliefs are Like Possessions." *Journal for the Theory of Social Behavior* 16 (3): 223-250.
- Kunda, Ziva. 1990. "The case for motivated reasoning." Psychological Bulletin 108 (3): 480-498.
- Mele, Alfred R. 1997. "Real self-deception." Behavioral and Brain Sciences 20 (1): 91-102.
- Lodge, Milton, and Charles Taber. 2000. "Three Steps toward a Theory of Motivated Political Reasoning." In *Elements of Reason: Cognition, Choice, and the Bounds of Rationality*, ed. Arthur Lupia, Mathew D. McCubbins, and Samuel L. Popkin. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- De Dreu, Carsten K. W., and Peter J. Carnevale. 2003. "Motivational Bases of Information Processing and Strategy in Conflict and Negotiation." *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology* 35: 235-291.
- Jost, John T., Mahzarin R. Banaji, and Brian A. Nosek. 2004. "A Decade of System Justification Theory: Accumulated Evidence of Conscious and Unconscious Bolstering of the Status Quo." Political Psychology 25 (6): 881-919.
- Lodge, Milton, and Charles S. Taber. 2005. "The Automaticity of Affect for Political Leaders, Groups, and Issues: An Experimental Test of the Hot Cognition Hypothesis." *Political Psychology* 26 (3): 455–482.

- Morton, Thomas A., S. Alexander Haslam, Tom Postmes, and Michelle K. Ryan. 2006. "We Value What Values Us: The Appeal of Identity-Affirming Science." *Political Psychology* 27 (6): 823-838.
- Taber, Charles S., and Milton Lodge. 2006. "Motivated Skepticism in the Evaluation of Political Beliefs." *American Journal of Political Science* 50 (3): 755-69.
- Mullen, Elizabeth, and Linda J Skitka. 2006. "Exploring the psychological underpinnings of the moral mandate effect: Motivated reasoning, group differentiation, or anger?" *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 90 (4): 629-643.
- Lebo, Matthew J., and Daniel Cassino. 2007. "The Aggregated Consequences of Motivated Reasoning and the Dynamics of Partisan Presidential Approval." *Political Psychology* 28 (6): 719-746.
- Gaines, Brian J., James H. Kuklinski, Paul J. Quirk, Buddy Peyton, and Jay Verkuilen. 2007. "Same Facts, Different Interpretations: Partisan Motivation and Opinion on Iraq." *Journal of Politics* 69 (4): 957-974.
- Fitzsimons, Gráinne M., and James Y. Shah. 2008. "How goal instrumentality shapes relationship evaluations." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 95 (2): 319-337.
- Gruenfeld, Deborah H, M Ena Inesi, Joe C Magee, and Adam D Galinsky. 2008. "Power and the Objectification of Social Targets." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 95 (1): 111-127.
- Shnabel, Nurit, and Arie Nadler. 2008. "A Needs-Based Model of Reconciliation: Satisfying the Differential Emotional Needs of Victim and Perpetrator as a Key to Promoting Reconciliation." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 94 (1): 116-132.
- Bullock, John G. 2009. "Partisan Bias and the Bayesian Ideal in the Study of Public Opinion." *Journal of Politics* 71 (3): 1109-1124.
- Mele, Alfred R. 2010. "Twisted self-deception." Philosophical Psychology 12 (2): 117-137.
- Slothuus, Rune, and Claes H. de Vreese. 2010. "Political Parties, Motivated Reasoning, and Issue Framing Effects." *Journal of Politics* 72 (3): 630-645.
- Redlawsk, David P., Andrew J. W. Civettini, and Karen M. Emmerson. 2010. "The Affective Tipping Point: Do Motivated Reasoners Ever "Get It"?" *Political Psychology* 31 (4): 563–593.
- Duelfer, Charles A., and Stephen Benedict Dyson. 2011. "Chronic Misperception and International Conflict: The U.S.-Iraq Experience." *International Security* 36 (1): 73-100.
- Mercier, Hugo, and Dan Sperber. 2011. "Why Do Humans Reason? Arguments for an Argumentative Theory." *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 34 (2): 57-111.
- Lodge, Milton, and Charles Taber. 2013. The Rationalizing Voter. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press. Chapters 1,7.
- van der Toorn, Jojanneke, Paul R. Nail, Ido Liviatan, and John T. Jost. 2014. "My country, right or wrong: Does activating system justification motivation eliminate the liberal-conservative gap in patriotism?" *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 54: 50 60.
- Kahan, Dan M. 2016a. "The Politically Motivated Reasoning Paradigm, Part 1: What Politically Motivated Reasoning Is and How to Measure It." In *Emerging Trends in the Social and Behavioral Sciences*. Wiley Online Library.

- Kahan, Dan M. 2016b. "The Politically Motivated Reasoning Paradigm, Part 2: Unanswered Questions." In *Emerging Trends in the Social and Behavioral Sciences*. Wiley Online Library.
- Epley, Nicholas, and Thomas Gilovich. 2016. "The mechanics of motivated reasoning." *Journal of Economic perspectives* 30 (3): 133–140.
- Baekgaard, Martin, Julian Christensen, Casper Mondrup Dahlmann, Asbjørn Mathiasen, and Niels
 Bjørn Grund Petersen. 2019. "The Role of Evidence in Politics: Motivated Reasoning and
 Persuasion among Politicians." British Journal of Political Science 49 (3): 1117-1140.
- Herrmann, Richard K. 2017. "How Attachments to the Nation Shape Beliefs About the World: A Theory of Motivated Reasoning." *International Organization* 71 (S1): S61-S84.
- Bisgaard, Martin. 2019. "How getting the facts right can fuel partisan-motivated reasoning." *American Journal of Political Science* 63 (4): 824–839.
- Little, Andrew T. 2019. "The distortion of related beliefs." *American Journal of Political Science* 63 (3): 675–689.
- Tappin, Ben M, Gordon Pennycook, and David G. Rand. 2020. "Thinking clearly about causal inferences of politically motivated reasoning: why paradigmatic study designs often undermine causal inference." *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences* 34: 81-87.
- Groenendyk, Eric, and Yanna Krupnikov. 2021. "What Motivates Reasoning? A Theory of Goal-Dependent Political Evaluation." *American Journal of Political Science* 65 (1): 180-196.
- Zimmermann, Florian. 2020. "The Dynamics of Motivated Beliefs." *American Economic Review* 110 (February): 337-61.
- Bayes, Robin, James N Druckman, Avery Goods, and Daniel C Molden. 2020. "When and How Different Motives Can Drive Motivated Political Reasoning." *Political Psychology* 41 (5): 1031-1052.
- Silverman, Daniel, Karl Kaltenthaler, and Munqith Dagher. 2021. "Seeing is disbelieving: the depths and limits of factual misinformation in war." *International Studies Quarterly* 65 (3): 798–810.
- Peterson, Erik, and Shanto Iyengar. 2021. "Partisan gaps in political information and information-seeking behavior: Motivated reasoning or cheerleading?" *American Journal of Political Science* 65 (1): 133–147.
- Guay, Brian, and Christopher D Johnston. 2022. "Ideological asymmetries and the determinants of politically motivated reasoning." *American Journal of Political Science* 66 (2): 285–301.
- Celniker, Jared B, and Peter H Ditto. 2024. "Of preferences and priors: Motivated reasoning in partisans' evaluations of scientific evidence." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 127 (5): 986.
- Fiedler, Susann, Hooman Habibnia, Alina Fahrenwaldt, and Rima-Maria Rahal. 2024. "Motivated cognition in cooperation." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 19 (2): 385–403.
- Tierney, Dominic. 2024. "The iron dice: Fatalism and war." International Security 49 (1): 51-90.

Images and stereotypes

Boulding, Kenneth E. 1959. "National images and international systems." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 3 (2): 120–131.

- Nisbett, Richard E., and Ziva Kunda. 1985. "Perception of social distributions." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 48 (2): 297-311.
- Stagnor, Charles, and James E. Lange. 1994. "Mental Representations of Social Groups: Advances in Understanding Stereotypes and Stereotyping." In *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, *Vol. 26*. Academic Press.
- Cottam, Martha L. 1994. *Images and Intervention: U.S. Policies in Latin America*. Pittsburgh, PA: University of Pittsburgh Press.
- Herrmann, Richard K., and Michael P. Fischerkeller. 1995. "Beyond the Enemy Image and Spiral Model: Cognitive-Strategic Research After the Cold War." *International Organization* 49 (3): 415-50.
- Kunda, Ziva, and Paul Thagard. 1996. "Forming impressions from stereotypes, traits, and behaviors: A parallel-constraint-satisfaction theory." *Psychological Review* 103 (2): 284-308.
- Hilton, James L., and William von Hippel. 1996. "Stereotypes." *Annual Review of Psychology* 47: 237-71.
- Herrmann, Richard K., James F. Voss, Tonya Y. E. Schooler, and Joseph Ciarrochi. 1997. "Images in International Relations: An Experimental Test of Cognitive Schemata." *International Studies Quarterly* 41 (3): 403-433.
- Yzerbyt, Vincent, Steve Rocher, and Georges Schadron. 1997. "Stereotypes as explanations: A subjective essentialistic view of group perception." In *The Social Psychology of Stereotyping and Group Life*, ed. Russell Spears, Penelope J. Oakes, Naomi Ellemers, and S. Alexander Haslam. Blackwell Publishing.
- Alexander, Michele G., Marilynn B. Brewer, and Richard K. Herrmann. 1999. "Images and Affect: A Functional Analysis of Out-Group Stereotypes." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 77 (1): 78-93.
- Kunda, Ziva, and Steven J. Spencer. 2003. "When do stereotypes come to mind and when do they color judgment? A goal-based theoretical framework for stereotype activation and application." *Psychological Bulletin* 129 (4): 522-544.
- Herrmann, Richard K. 2003. "Image Theory and Strategic Interaction in International Relations." In Oxford Handbook of Political Psychology, ed. David O. Sears, Leonie Huddy, and Robert Jervis. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Alexander, Michele G, Marilynn B Brewer, and Robert W Livingston. 2005. "Putting stereotype content in context: Image theory and interethnic stereotypes." Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin 31 (6): 781–794.
- Arceneaux, Kevin. 2008. "Can Partisan Cues Diminish Democratic Accountability?" *Political Behavior* 30 (1): 139-160.
- Kervyn, Nicolas, Vincent Y Yzerbyt, Stephanie Demoulin, and Charles M Judd. 2008. "Competence and warmth in context: The compensatory nature of stereotypic views of national groups." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 38 (7): 1175–1183.
- Durante, Federica, Susan T Fiske, Nicolas Kervyn, Amy JC Cuddy, Adebowale Akande, Bolanle E Adetoun, Modupe F Adewuyi, Magdeline M Tserere, Ananthi Al Ramiah, Khairul Anwar Mastor et al. 2013. "Nations' income inequality predicts ambivalence in stereotype content: How societies mind the gap." *British Journal of Social Psychology* 52 (4): 726–746.

- Jussim, Lee, Jarret Crawford, and Rachel Rubinstein. 2015. "Stereotype (In)Accuracy in Perceptions of Groups and Individuals." *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 24 (6): 490-497.
- Bordalo, Pedro, Katherine Coffman, Nicola Gennaioli, and Andrei Shleifer. 2016. "Stereotypes." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 131 (4): 1753-1794.
- Castano, Emanuele, Alain Bonacossa, and Peter Gries. 2016. "National Images as Integrated Schemas: Subliminal Primes of Image Attributes Shape Foreign Policy Preferences." *Political Psychology* 37 (3): 351–366.
- Koch, Alex, Roland Imhoff, Ron Dotsch, Christian Unkelbach, and Hans Alves. 2016. "The ABC of stereotypes about groups: Agency/socioeconomic success, conservative–progressive beliefs, and communion." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 110 (5): 675-709.
- Yzerbyt, Vincent. 2016. "Intergroup stereotyping." Current Opinion in Psychology 11: 90-95.
- Imhoff, Roland, and Alex Koch. 2017. "How orthogonal are the Big Two of social perception? On the curvilinear relation between agency and communion." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 12 (1): 122–137.
- Durante, Federica, Susan T Fiske, Michele J Gelfand, Franca Crippa, Chiara Suttora, Amelia Stillwell, Frank Asbrock, Zeynep Aycan, Hege H Bye, Rickard Carlsson et al. 2017. "Ambivalent stereotypes link to peace, conflict, and inequality across 38 nations." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114 (4): 669–674.
- Horowitz, Michael C, Philip Potter, Todd S Sechser, and Allan Stam. 2018. "Sizing Up the Adversary: Leader Attributes and Coercion in International Conflict." *Journal of Conflict* Resolution 62 (10): 2180–2204.
- Naurin, Nils Daniel, Elin Naurin, and Amy Alexander. 2019. "Gender stereotyping and chivalry in international negotiations. A survey experiment in the Council of the European Union." *International Organization* 73 (2): 469–488.
- Mattes, Michaela, and Jessica L.P. Weeks. 2019. "Hawks, Doves, and Peace: An Experimental Approach." *American Journal of Political Science* 63 (1): 53–66.
- McManus, Roseanne W. 2021. "Crazy Like a Fox? Are Leaders with Reputations for Madness More Successful at International Coercion?" *British Journal of Political Science* 51 (1): 275-293.
- Alrababa'h, Ala', Rachel Myrick, and Isaac Webb. 2020. "Do Donor Motives Matter? Investigating Perceptions of Foreign Aid in the Conflict in Donbas." *International Studies Quarterly* 64 (3): 748-757.
- Lu, Jackson G, Xin Lucy Liu, Hui Liao, and Lei Wang. 2020. "Disentangling stereotypes from social reality: Astrological stereotypes and discrimination in China." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 119 (6): 1359.
- Gries, Peter, Andrew Fox, Yiming Jing, Matthias Mader, Thomas J. Scotto, and Jason Reifler. 2020. "A new measure of the 'democratic peace': what country feeling thermometer data can teach us about the drivers of American and Western European foreign policy." *Political Research Exchange* 2 (1): 1716630.
- Bordalo, Pedro, Nicola Gennaioli, and Andrei Shleifer. 2020. "Memory, Attention, and Choice." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 135 (04): 1399-1442.

- Moore-Berg, Samantha L., Lee-Or Ankori-Karlinsky, Boaz Hameiri, and Emile Bruneau. 2020. "Exaggerated meta-perceptions predict intergroup hostility between American political partisans." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 117 (26): 14864–14872.
- Kertzer, Joshua D., Stephen G. Brooks, and Deborah Jordan Brooks. 2021. "Do Partisan Types Stop at the Water's Edge?" *Journal of Politics* 83 (4): 1764-1782.
- Mutz, Diana C, and Beth A Simmons. 2022. "The psychology of separation: Border walls, soft power, and international neighborliness." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 119 (4): e2117797119.
- Blair, Christopher W, and Joshua A Schwartz. 2023. "The gendered peace premium." *International Studies Quarterly* 67 (4): sqad090.
- Byun, Joshua, and Austin Carson. 2023. "More than a Number: Aging Leaders in International Politics." *International Studies Quarterly* 67 (1): sqad008.
- Stanley, Matthew L, Steven Shepherd, and Aaron C Kay. 2023. "Heroization and ironic funneling effects." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 125 (1): 29-56.

Infrahumanization and dehumanization

- Kelman, Herbert G. 1973. "Violence without moral restraint: Reflections on the dehumanization of victims and victimizers." *Journal of social issues* 29 (4): 25–61.
- Castano, Emanuele, and Roger Giner-Sorolla. 2006. "Not quite human: infrahumanization in response to collective responsibility for intergroup killing." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 90 (5): 804-818.
- Goff, Phillip Atiba, Jennifer L Eberhardt, Melissa J Williams, and Matthew Christian Jackson. 2008. "Not Yet Human: Implicit Knowledge, Historical Dehumanization, and Contemporary Consequences." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 94 (2): 292-306.
- Maoz, Ifat, and Clark McCauley. 2008. "Threat, dehumanization, and support for retaliatory aggressive policies in asymmetric conflict." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 52 (1): 93-116.
- Bilewicz, Micha'l, Roland Imhoff, and Marek Drogosz. 2011. "The humanity of what we eat: Conceptions of human uniqueness among vegetarians and omnivores." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 41 (2): 201–209.
- Vaes, Jeroen, Jacques-Philippe Leyens, Maria Paola Paladino, and Mariana Pires Miranda. 2012. "We are human, they are not: Driving forces behind outgroup dehumanisation and the humanisation of the ingroup." *European review of social psychology* 23 (1): 64–106.
- Leidner, Bernhard, Emanuele Castano, and Jeremy Ginges. 2013. "Dehumanization, retributive and restorative justice, and aggressive versus diplomatic intergroup conflict resolution strategies." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 39 (2): 181–192.
- Andrighetto, Luca, Cristina Baldissarri, Sara Lattanzio, Steve Loughnan, and Chiara Volpato. 2014. "Human-itarian aid? Two forms of dehumanization and willingness to help after natural disasters." *British journal of social psychology* 53 (3): 573–584.
- Alleyne, Emma, Isabel Fernandes, and Elizabeth Pritchard. 2014. "Denying humanness to victims: How gang members justify violent behavior." *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations* 17 (6): 750-762.

- Kteily, Nour, Gordon Hodson, and Emile Bruneau. 2016. "They see us as less than human: Metadehumanization predicts intergroup conflict via reciprocal dehumanization." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 110 (3): 343.
- Bruneau, Emile, and Nour Kteily. 2017. "The enemy as animal: Symmetric dehumanization during asymmetric warfare." *PLOS ONE* 12 (07): 1-20.
- Bruneau, Emile, Nour Kteily, and Lasse Laustsen. 2018. "The unique effects of blatant dehumanization on attitudes and behavior towards Muslim refugees during the European 'refugee crisis' across four countries." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 48 (5): 645–662.
- Lang, Johannes. 2020. "The limited importance of dehumanization in collective violence." *Current Opinion in Psychology* 35: 17-20.
- Over, Harriet. 2021. "Seven challenges for the dehumanization hypothesis." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 16 (1): 3–13.
- Utych, Stephen M. 2021. "Human or not? Political rhetoric and foreign policy attitudes." *Political Science Research and Methods* 10 (3): 642-650.
- Kteily, Nour S, and Alexander P Landry. 2022. "Dehumanization: Trends, insights, and challenges." *Trends in cognitive sciences* 26 (3): 222–240.
- Martin, Ashley E, and Malia F Mason. 2022. "What does it mean to be (seen as) human? The importance of gender in humanization." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 123 (2): 292.
- Luft, Aliza. 2023. "The moral career of the genocide perpetrator: Cognition, emotions, and dehumanization as a consequence, not a cause, of violence." *Sociological Theory* 41 (4): 324–351.

Perception and misperception

- Bronfenbrenner, Urie. 1961. "The Mirror Image in Soviet-American Relations: A Social Psychologist's Report." *Journal of Social Issues* 17 (3): 45-56.
- Kelley, Harold H. 1967. "Attribution theory in social psychology." In *Nebraska symposium on motivation*, . Lincoln, NE.
- Jones, Edward E, and Victor A Harris. 1967. "The attribution of attitudes." *Journal of experimental social psychology* 3 (1): 1–24.
- Van Evera, Stephen. 1984. "The Cult of the Offensive and the Origins of the First World War." *International Security* 9 (1): 58-107.
- Oren, Nissan, ed. 1984. Images and Reality in International Politics. New York, NY: St Martin's Press.
- Jervis, Robert, Richard Ned Lebow, and Janice Gross Stein. 1985. *Psychology and Deterrence*. Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press.
- Stein, Janice Gross. 1988. "Building Politics into Psychology: The Misperception of Threat." *Political Psychology* 9 (2): 245-271.
- Mutz, Diana C. 1998. *Impersonal Influence: How Perceptions of Mass Collectives Affect Political Attitudes*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Savitsky, Kenneth, Nicholas Epley, and Thomas Gilovich. 2001. "Do others judge us as harshly as we think? Overestimating the impact of our failures, shortcomings, and mishaps." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 81 (1): 44-56.

- Holmes, Marcus. 2013. "Mirror Neurons and the Problem of Intentions." *International Organization* 67 (4): 829-861.
- Búzás, Zoltán I. 2013. "The Color of Threat: Race, Threat Perception, and the Demise of the Anglo-Japanese Alliance (1902-1923)." *Security Studies* 22 (4): 573-606.
- Stein, Janice Gross. 2013. "Threat Perception in International Relations." In The Oxford Handbook of Political Psychology, ed. Leonie Huddy, David O. Sears, and Jack S. Levy. Oxford University Press.
- Yarhi-Milo, Keren. 2014. Knowing the Adversary: Leaders, Intelligence, and Assessment of Intentions in International Relations. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Fessler, Daniel M. T., Colin Holbrook, and Matthew M. Gervais. 2014. "Men's Physical Strength Moderates Conceptualizations of Prospective Foes in Two Disparate Societies." *Human Nature* 25 (393-409).
- Ahler, Douglas J. 2014. "Self-fulfilling misperceptions of public polarization." *The Journal of Politics* 76 (3): 607–620.
- Altman, Daniel. 2015. "The strategist's curse: A theory of false optimism as a cause of war." *Security Studies* 24 (2): 284–315.
- Holmes, Marcus. 2016. "You Never Get a Second Chance to Make a First Impression? First Encounters and Face-Based Threat Perception." *Journal of Global Security Studies* 1 (4): 285-302.
- Wong, Seanon S. 2016. "Emotions and the communication of intentions in face-to-face diplomacy." European Journal of International Relations 22 (1): 144-167.
- Holbrook, Colin, Lucía López-Rodríguez, Daniel M. T. Fessler, Alexandra Vázquez, and Ángel Gómez. 2017. "Gulliver's Politics: Conservatives Envision Potential Enemies as Readily Vanquished and Physically Small." *Social Psychological and Personality Science* 8 (6): 670-678.
- Levendusky, Matthew S., and Neil Malhotra. 2016. "(Mis)perceptions of Partisan Polarization in the American Public." *Public Opinion Quarterly* 80 (10): 378-391.
- Trager, Robert F. 2017. *Diplomacy: Communication and the Origins of International Order*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press. Chapter 2.
- Ahler, Douglas J, and Gaurav Sood. 2018. "The parties in our heads: Misperceptions about party composition and their consequences." *The Journal of Politics* 80 (3): 964–981.
- Balmas, Meital. 2018. "Tell Me Who Is Your Leader, and I Will Tell You Who You Are: Foreign Leaders' Perceived Personality and Public Attitudes toward Their Countries and Citizenry." *American Journal of Political Science* 62 (2): 499-514.
- Lindsey, David. 2019. "Mutual Optimism and Costly Conflict: The Case of Naval Battles in the Age of Sail." *The Journal of Politics* 81 (4): 1181–1196.
- Debs, Alexandre. 2022. "Mutual Optimism and War, and the Strategic Tensions of the July Crisis." *American Journal of Political Science* 66 (2): 271-284.
- Kertzer, Joshua D., Jonathan Renshon, and Keren Yarhi-Milo. 2021. "How Do Observers Assess Resolve?" *British Journal of Political Science* 51 (1): 308-330.
- Bursztyn, Leonardo, Alessandra L. González, and David Yanagizawa-Drott. 2020. "Misperceived Social Norms: Women Working Outside the Home in Saudi Arabia." *American Economic Review* 110 (October): 2997-3029.

- Simpson, Brent, Robb Willer, and Matthew Feinberg. 2022. "Radical flanks of social movements can increase support for moderate factions." *PNAS nexus* 1 (3): pgac110.
- Lutz, Philipp, and Marco Bitschnau. 2023. "Misperceptions about immigration: reviewing their nature, motivations and determinants." *British Journal of Political Science* 53 (2): 674–689.
- Lucas, Jack, Lior Sheffer, Peter John Loewen, Stefaan Walgrave, Karolin Soontjens, Eran Amsalem, Stefanie Bailer, Nathalie Brack, Christian Breunig, Pirmin Bundi et al. 2024. "Politicians' Theories of Voting Behavior." *American Political Science Review* Forthcoming: 1–18.
- Kertzer, Joshua D., Ryan Brutger, and Kai Quek. 2024. "Perspective Taking and the Security Dilemma: Cross-National Experimental Evidence from China and the United States." *World Politics* 76 (2): 334-378.

Hot cognition II: Emotions, morality, taboos, and indivisible issues

- Lerner, Jennifer S., Ye Li, Piercarlo Valdesolo, and Karim S. Kassam. 2015. "Emotion and Decision Making." *Annual Review of Psychology* 66: 799-823.
- Collins, Randall. 2008. Violence: A Micro-Sociological Theory. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, chapter 2.
- Yoon, Hohyun. 2024. "Anger expressions and coercive credibility in international crises." *American Journal of Political Science* Forthcoming.
- Dill, Janina, and Livia I Schubiger. 2021. "Attitudes toward the Use of Force: Instrumental Imperatives, Moral Principles, and International Law." *American Journal of Political Science* 65 (3): 612–633.
- Kennard, Amanda. 2021. "My Brother's Keeper: Other-regarding preferences and concern for global climate change." *The Review of International Organizations* 16: 345-376.
- Jha, Saumitra, Moses Shayo, and Chagai M. Weiss. 2025. "Financial market exposure increases generalized trust." *Journal of Public Economics* 242: 105303.
- Fiske, Alan Page, and Philip E. Tetlock. 1997. "Taboo Trade-offs: Reactions to Transactions That Transgress the Spheres of Justice." *Political Psychology* 18 (2): 255–297.
- Lee, Soyoung. 2024. "Domestic distributional roots of national interest." *American Political Science Review* 118 (4): 1824–1839.

Recommended

Emotions

- Menzies, Isabel EP. 1960. "A case-study in the functioning of social systems as a defence against anxiety: A report on a study of the nursing service of a general hospital." *Human relations* 13 (2): 95–121.
- Zajonc, Robert. 1980. "Feeling and Thinking: Preferences Need No Inferences." *American Psychologist* 35: 151-175.
- Keltner, Dacher, and Jonathan Haidt. 1999. "Social functions of emotions at four levels of analysis." *Cognition & Emotion* 13 (5): 505–521.
- Russell, James A., and Lisa Feldman Barrett. 1999. "Core Affect, Prototypical Emotional Episodes, and Other Things Called Emotion: Dissecting the Elephant." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 76 (5): 805-819.
- Crawford, Neta C. 2000. "The Passion of World Politics: Propositions on Emotion and Emotional Relationships." *International Security* 24 (4): 116-156.
- Marcus, George E. 2000. "Emotions in Politics." Annual Review of Political Science 3: 221-250.
- Marcus, George E., W. Russell Neuman, and Michael MacKuen. 2000. *Affective Intelligence and Political Judgment*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Mackie, Diane M, Thierry Devos, and Eliot R Smith. 2000. "Intergroup emotions: explaining offensive action tendencies in an intergroup context." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 79 (4): 602-616.

- Lerner, Jennifer S., and Dacher Keltner. 2001. "Fear, Anger, and Risk." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 81 (1): 146-159.
- Petersen, Roger D. 2002. *Understanding Ethnic Violence: Fear, Hatred, and Resentment in Twentieth-Century Eastern Europe*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Van Zomeren, Martijn, Russell Spears, Agneta H Fischer, and Colin Wayne Leach. 2004. "Put your money where your mouth is! Explaining collective action tendencies through group-based anger and group efficacy." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 87 (5): 649-664.
- Kleef, Gerben A. Van, Carsten KW De Dreu, and Antony SR Manstead. 2004b. "The interpersonal effects of emotions in negotiations: a motivated information processing approach." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 87 (4): 510.
- Kleef, Gerben A. Van, Carsten KW De Dreu, and Antony SR Manstead. 2004a. "The Interpersonal Effects of Anger and Happiness in Negotiations." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 86 (1): 57-76.
- Geva, Nehemia, and J. Mark Skorick. 2006. "The Emotional Calculus of Foreign Policy Decisions: Getting Emotions Out of the Closet." In *Feeling Politics: Emotion in Political Information Processing*, ed. David P. Redlawsk. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hymans, Jacques E.C. 2006. *The psychology of nuclear proliferation: Identity, emotions and foreign policy*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Lerner, Jennifer S., and Larissa Z. Tiedens. 2006. "Portrait of the angry decision maker: how appraisal tendencies shape anger's influence on cognition." *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making* 19 (2): 115–137.
- Ross, Andrew A.G. 2006. "Coming in from the Cold: Constructivism and Emotions." *European Journal of International Relations* 12 (2): 197-222.
- Bar-Tal, Daniel, Eran Halperin, and Joseph De Rivera. 2007. "Collective emotions in conflict situations: Societal implications." *Journal of Social Issues* 63 (2): 441-460.
- Pagano, Sabrina J., and Yuen J. Huo. 2007. "The Role of Moral Emotions in Predicting Support for Political Actions in Post-War Iraq." *Political Psychology* 28 (2): 227-255.
- Smith, Eliot R., Charles R. Seger, and Diane M. Mackie. 2007. "Can Emotions Be Truly Group Level? Evidence Regarding Four Conceptual Criteria." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 93 (3): 431-446.
- Fischer, Agneta H, and Ira J Roseman. 2007. "Beat them or ban them: the characteristics and social functions of anger and contempt." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 93 (1): 103-115.
- Bleiker, Roland, and Emma Hutchison. 2008. "Fear no more: emotions and world politics." *Review of International Studies* 34: 115-135.
- Tang, Shiping. 2008. "Fear in International Politics: Two Positions." *International Studies Review* 10 (3): 451-471.
- Sell, Aaron, John Tooby, and Leda Cosmides. 2009. "Formidability and the logic of human anger." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106 (35): 15073-15078.
- Mercer, Jonathan. 2010. "Emotional Beliefs." International Organization 64 (1): 1-31.

- Sasley, Brent E. 2010. "Affective attachments and foreign policy: Israel and the 1993 Oslo Accords." European Journal of International Relations 16 (4): 687-709.
- Hutcherson, Cendri A., and James J. Gross. 2011. "The moral emotions: a social-functionalist account of anger, disgust, and contempt." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 100 (4): 719-737.
- Halperin, Eran, Alexandra G. Russell, Carol S. Dweck, and James J. Gross. 2011. "Anger, Hatred, and the Quest for Peace: Anger Can Be Constructive in the Absence of Hatred." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 55 (2): 274–291.
- Eznack, Lucile. 2011. "Crises as Signals of Strength: The Significance of Affect in Close Allies' Relationships." *Security Studies* 20 (2): 238-265.
- Hall, Todd H. 2011. "We will not swallow this bitter fruit: Theorizing a diplomacy of anger." *Security Studies* 20 (4): 521–555.
- Huebner, Bryce. 2011. "Genuinely collective emotions." *European Journal for Philosophy of Science* 1 (1): 89-118.
- Kertzer, Joshua D., and Kathleen M. McGraw. 2012. "Folk Realism: Testing the Microfoundations of Realism in Ordinary Citizens." *International Studies Quarterly* 56 (2): 245-258.
- Behrendt, Hadar, and Rachel Ben-Ari. 2012. "The Positive Side of Negative Emotion The Role of Guilt and Shame in Coping with Interpersonal Conflict." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 56 (6): 1116–1138.
- Leidner, Bernhard, Hammad Sheikh, and Jeremy Ginges. 2012. "Affective Dimensions of Intergroup Humiliation." *PLOS ONE* 7 (09): 1-6.
- McDoom, Omar Shahabudin. 2012. "The Psychology of Threat in Intergroup Conflict: Emotions, Rationality, and Opportunity in the Rwandan Genocide." *International Security* 37 (2): 119-155.
- Mercer, Jonathan. 2013. "Emotion and strategy in the Korean War." *International Organization* 67 (2): 221-252.
- Lašas, Ainius. 2013. "Legacies of Srebrenica: The Dutch Factor in EU-Serbian Relations." *Political Psychology* 34 (6): 899–915.
- McDermott, Rose. 2014b. "The body doesn't lie: a somatic approach to the study of emotions in world politics." *International Theory* 6 (3): 557–562.
- Zeitzoff, Thomas. 2014. "Anger, exposure to violence, and intragroup conflict: A "Lab in the Field" experiment in Southern Israel." *Political Psychology* 35 (3): 309–335.
- Goldenberg, Amit, Tamar Saguy, and Eran Halperin. 2014. "How group-based emotions are shaped by collective emotions: evidence for emotional transfer and emotional burden." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 107 (4): 581-596.
- Halperin, Eran, Ruthie Pliskin, Tamar Saguy, Varda Liberman, and James J Gross. 2014. "Emotion regulation and the cultivation of political tolerance searching for a new track for intervention." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 58 (6): 1110-1138.
- Halperin, Eran. 2015. Emotions in conflict: Inhibitors and facilitators of peace making. Routledge.
- Solomon, Ty. 2014. "The affective underpinnings of soft power." *European Journal of International Relations* 20 (3): 720-741.

- Hall, Todd H. 2015. *Emotional Diplomacy: Official Emotion on the International Stage*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Hall, Todd H., and Andrew A.G. Ross. 2015. "Affective Politics after 9/11." *International Organization* 69 (4): 847-879.
- Holmes, Marcus, and David Traven. 2015. "Acting Rationally Without Really Thinking: The Logic of Rational Intuitionism for International Relations Theory." *International Studies Review* 17 (3): 414-440.
- Dolan, Thomas M. 2016. "Go Big or Go Home? Positive Emotions and Responses to Wartime Success." *International Studies Quarterly* 60 (2): 230-242.
- Hutchison, Emma. 2016. *Affective Communities in World Politics*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- van Kleef, Gerben A., and Agneta H. Fischer. 2016. "Emotional collectives: How groups shape emotions and emotions shape groups." *Cognition and Emotion* 30 (1): 3-19.
- Yzerbyt, Vincent, Toon Kuppens, and Bernard Mathieu. 2016. "When talking makes you feel like a group: The emergence of group-based emotions." *Cognition and Emotion* 30 (1): 33-50. PMID: 26193426.
- Renshon, Jonathan, Jooa Julia Lee, and Dustin Tingley. 2017. "Emotions and the Micro-Foundations of Commitment Problems." *International Organization* 71 (S1): S189-S218.
- Jasper, James M. 2017. "Emotions and Social Movements: Twenty Years of Theory and Research." Annual Review of Sociology 37.
- Nussio, Enzo. 2017. "How Ideology Channels Indeterminate Emotions into Armed Mobilization." PS: Political Science & Politics 50 (4): 928–931.
- Clifford, Scott, and Jennifer Jerit. 2018. "Disgust, anxiety, and political learning in the face of threat." *American Journal of Political Science* 62 (2): 266–279.
- Markwica, Robin. 2018. *Emotional choices: How the logic of affect shapes coercive diplomacy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Clément, Maéva and Eric Sangar, eds. 2018. Researching Emotions in International Relations: Methodological Perspectives on the Emotional Turn. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hall, Todd H, and Andrew AG Ross. 2019. "Rethinking affective experience and popular emotion: World War I and the construction of group emotion in international relations." *Political Psychology* 40 (6): 1357–1372.
- Baker, Joshua. 2019. "The Empathic Foundations of Security Dilemma De-escalation." *Political Psychology* 40 (6): 1251-1266.
- Keys, Barbara, and Claire Yorke. 2019. "Personal and Political Emotions in the Mind of the Diplomat." *Political Psychology* 40 (6): 1235–1249.
- Lynggaard, Kennet. 2019. "Methodological challenges in the study of emotions in politics and how to deal with them." *Political Psychology* 40 (6): 1201–1215.
- Fisk, Kerstin, Jennifer L Merolla, and Jennifer M Ramos. 2019. "Emotions, terrorist threat, and drones: anger drives support for drone strikes." *Journal of conflict resolution* 63 (4): 976–1000.

- Young, Lauren E. 2019. "The psychology of state repression: Fear and dissent decisions in Zimbabwe." *American Political Science Review* 113 (1): 140–155.
- Kinnvall, Catarina, and Jennifer Mitzen. 2020. "Anxiety, fear, and ontological security in world politics: thinking with and beyond Giddens." *International Theory* 12 (2): 240–256.
- Rumelili, Bahar. 2020. "Integrating anxiety into international relations theory: Hobbes, existentialism, and ontological security." *International Theory* 12 (2): 257–272.
- Bakker, Bert N., Gijs Schumacher, and Maaike D. Homan. 2020. "Yikes! Are we disgusted by politicians?" *Politics and the Life Sciences* 39 (2): 135–153.
- Masterson, Michael. 2022. "Humiliation and International Conflict Preferences." *Journal of Politics* 84 (2): 874-888.
- Montiel, Cristina Jayme, and Joshua Uyheng. 2020. "Mapping contentious collective emotions in a populist democracy: Duterte's push for philippine federalism." *Political Psychology* 41 (4): 737–754.
- Crabtree, Charles, Matt Golder, Thomas Gschwend, and Indridi H Indridason. 2020. "It Is Not Only What You Say, It Is Also How You Say It: The Strategic Use of Campaign Sentiment." *The Journal of Politics* 82 (3): 1044-1060.
- Petersen, Roger. 2020. "Emotions and backlash in US society and politics." *The British Journal of Politics and International Relations* 22 (4): 609-618.
- Rhodes-Purdy, Matthew, Rachel Navarre, and Stephen M. Utych. 2021. "Populist Psychology: Economics, Culture, and Emotions." *The Journal of Politics* 83 (October): 1559–1572.
- Ryan, Timothy J., and Yanna Krupnikov. 2021. "Split Feelings: Understanding Implicit and Explicit Political Persuasion." *American Political Science Review* 115 (November): 1424–1441.
- Beauregard, Philippe. 2022. "Resolving Conflicting Emotions: Obama's Quandaries on the Red Line and the Fight against ISIS." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 18 (July): orac016.
- Cornut, Jérémie. 2022. "Emotional Practices and How We Can Trace Them: Diplomats, Emojis, and Multilateral Negotiations at the UNHRC." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (August): sqac048.
- Webster, Steven W., and Bethany Albertson. 2022. "Emotion and Politics: Noncognitive Psychological Biases in Public Opinion." *Annual Review of Political Science* 25 (May): 401–418.
- Pauly, Reid B. C., and Rose McDermott. 2023. "The Psychology of Nuclear Brinkmanship." *International Security* 47 (January): 9–51.
- Wayne, Carly N. 2023. "Terrified or Enraged? Emotional Microfoundations of Public Counterterror Attitudes." *International Organization* 77 (4): 824–847.
- Blankenship, Brian. 2024. "Do Threats or Shaming Increase Public Support for Policy Concessions? Alliance Coercion and Burden-Sharing in NATO." *International Studies Quarterly* 68 (March): sqae015.
- Fahoum, Nardine, Hadas Pick, and Simone Shamay-Tsoory. 2024. "The Impact of Creativity Training on Inter-Group Conflict-Related Emotions." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 68 (August): 1494–1521.

- Funck, Amy S., and Richard R. Lau. 2024. "A Meta-Analytic Assessment of the Effects of Emotions on Political Information Search and Decision-Making." *American Journal of Political Science* 68 (July): 891–906.
- Kim, James D. 2024a. "Fear or Anger? Leaders' Childhood War Trauma and Interstate Conflict Initiation." *International Studies Quarterly* 68 (March): sqae069.
- Masterson, Michael. 2024. "Catching Fire: How National Humiliation Spreads Hostile Foreign Policy Preferences on Chinese Social Media." *International Studies Quarterly* 68 (March): sqae033.
- Schnakenberg, Keith E., and Carly N. Wayne. 2024. "Anger and Political Conflict Dynamics." *American Political Science Review* Forthcoming.
- Markiewicz, Tadek. 2025. "Can States Be Interviewed?" *International Studies Quarterly* 69 (1): sqae153.

Morality

- Kohlberg, Lawrence. 1969. "The Cognitive-developmental Approach to Socialization." In *Handbook of Socialization Theory and Research*, ed. David A. Goslin. Chicago: Rand McNally.
- Turiel, Elliot. 1983. *The development of social knowledge: Morality and convention*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Lumsdaine, David Halloran. 1993. Moral Vision in International Politics: The Foreign Aid Regime, 1949–1989. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Haidt, Jonathan, Silvia Helena Koller, and Maria G Dias. 1993. "Affect, culture, and morality, or is it wrong to eat your dog?" *Journal of personality and social psychology* 65 (4): 613-628.
- Kauffmann, Chaim D., and Robert A. Pape. 1999. "Explaining Costly International Moral Action: Britain's Sixty-Year Campaign Against The Atlantic Slave Trade." *International Organization* 53 (4): 631-68.
- Herrmann, Richard K., and Vaughn P. Shannon. 2001. "Defending International Norms: The Role of Obligation, Material Interest, and Perception in Decision Making." *International Organization* 55 (3): 621-54.
- Brosnan, Sarah F., and Frans B. M. de Waal. 2003. "Monkeys reject unequal pay." *Nature* 425 (09): 297–299.
- Skitka, Linda J, Christopher W Bauman, and Edward G Sargis. 2005. "Moral Conviction: Another Contributor to Attitude Strength or Something More?" *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 88 (6): 895-917.
- Cushman, Fiery, Liane Young, and Marc Hauser. 2006. "The role of conscious reasoning and intuition in moral judgment: Testing three principles of harm." *Psychological science* 17 (12): 1082–1089.
- Busby, Joshua William. 2007. "Bono Made Jesse Helms Cry: Jubilee 2000, Debt Relief, and Moral Action in International Politics." *International Studies Quarterly* 51 (2): 247-275.
- Mikhail, John. 2007. "Universal moral grammar: Theory, evidence and the future." *Trends in cognitive sciences* 11 (4): 143–152.

- Janoff-Bulman, Ronnie, Sana Sheikh, and Kate G. Baldacci. 2007. "Mapping Moral Motives: Approach, Avoidance And Political Orientation." *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 44 (4): 1091-1099.
- Price, Richard. 2008. "Moral Limit and Possibility in World Politics." *International Organization* 62 (2): 191-220.
- Graham, Jesse, Jonathan Haidt, and Brian A. Nosek. 2009. "Liberals and Conservatives Rely on Different Sets of Moral Foundations." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 96 (5): 1029-1046.
- Greene, Joshua D, Fiery A Cushman, Lisa E Stewart, Kelly Lowenberg, Leigh E Nystrom, and Jonathan D Cohen. 2009. "Pushing moral buttons: The interaction between personal force and intention in moral judgment." *Cognition* 111 (3): 364–371.
- Uhlmann, Eric Luis, David A Pizarro, David Tannenbaum, and Peter H Ditto. 2009. "The motivated use of moral principles." *Judgment and Decision Making* 4 (6): 476–491.
- Bloom, Paul. 2010. "How do morals change?" Nature 464 (7288): 490-490.
- Rai, Tage Shakti, and Alan Page Fiske. 2011. "Moral psychology is relationship regulation: moral motives for unity, hierarchy, equality, and proportionality." *Psychological review* 118 (1): 57-75.
- Wright, Jennifer Cole, and Galen Baril. 2011. "The role of cognitive resources in determining our moral intuitions: Are we all liberals at heart?" *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 47 (5): 1007–1012.
- Gray, Kurt, Liane Young, and Adam Waytz. 2012. "Mind perception is the essence of morality." *Psychological inquiry* 23 (2): 101–124.
- Graham, Jesse, Jonathan Haidt, Spassena Koleva, Matt Motyl, Ravi Iyer, Sean P. Wojcik, and Peter H. Ditto. 2013. "Moral Foundations Theory: The Pragmatic Validity of Moral Pluralism." Advances in Experimental Social Psychology 47: 55-130.
- Janoff-Bulman, Ronnie, and Nate C Carnes. 2013. "Surveying the moral landscape: Moral motives and group-based moralities." *Personality and Social Psychology Review* 17 (3): 219–236.
- Gantman, Ana P, and Jay J Van Bavel. 2014. "The moral pop-out effect: Enhanced perceptual awareness of morally relevant stimuli." *Cognition* 132 (1): 22–29.
- Kertzer, Joshua D., Kathleen E. Powers, Brian C. Rathbun, and Ravi Iyer. 2014. "Moral Support: How Moral Values Shape Foreign Policy Attitudes." *Journal of Politics* 76 (3): 825-840.
- Ryan, Timothy J. 2014. "Reconsidering Moral Issues in Politics." Journal of Politics 76 (2): 380-397.
- Ben-Nun Bloom, Pazit. 2014. "Disgust, Harm, and Morality in Politics." *Political Psychology* 35 (4): 495–513.
- Skitka, Linda J, and G Scott Morgan. 2014. "The social and political implications of moral conviction." *Political Psychology* 35 (S1): 95–110.
- Moses, Jennifer Filson, and Marti Hope Gonzales. 2015. "Strong Candidate, Nurturant Candidate: Moral Language in Presidential Television Advertisements." *Political Psychology* 36 (4): 379–397.
- Traven, David. 2015. "Moral cognition and the law and ethics of armed conflict." *International Studies Review* 17 (4): 556–587.

- Gino, Francesca, Michael I. Norton, and Roberto A. Weber. 2016. "Motivated Bayesians: Feeling Moral While Acting Egoistically." *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 30 (August): 189-212.
- Skitka, Linda J, Brittany E Hanson, and Daniel C Wisneski. 2017. "Utopian hopes or dystopian fears? Exploring the motivational underpinnings of moralized political engagement." *Personality and social psychology bulletin* 43 (2): 177–190.
- Sagan, Scott D, and Benjamin A Valentino. 2018. "Not Just a War Theory: American Public Opinion on Ethics in Combat." *International Studies Quarterly* 62 (3): 548–561.
- Kreps, Sarah, and Sarah Maxey. 2018. "Mechanisms of Morality: Sources of Support for Humanitarian Intervention." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 62 (8): 1814–1842.
- Rathbun, Brian C, Kathleen E Powers, and Therese Anders. 2019. "Moral Hazard: German Public Opinion on the Greek Debt Crisis." *Political Psychology* 40 (3): 523-541.
- Hatemi, Peter K, Charles Crabtree, and Kevin B Smith. 2019. "Ideology justifies morality: Political beliefs predict moral foundations." *American Journal of Political Science* 63 (4): 788–806.
- Dill, Janina. 2019. "Distinction, Necessity, and Proportionality: Afghan Civilians' Attitudes toward Wartime Harm." *Ethics & International Affairs* 33 (3): 315–342.
- Clifford, Scott. 2019. "How emotional frames moralize and polarize political attitudes." *Political Psychology* 40 (1): 75–91.
- Ryan, Timothy J. 2019. "Actions versus consequences in political arguments: Insights from moral psychology." *The Journal of Politics* 81 (2): 426–440.
- Bloom, Pazit Ben-Nun, Shaul Kimhi, Shani Fachter, Michal Shamai, and Daphna Canetti. 2020. "Coping with Moral Threat: Moral Judgment amid War on Terror." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 64 (2-3): 231–260.
- Delton, Andrew W, Peter DeScioli, and Timothy J Ryan. 2020. "Moral obstinacy in political negotiations." *Political Psychology* 41 (1): 3–20.
- Awad, Edmond, Sohan Dsouza, Azim Shariff, Iyad Rahwan, and Jean-François Bonnefon. 2020. "Universals and variations in moral decisions made in 42 countries by 70,000 participants." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 117 (5): 2332–2337.
- Price, Richard. 2020. "Moral Psychology, Neuroscience, and Non-Combatant Immunity." *European Review of International Studies* 7 (2-3): 203–226.
- Smetana, Michal, and Marek Vranka. 2021. "How moral foundations shape public approval of nuclear, chemical, and conventional strikes: new evidence from experimental surveys." *International Interactions* 47 (2): 374-390.
- Jung, Jae-Hee. 2020. "The Mobilizing Effect of Parties' Moral Rhetoric." *American Journal of Political Science* 64 (2): 341–355.
- Stolerman, Dominic, and David Lagnado. 2020. "The Moral Foundations of Human Rights Attitudes." *Political Psychology* 41 (3): 439–459.
- Watkins, Hanne M. 2020. "The morality of war: A review and research agenda." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 15 (2): 231–249.
- Frankfurt, Sheila B., and Alanna Coady. 2021. "Judgments of Morality in War: Commentary on Watkins (2020)." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 16 (November): 1456–1460.

- Skitka, Linda J., Brittany E. Hanson, G. Scott Morgan, and Daniel C. Wisneski. 2021. "The Psychology of Moral Conviction." *Annual Review of Psychology* 72: 347-366.
- Malle, Bertram F. 2021. "Moral Judgments." Annual Review of Psychology 72: 293-318.
- Traven, David, Marcus Holmes, and Jonathan A Chu. 2023. "Malicious Motives or Innocent Intentions? How Moral Reactions to "Collateral Damage" Shape Perceptions of Intent in Wartime Conduct." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 19 (July): orad018.
- Hall, Jonathan, Eric Skoog, and Phaidon Vassiliou. 2024. "The Impact of War Exposure on Morality: Evidence From the Battle of Mosul." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 68 (August): 1468–1493.
- Hull, Kyle, Clarisse Warren, and Kevin Smith. 2024. "Politics makes bastards of us all: Why moral judgment is politically situational." *Political Psychology* 45 (December): 1013–1029.

Fairness and social preferences

- McClintock, Charles G. 1972. "Social motivation A set of propositions." *Behavioral science* 17 (5): 438-454.
- Kuhlman, D. Michael, and David L. Wimberley. 1976. "Expectations of Choice Behavior Held by Cooperators, Competitors, and Individualists Across Four Classes of Experimental Games." Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 34 (1): 69-81.
- Güth, Werner, Rolf Schmittberger, and Bernd Schwarze. 1982. "An experimental analysis of ultimatum bargaining." *Journal of economic behavior & organization* 3 (4): 367-388.
- Kramer, Roderick M., Charles G. McClintock, and David M. Messick. 1986. "Social values and cooperative response to a simulated resource conservation crisis." *Journal of personality* 54 (3): 576-582.
- Liebrand, Wim BG, Ronald WTL Jansen, Victor M. Rijken, and Cor JM Suhre. 1986. "Might over morality: Social values and the perception of other players in experimental games." *Journal of experimental social psychology* 22 (3): 203-215.
- Van Lange, Paul A.M., and D. Michael Kuhlman. 1994. "Social value orientations and impressions of partner's honesty and intelligence: A test of the might versus morality effect." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 67 (1): 126.
- De Dreu, Carsten K.W., and Paul A.M. Van Lange. 1995. "The impact of social value orientations on negotiator cognition and behavior." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 21 (11): 1178-1188.
- Olekalns, Mara, Philip L. Smith, and Rachael Kibby. 1996. "Social value orientations and negotiator outcomes." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 26 (2): 299-313.
- Beersma, Bianca, and Carsten K.W. De Dreu. 1999. "Negotiation Processes and Outcomes in Prosocially and Egoistically Motivated Groups." *International Journal of Conflict Management* 10 (4): 385-402.
- Van Lange, Paul A.M. 1999. "The Pursuit of Joint Outcomes and Equality in Outcomes: An Integrative Model of Social Value Orientation." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 77 (2): 337-349.
- Fehr, Ernst, and Klaus M Schmidt. 1999. "A theory of fairness, competition, and cooperation." *Quarterly journal of Economics*: 817–868.

- Fehr, Ernst, and Simon Gächter. 2000. "Fairness and retaliation: The economics of reciprocity." *The journal of economic perspectives* 14 (3): 159–181.
- Fehr, Ernst, and Urs Fischbacher. 2002. "Why social preferences matter: the impact of non-selfish motives on competition, cooperation and incentives." *The economic journal* 112 (478): C1-C33.
- Van Dijk, Eric, David De Cremer, and Michel JJ Handgraaf. 2004. "Social value orientations and the strategic use of fairness in ultimatum bargaining." *Journal of experimental social psychology* 40 (6): 697-707.
- Levitt, Steven D., and John A. List. 2007. "What Do Laboratory Experiments Measuring Social Preferences Reveal About the Real World?" *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 21 (2): 153-174.
- Weingart, Laurie R., Jeanne M. Brett, Mara Olekalns, and Philip L. Smith. 2007. "Conflicting social motives in negotiating groups." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 93 (6): 994.
- Fowler, James H, and Cindy D Kam. 2007. "Beyond the self: Social identity, altruism, and political participation." *Journal of Politics* 69 (3): 813–827.
- Kapstein, Ethan B. 2008. "Fairness Considerations in World Politics: Lessons from International Trade Negotiations." *Political Science Quarterly* 123 (2): 229-245.
- Dawes, Christopher T., Peter John Loewen, and James H. Fowler. 2011. "Social Preferences and Political Participation." *The Journal of Politics* 73 (3): 845-856.
- Engel, Christoph. 2011. "Dictator games: A meta study." Experimental Economics 14 (4): 583-610.
- Albin, Cecilia, and Daniel Druckman. 2012. "Equality Matters: Negotiating an End to Civil Wars." Journal of Conflict Resolution 56 (2): 155-182.
- LeVeck, Brad L., D. Alex Hughes, James H. Fowler, Emilie Hafner-Burton, and David G. Victor. 2014. "The role of self-interest in elite bargaining." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 111 (52): 18536-18541.
- Kertzer, Joshua D., and Brian C. Rathbun. 2015. "Fair is Fair: Social Preferences and Reciprocity in International Politics." *World Politics* 67 (4): 613-655.
- Efrat, Asif, and Abraham L. Newman. 2016. "Deciding to Defer: The Importance of Fairness in Resolving Transnational Jurisdictional Conflicts." *International Organization* 70 (3): 409–441.
- Gottfried, Matthew S., and Robert F. Trager. 2016. "A Preference for War: How Fairness and Rhetoric Influence Leadership Incentives in Crises." *International Studies Quarterly* 60 (2): 243-257.
- Cram, Laura, Adam Moore, Victor Olivieri, and Felix Suessenbach. 2018. "Fair is Fair, or Is It? Territorial Identity Triggers Influence Ultimatum Game Behavior." *Political Psychology* 39 (6): 1233-1250.
- Bechtel, Michael M., Roman Liesch, and Kenneth F. Scheve. 2018. "Inequality and redistribution behavior in a give-or-take game." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115 (14): 3611–3616.
- Nair, Gautam. 2018. "Misperceptions of relative affluence and support for international redistribution." *The Journal of Politics* 80 (3): 815–830.
- Magalhães, Pedro C, and Luís Aguiar-Conraria. 2019. "Procedural fairness, the economy, and support for political authorities." *Political Psychology* 40 (1): 165–181.

- DeScioli, Peter, and Scott E Bokemper. 2019. "Intuitive Political Theory: People's Judgments About How Groups Should Decide." *Political Psychology* 40 (3): 617–636.
- Hoffmann, Lisa, Matthias Basedau, Simone Gobien, and Sebastian Prediger. 2020. "Universal love or one true religion? Experimental evidence of the ambivalent effect of religious ideas on altruism and discrimination." *American Journal of Political Science* 64 (3): 603–620.
- Ashraf, Nava, Oriana Bandiera, Edward Davenport, and Scott S. Lee. 2020. "Losing Prosociality in the Quest for Talent? Sorting, Selection, and Productivity in the Delivery of Public Services." American Economic Review 110 (May): 1355-94.
- Van Dijk, Eric, and Carsten K. W. De Dreu. 2021. "Experimental Games and Social Decision Making." *Annual Review of Psychology* 72: 415-438.
- Brutger, Ryan, and Brian Rathbun. 2021. "Fair Play?: Equity and Equality in American Attitudes towards Trade." *International Organization* 75 (3): 880-900.
- Roberts, Russell, and Shai Davidai. 2022. "The psychology of asymmetric zero-sum beliefs." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 123 (September): 559–575.
- Yeung, Eddy S.F., and Kai Quek. 2022. "Relative Gains in the Shadow of a Trade War." *International Organization* 76 (3): 741–765.
- Hsee, Christopher K., Ying Zeng, Xilin Li, and Alex Imas. 2023. "The psychology of negative-sum competition in strategic interactions." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 125 (October): 720–729.
- Varaine, Simon, Raul Magni-Berton, Ismaël Benslimane, and Paolo Crosetto. 2024. "Egoism and Altruism in Intergroup Conflict." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 68 (March): 348–380.

Trust

- Larson, Deborah Welch. 1997. "Trust and Missed Opportunities in International Relations." Political Psychology 18 (3): 701-734.
- Rousseau, Denise M, Sim B Sitkin, Ronald S Burt, and Colin Camerer. 1998. "Not so different after all: A cross-discipline view of trust." *Academy of Management Review* 23 (3): 393–404.
- Levi, Margaret, and Laura Stoker. 2000. "Political trust and trustworthiness." *Annual Review of Political Science* 3 (1): 475–507.
- Brewer, Paul R., Kimberly Gross, Sean Aday, and Lars Willnat. 2004. "International Trust and Public Opinion About World Affairs." *American Journal of Political Science* 48 (1): 93-109.
- Hoffman, Aaron M. 2002. "A Conceptualization of Trust in International Relations." *European Journal of International Relations* 8 (3): 375-401.
- Eckel, Catherine C, and Rick K Wilson. 2004. "Is trust a risky decision?" *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization* 55 (4): 447–465.
- Kydd, Andrew H. 2005. *Trust and Mistrust in International Relations*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Binning, Kevin R. 2007. "It's Us against the World": How Distrust in Americans versus People-in-General Shapes Competitive Foreign Policy Preferences." *Political Psychology* 28 (6): 777-799.

- Booth, Ken, and Nicholas J. Wheeler. 2008. *The Security Dilemma: Fear, Cooperation and Trust in World Politics*. Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Johnson, Noel D, and Alexandra A Mislin. 2011. "Trust games: A meta-analysis." *Journal of Economic Psychology* 32 (5): 865–889.
- Rathbun, Brian C. 2011. Trust in international cooperation: International security institutions, domestic politics and American multilateralism. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Chatagnier, J Tyson. 2012. "The effect of trust in government on rallies' round the flag." *Journal of Peace Research* 49 (5): 631-645.
- Michel, Torsten. 2013. "Time to Get Emotional: Phronetic Reflections on the Concept of Trust in International Relations." *European Journal of International Relations* 19 (4): 869-890.
- Wheeler, Nicholas J. 2013. "Investigating Diplomatic Transformations." *International Affairs* 89 (2): 477-496.
- Kaltenthaler, Karl, and William J Miller. 2013. "Social psychology and public support for trade liberalization." *International Studies Quarterly* 57 (4): 784–790.
- Keating, Vincent Charles, and Jan Ruzicka. 2014. "Trusting relationships in international politics: No need to hedge." *Review of International Studies* 40 (4): 753–770.
- Criado, Henar, Francisco Herreros, Luis Miller, and Paloma Ubeda. 2018. "The unintended consequences of political mobilization on trust: The case of the secessionist process in Catalonia." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 62 (2): 231–253.
- Wheeler, Nicholas J. 2018. *Trusting enemies: Interpersonal relationships in international conflict*. Oxford University Press.
- Flynn, Michael E, Carla Martinez Machain, and Alissandra T Stoyan. 2019. "Building Trust: The Effect of US Troop Deployments on Public Opinion in Peru." *International Studies Quarterly* 63 (3): 742–755.
- Kreutz, Joakim, and Enzo Nussio. 2019. "Destroying Trust in Government: Effects of a Broken Pact among Colombian Ex-Combatants." *International Studies Quarterly* 63 (4): 1175–1188.
- Dellmuth, Lisa Maria, and Jonas Tallberg. 2020. "Why national and international legitimacy beliefs are linked: Social trust as an antecedent factor." *The Review of International Organizations* 15 (2): 311–337.
- Norrevik, Sara. 2020. "Trust and Support for Comprehensive Trade Agreements in the European Parliament." *International Studies Quarterly* 64 (2): 356–368.
- Chung, Eunbin, and Anna O Pechenkina. 2020. "Group-affirmation and trust in international relations: Evidence from Ukraine." *PLoS ONE* 15 (12): e0239944.
- Ku, Minseon, and Jennifer Mitzen. 2022. "The dark matter of world politics: System trust, summits, and state personhood." *International Organization* 76 (4): 799–829.
- Jost, Tyler, and Joshua D. Kertzer. 2024. "Armies and Influence: Elite Experience and Public Opinion on Foreign Policy." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 68 (9): 1769-1797. 2024.
- Kitagawa, Risa. 2022. "From Political Violence to Political Trust? How Transitional Justice Affects Citizen Views of Government." *International Studies Quarterly* 67 (December): sqad013.

- Mooijman, Marlon. 2023. "Power dynamics and the reciprocation of trust and distrust." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 125 (October): 779–802.
- Katzir, Maayan, and Ann-Christin Posten. 2023. "Are there dominant response tendencies for social reactions? Trust trumps mistrust—evidence from a Dominant Behavior Measure (DBM)." Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 125 (July): 57–81.
- Bove, Vincenzo, Riccardo Di Leo, and Marco Giani. 2024. "Military Culture and Institutional Trust: Evidence from Conscription Reforms in Europe." *American Journal of Political Science* 68 (April): 714–729.

Taboos and indivisible issues

- Price, Richard. 1995. "The Genealogy of the Chemical Weapons Taboo." *International Organization* 49 (1): 73-103.
- Tannenwald, Nina. 1999. "The Nuclear Taboo: The United States and the Normative Basis of Nuclear Non-Use." *International Organization* 53 (3): 433-68.
- Tetlock, Philip E. 2003. "Thinking the unthinkable: sacred values and taboo cognitions." *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 7 (7): 320-324.
- Hassner, Ron E. 2003. "To Halve and to Hold": Conflicts over Sacred Space and the Problem of Indivisibility." *Security Studies* 12 (4): 1-33.
- McGraw, A. Peter, and Philip E. Tetlock. 2005. "Taboo Trade-Offs, Relational Framing, and the Acceptability of Exchanges." *Journal of Consumer Psychology* 15 (1): 2-15.
- Toft, Monica Duffy. 2006. "Issue Indivisibility and Time Horizons as Rationalist Explanations for War." *Security Studies* 15 (1): 34-69.
- Goddard, Stacie E. 2006. "Uncommon Ground: Indivisible Territory and the Politics of Legitimacy." *International Organization* 60 (1): 35-68.
- Atran, Scott, Robert Axelrod, and Richard Davis. 2007. "Sacred Barriers to Conflict Resolution." *Science* 317: 1039-1040.
- Ginges, Jeremy, and Scott Atran. 2011. "War as a moral imperative (not just practical politics by other means)." *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 278 (October 7 2011): 1-9.
- Press, Daryl G., Scott D. Sagan, and Benjamin A. Valentino. 2013. "Atomic Aversion: Experimental Evidence on Taboos, Traditions, and the Non-Use of Nuclear Weapons." *American Political Science Review* 107 (1): 188-206.
- Dolan, Thomas M. 2013. "Unthinkable and Tragic: The Psychology of Weapons Taboos in War." *International Organization* 67 (1): 37–63.
- Mitzen, Jennifer. 2016. "Security Communities and the Unthinkabilities of War." *Annual Review of Political Science* 19: 229-248.
- McGraw, A. Peter, Derick F. Davis, Sydney E. Scott, and Philip E. Tetlock. 2016. "The price of not putting a price on love." *Judgment and Decision Making* 11 (1): 40-47.
- Shelef, Nadav G. 2016. "Unequal Ground: Homelands and Conflict." *International Organization* 70 (12): 33–63.

- Tetlock, Philip E., Barbara A. Mellers, and J. Peter Scoblic. 2017. "Sacred versus Pseudo-sacred Values: How People Cope with Taboo Trade-Offs." *American Economic Review* 107 (5): 96-99.
- Assouline, Philippe, and Robert Trager. 2021. "Concessions for Concession's Sake: Injustice, Indignation, and the Construction of Intractable Conflict in Israel–Palestine." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 65 (October): 1489–1520.
- Avey, Paul C. 2021. "MAD and Taboo: US Expert Views on Nuclear Deterrence, Coercion, and Non-Use Norms." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 17 (January): oraa019.
- Smetana, Michal, and Michal Onderco. 2022. "Elite-public gaps in attitudes to nuclear weapons: New evidence from a survey of German citizens and parliamentarians." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (2): sqac017.
- Blair, Christopher W., and Michael C. Horowitz. 2024. "Military Attitudes on the Chemical Weapons Taboo: Evidence from the Pacific Theater." *The Journal of Politics* 86 (July): 1075–1082.
- Smetana, Michal, Marek Vranka, and Ondrej Rosendorf. 2024. "Elite-public gaps in support for nuclear and chemical strikes: New evidence from a survey of British parliamentarians and citizens." *Research & Politics* 11 (3): 20531680241276795.

Habit and practice

- Wood, Wendy, Jeffrey M. Quinn, and Deborah A. Kashy. 2002. "Habits in Everyday Life: Thought, Emotion, and Action." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 83 (6): 1281-1297.
- Gerber, Alan S, Donald P Green, and Ron Shachar. 2003. "Voting may be habit-forming: evidence from a randomized field experiment." *American Journal of Political Science* 47 (3): 540–550.
- Wood, Wendy, and David T Neal. 2007. "A new look at habits and the habit-goal interface." *Psychological Review* 114 (4): 843.
- Hopf, Ted. 2010. "The Logic of Habit in International Relations." *European Journal of International Relations* 16 (4): 539-561.
- Aldrich, John H, Jacob M Montgomery, and Wendy Wood. 2011. "Turnout as a Habit." *Political Behavior* 33 (4): 535–563.
- Neumann, Iver B, and Vincent Pouliot. 2011. "Untimely Russia: Hysteresis in Russian-Western relations over the past millennium." *Security Studies* 20 (1): 105–137.
- Howard, Lise Morjé. 2015. "US Foreign Policy Habits in Ethnic Conflict." *International Studies Quarterly* 59 (4): 721–734.
- Bially Mattern, Janice. 2011. "A Practice Theory of Emotion for International Relations." In *International practices*, ed. Emanuel Adler and Vincent Pouliot. Cambridge University Press.
- Coppock, Alexander, and Donald P Green. 2016. "Is voting habit forming? New evidence from experiments and regression discontinuities." *American Journal of Political Science* 60 (4): 1044–1062.
- Wood, Wendy, and Dennis Rünger. 2016. "Psychology of habit." *Annual Review of Psychology* 67: 289-314.
- Hopf, Ted. 2018. "Change in international practices." *European Journal of International Relations* 24 (3): 687-711.

- Lechner, Silviya, and Mervyn Frost. 2018. *Practice Theory and International Relations*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Lee, Yoon Jin. 2020. "Thinking Fast and Slow in Alliance Politics." Ph.D. diss. Harvard University.
- Pouliot, Vincent. 2020. "Historical institutionalism meets practice theory: Renewing the selection process of the United Nations Secretary-General." *International Organization* 74 (4): 742–772.
- Verplanken, Bas, and Sheina Orbell. 2022. "Attitudes, Habits, and Behavior Change." *Annual Review of Psychology* 73 (January): 327–352.
- Ceylan, Gizem, Ian A. Anderson, and Wendy Wood. 2023. "Sharing of misinformation is habitual, not just lazy or biased." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 120 (January): e2216614120.

Dispositions I: Personality, operational codes, integrative complexity

- Young, Michael D., and Mark Schafer. 1998. "Is There Method in Our Madness? Ways of Assessing Cognition in International Relations." *Mershon International Studies Review* 42 (1): 63-96.
- Renshon, Jonathan. 2009. "When Public Statements Reveal Private Beliefs: Assessing Operational Codes at a Distance." *Political Psychology* 30 (4): 649-661.
- Hermann, Margaret G., Thomas Preston, Baghat Korany, and Timothy M. Shaw. 2001. "Who Leads Matters: The Effects of Powerful Individuals." *International Studies Review* 3 (2): 88-131.
- Lang, Valentin, Lukas Wellner, and Alexandros Kentikelenis. 2024. "Biased bureaucrats and the policies of international organizations." *American Journal of Political Science* Forthcoming.
- Caprara, Gian Vittorio, and Michele Vecchione. 2013. "Personality Approaches to Political Behavior." In *The Oxford Handbook of Political Psychology*, ed. Leonie Huddy, David O. Sears, and Jack S. Levy. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Dynes, Adam M., Hans J. G. Hassell, Matthew R. Miles, and Jessica Robinson Preese. 2021. "Personality and Gendered Selection Processes in the Political Pipeline." *Politics & Gender* 17 (1): 53-73.
- Kertzer, Joshua D. 2022. "Re-Assessing Elite Public Gaps in Political Behavior." *American Journal of Political Science* 66 (3): 539-553.
- Foster, Dennis M, and Jonathan W Keller. 2023. "Interactive Leader Psychology and the Ebb and Flow of Interstate Rivalry." *International Studies Quarterly* 67 (September): sqad076.

Recommended

Cognitive maps and operational codes

- Leites, Nathan. 1951. The Operational code of the Politburo. McGraw-Hill.
- George, Alexander L. 1969. "The "operational code": A neglected approach to the study of political leaders and decision making." *International Studies Quarterly* 13 (2): 190-222.
- Holsti, Ole. 1970. "The "Operational Code" Approach to the Study of Political Leaders: John Foster Dulles' Philosophical and Instrumental Beliefs." *Canadian Journal of Political Science/Revue canadienne de science politique*: 123-157.
- Axelrod, Robert. 1976. Structure of Decision: The Cognitive Maps of Political Elites. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Walker, Stephen G. 1977. "The Interface Between Beliefs and Behavior: Henry Kissinger's Operational Code and the Vietnam War." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 21 (1): 129-168.
- Walker, Stephen G. 1983. "The motivational foundations of political belief systems: A re-analysis of the operational code construct." *International Studies Quarterly* 27 (2): 179-202.
- Larson, Deborah Welch. 1988. "Problems of content analysis in foreign-policy research: Notes from the study of the origins of Cold War belief systems." *International Studies Quarterly* 32 (2): 241–255.
- Walker, Stephen G. 1990. "The evolution of operational code analysis." *Political Psychology* 11 (2): 403-418.

- Walker, Stephen G. 1995. "Psychodynamic Processes and Framing Effects in Foreign Policy Decision-Making: Woodrow Wilson's Operational Code." *Political Psychology* 16 (4): 697-717.
- Walker, Stephen G., Mark Schafer, and Michael D. Young. 1999. "Presidential operational codes and foreign policy conflicts in the post-cold war world." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 43 (5): 610-625.
- Schafer, Mark, and Scott Crichlow. 2000. "Bill Clinton's Operational Code: Assessing Source Material Bias." *Political Psychology* 21 (3): 559-571.
- Feng, Huiyun. 2005. "The operational code of Mao Zedong: defensive or offensive realist?" *Security Studies* 14 (4): 637-662.
- Schafer, Mark, and Stephen G Walker. 2006a. "Democratic leaders and the democratic peace: The operational codes of Tony Blair and Bill Clinton." *International Studies Quarterly* 50 (3): 561–583.
- Schafer, Mark and Stephen G. Walker, eds. 2006b. *Beliefs and Leadership in World Politics: Methods and Applications of Operational Code Analysis*. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Walker, Stephen G., and Mark Schafer. 2007. "Theodore Roosevelt and Woodrow Wilson as Cultural Icons of U.S. Foreign Policy." *Political Psychology* 28 (6): 747-776.
- Renshon, Jonathan. 2008. "Stability and Change in Belief Systems: The Operational Code of George W. Bush." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 52 (6): 820-849.
- Eidenfalk, Joakim, and Fredrik Doeser. 2022. "Integrating Strategic Culture and the Operational Code in Foreign Policy Analysis." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 19 (October): orac032.
- Kesgin, Barış. 2023. "The Operational Codes of Pacific Island Countries' Leaders: Beliefs about the World amidst Climate Change." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 19 (July): orad019.
- Schotthöfer, Alexander. 2024. "Individuals in Securitization: Explaining US Presidents' Choice to (De)Securitize North Korea." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 20 (April): orae011.

Personality, motives, and leadership style

- Greenstein, Fred I. 1969. Personality and politics: Problems of evidence, inference, and conceptualization. Chicago, IL: Markham.
- Etheredge, Lloyd S. 1978. "Personality Effects on American Foreign Policy, 1898-1968: A Test of Interpersonal Generalization Theory." *American Political Science Review* 72 (2): 434-451.
- Hirsch, HN. 1980. "Clio on the Couch." World politics 32 (3): 406-424.
- Hermann, Margaret G. 1980a. "Assessing the personalities of Soviet Politburo members." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 6 (3): 332–352.
- Hermann, Margaret G. 1980b. "Explaining foreign policy behavior using the personal characteristics of political leaders." *International Studies Quarterly* 24 (1): 7–46.
- Winter, David G. 1980. "An exploratory study of the motives of southern African political leaders measured at a distance." *Political Psychology* 2 (2): 75–85.
- Rasler, Karen A, William R Thompson, and Kathleen M Chester. 1980. "Foreign policy makers, personality attributes, and interviews: A note on reliability problems." *International Studies Quarterly* 24 (1): 47–66.

- Swede, Southworth Wells, and Philip E Tetlock. 1986. "Henry Kissinger's implicit theory of personality: A quantitative case study." *Journal of Personality* 54 (4): 617–646.
- McCrae, Robert R., and Jr. Costa, Paul T. 1987. "Validation of the Five-Factor Model of Personality Across Instruments and Observers." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 52 (1): 81-90.
- Winter, David G. 1987. "Leader appeal, leader performance, and the motive profiles of leaders and followers: A study of American presidents and elections." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 52 (1): 196.
- Simonton, Dean K. 1988. "Presidential style: Personality, biography, and performance." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 55 (6): 928.
- Winter, David G, Margaret G Hermann, Walter Weintraub, and Stephen G Walker. 1991. "The personalities of Bush and Gorbachev measured at a distance: Procedures, portraits, and policy." *Political Psychology*: 215–245.
- Winter, David G. 1993. "Power, affiliation, and war: Three tests of a motivational model." Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 65 (3): 532.
- Kaarbo, Juliet, and Margaret G Hermann. 1998. "Leadership styles of prime ministers: How individual differences affect the foreign policymaking process." *The Leadership Quarterly* 9 (3): 243–263.
- Simonton, Dean Keith. 1999. "Significant samples: The psychological study of eminent individuals." *Psychological Methods* 4 (4): 425.
- Winter, David G. 2003. "Personality and Political Behavior." In Oxford Handbook of Political Psychology, ed. David O. Sears, Leonie Huddy, and Robert Jervis. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Rubenzer, Steven J., and Thomas R. Faschingbauer. 2004. *Personality, character, and leadership in the White House: Psychologists Assess the Presidents*. Dulles, VA: Potomac Books.
- Crichlow, Scott. 2005. "Psychological Influences on the Policy Choices of Secretaries of State and Foreign Ministers." *Cooperation and Conflict* 40 (2): 179-205.
- Keller, Jonathan W. 2005. "Constraint Respecters, Constraint Challengers, and Crisis Decision Making in Democracies: A Case Study Analysis of Kennedy versus Reagan." *Political Psychology* 26 (6): 835-867.
- Winter, David G. 2005. "Things I've learned about personality from studying political leaders at a distance." *Journal of personality* 73 (3): 557–584.
- Dyson, Stephen Benedict. 2006. "Personality and foreign policy: Tony Blair's Iraq decisions." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 2 (3): 289-306.
- Dyson, Stephen Benedict, and Thomas Preston. 2006. "Individual characteristics of political leaders and the use of analogy in foreign policy decision making." *Political Psychology* 27 (2): 265-288.
- Shannon, Vaughn P., and Jonathan W. Keller. 2007. "Leadership Style and International Norm Violation: The Case of the Iraq War." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 3 (1): 79-104.
- Dietrich, Bryce J., Scott Lasley, Jeffery J. Mondak, Megan L. Remmel, and Joel Turner. 2012. "Personality and Legislative Politics: The Big Five Trait Dimensions Among U.S. State Legislators." *Political Psychology* 33 (2): 195–210.

- Dyson, Stephen Benedict. 2014. "Origins of the Psychological Profiling of Political Leaders: The US Office of Strategic Services and Adolf Hitler." *Intelligence and National Security* 29 (5): 654–674.
- Gallagher, Maryann E., and Susan H. Allen. 2014. "Presidential Personality: Not Just a Nuisance." Foreign Policy Analysis 10 (1): 1–21.
- Ramey, Adam J, Jonathan D Klingler, and Gary E Hollibaugh. 2016. "Measuring elite personality using speech." *Political Science Research and Methods*: 1–22.
- Cuhadar, Esra, Juliet Kaarbo, Baris Kesgin, and Binnur Ozkececi-Taner. 2017. "Personality or Role? Comparisons of Turkish Leaders Across Different Institutional Positions." *Political Psychology* 38 (1): 39–54.
- Hanania, Richard. 2017. "The personalities of politicians: A big five survey of American legislators." *Personality and Individual Differences* 108: 164–167.
- Bakker, Bert N, and Yphtach Lelkes. 2018. "Selling ourselves short? How abbreviated measures of personality change the way we think about personality and politics." *The Journal of Politics* 80 (4): 1311–1325.
- Dynes, Adam M., Hans J. G. Hassell, and Matthew R. Miles. 2019. "The Personality of the Politically Ambitious." *Political Behavior* 41 (2): 309-36.
- Götz, Friedrich M, Stefan Stieger, Samuel D Gosling, Jeff Potter, and Peter J Rentfrow. 2020. "Physical topography is associated with human personality." *Nature human behaviour* 4 (11): 1135–1144.
- Nai, Alessandro, and Jürgen Maier. 2021. "Teflon Trump? Shifting Public Perceptions of Donald Trump's Personality Traits across Four Studies over 18 Months." *International Journal of Public Opinion Research* 33 (2): 294-314.
- Federico, Christopher M. 2020. "The Personality Basis of Political Preferences." In *Cambridge Handbook of Political Psychology*, ed. Danny Osborne and Chris G. Sibley. Cambridge University Press.
- Semenova, Elena, and David G Winter. 2020. "A Motivational Analysis of Russian Presidents, 1994–2018." *Political Psychology* 41 (4): 813-834.
- Arana Araya, Ignacio. 2021. "The Personalities of Presidents as Independent Variables." *Political Psychology* 42: 695-712.
- Nai, Alessandro, and Emre Toros. 2020. "The peculiar personality of strongmen: comparing the Big Five and Dark Triad traits of autocrats and non-autocrats." *Political Research Exchange* 2 (1): 1707697.
- Walker, Stephen G., Mark Schafer, and Gary Smith. 2020. "The Operational Codes of Donald Trump and Hillary Clinton." In *Oxford Handbook of Behavioral Political Science*, ed. Alex Mintz and Lesley Terris. Oxford University Press.
- Beasley, Ryan K, and Andrew R Hom. 2021. "Foreign Policy in the Fourth Dimension (FP4D): Locating Time in Decision-Making." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 17 (February): oraa028.
- Harden, John P. 2021. "All the World's a Stage: US Presidential Narcissism and International Conflict." *International Studies Quarterly* 65 (3): 825-837.

- Ebert, Tobias, Jochen. E. Gebauer, Thomas Brenner, Wiebke Bleidorn, Samuel D. Gosling, Jeff Potter, and P. Jason Rentfrow. 2022. "Are Regional Differences in Psychological Characteristics and Their Correlates Robust? Applying Spatial-Analysis Techniques to Examine Regional Variation in Personality." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 17 (March): 407–441.
- Saunders, Elizabeth N. 2022. "Elites in the Making and Breaking of Foreign Policy." *Annual Review of Political Science* 25 (May): 219–240.
- Thiers, Consuelo, and Leslie E Wehner. 2022. "The Personality Traits of Populist Leaders and Their Foreign Policies: Hugo Chávez and Donald Trump." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (February): sqab083.
- Harden, John P. 2023. "Looking Like a Winner: Leader Narcissism and War Duration." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 67 (May): 783–808.
- Carter, Jeff. 2024. "Leader hawkishness, political survival, and interstate crises." *Journal of Politics* 86 (1): 337–351.

Integrative complexity

- Suedfeld, Peter, and A Dennis Rank. 1976. "Revolutionary leaders: Long-term success as a function of changes in conceptual complexity." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 34 (2): 169.
- Suedfeld, Peter, Philip E Tetlock, and Carmenza Ramirez. 1977. "War, peace, and integrative complexity: UN Speeches on the Middle East Problem, 1947–1976." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 21 (3): 427-442.
- Suedfeld, Peter, and Philip Tetlock. 1977. "Integrative complexity of communications in international crises." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 21 (1): 169–184.
- Levi, Ariel, and Philip E Tetlock. 1980. "A cognitive analysis of Japan's 1941 decision for war." Journal of Conflict Resolution 24 (2): 195–211.
- Raphael, Theodore D. 1982. "Integrative Complexity Theory and Forecasting International Crises Berlin 1946-1962." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 26 (3): 423-450.
- Tetlock, Philip E. 1984. "Cognitive style and political belief systems in the British House of Commons." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 46 (2): 365.
- Tetlock, Philip E, Kristen A Hannum, and Patrick M Micheletti. 1984. "Stability and change in the complexity of senatorial debate: Testing the cognitive versus rhetorical style hypotheses." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 46 (5): 979.
- Tetlock, Philip E. 1985. "Integrative complexity of American and Soviet foreign policy rhetoric: A time-series analysis." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 49 (6): 1565-1585.
- Tetlock, Philip E, Jane Bernzweig, and Jack L Gallant. 1985. "Supreme Court decision making: Cognitive style as a predictor of ideological consistency of voting." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 48 (5): 1227.
- Suedfeld, Peter, Raymond S Corteen, and Carroll McCormick. 1986. "The role of integrative complexity in military leadership: Robert E. Lee and his opponents." *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 16 (6): 498–507.
- Suedfeld, Peter, and Susan Bluck. 1988. "Changes in integrative complexity prior to surprise attacks." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 32 (4): 626–635.

- Wallace, Michael D, Peter Suedfeld, and Kimberley Thachuk. 1993. "Political rhetoric of leaders under stress in the Gulf crisis." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 37 (1): 94–107.
- Tetlock, Philip E, David Armor, and Randall S Peterson. 1994. "The slavery debate in antebellum America: Cognitive style, value conflict, and the limits of compromise." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 66 (1): 115.
- Dille, Brian, and Michael D. Young. 2000. "The Conceptual Complexity of Presidents Carter and Clinton: An Automated Content Analysis of Temporal Stability and Source Bias." *Political Psychology* 21 (3): 587–596.
- Koo, Jasook, Joon Han, and Junghyun Kim. 2002. "Integrative Complexity of South-north Korean Correspondences: A Time-series Analysis, 1984-1994." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 46 (2): 286-304.
- Thoemmes, Felix J, and Lucian Gideon Conway. 2007. "Integrative complexity of 41 US presidents." *Political Psychology* 28 (2): 193–226.
- Conway III, Lucian Gideon, Felix Thoemmes, Amy M Allison, Kirsten Hands Towgood, Michael J Wagner, Kathleen Davey, Amanda Salcido, Amanda N Stovall, Daniel P Dodds, Kate Bongard et al. 2008. "Two ways to be complex and why they matter: Implications for attitude strength and lying." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 95 (5): 1029.
- Suedfeld, Peter. 2010. "The cognitive processing of politics and politicians: Archival studies of conceptual and integrative complexity." *Journal of Personality* 78 (6): 1669–1702.
- Conway III, Lucian Gideon, Daniel P. Dodds, Kirsten Hands Towgood, Stacey McClure, and James M. Olson. 2011. "The Biological Roots of Complex Thinking: Are Heritable Attitudes More Complex?" *Journal of Personality* 79 (1): 101–134.
- Conway III, Lucian Gideon, Laura Janelle Gornick, Chelsea Burfeind, Paul Mandella, Andrea Kuenzli, Shannon C Houck, and Deven Theresa Fullerton. 2012. "Does complex or simple rhetoric win elections? An integrative complexity analysis of US presidential campaigns." *Political Psychology* 33 (5): 599–618.
- Conway, Lucian Gideon, Kathrene R Conway, Laura Janelle Gornick, and Shannon C Houck. 2014. "Automated integrative complexity." *Political Psychology* 35 (5): 603–624.
- Houck, Shannon C., Lucian Gideon Conway, and Laura Janelle Gornick. 2014. "Automated Integrative Complexity: Current Challenges and Future Directions." *Political Psychology* 35 (5): 647–659.
- Suedfeld, Peter, and Philip E. Tetlock. 2014. "Integrative Complexity at Forty: Steps Toward Resolving the Scoring Dilemma." *Political Psychology* 35 (5): 597–601.
- Tetlock, Philip E., S. Emlen Metz, Sydney E. Scott, and Peter Suedfeld. 2014. "Integrative Complexity Coding Raises Integratively Complex Issues." *Political Psychology* 35 (5): 625–634.
- Young, Michael D., and Margaret G. Hermann. 2014. "Increased Complexity Has Its Benefits." *Political Psychology* 35 (5): 635–645.
- Houck, Shannon C, and Lucian Gideon Conway III. 2019. "Strategic communication and the integrative complexity-ideology relationship: Meta-analytic findings reveal differences between public politicians and private citizens in their use of simple rhetoric." *Political Psychology* 40 (5): 1119–1141.
- Conway III, Lucian Gideon, Peter Suedfeld, and Philip E. Tetlock. 2021. "Integrative Complexity in Politics." In *Oxford Handbook of Behavioral Political Science*, ed. Alex Mintz and Lesley Terris. Oxford University Press.

Dispositions II: Ideology, values, and culture

- Duckitt, John, and Chris G. Sibley. 2009. "A Dual-Process Motivational Model of Ideology, Politics, and Prejudice." *Psychological Inquiry* 20: 98-109.
- Jost, John T. 2017. "Ideological Asymmetries and the Essence of Political Psychology." *Political Psychology* 38 (2): 167-208.
- Steg, Linda. 2023. "Psychology of Climate Change." *Annual Review of Psychology* 74 (January): 391–421.
- Kertzer, Joshua D., Kathleen E. Powers, Brian C. Rathbun, and Ravi Iyer. 2014. "Moral Support: How Moral Values Shape Foreign Policy Attitudes." *Journal of Politics* 76 (3): 825-840.
- Jung, Jae-Hee, and Scott Clifford. 2024. "Varieties of Values: Moral Values Are Uniquely Divisive." *American Political Science Review* Forthcoming: 1–17.
- Henrich, Joseph, Robert Boyd, Samuel Bowles, Colin Camerer, Ernst Fehr, Herbert Gintis, and Richard McElreath. 2001. "In Search of Homo Economicus: Behavioral Experiments in 15 Small-Scale Societies." *The American Economic Review* 91 (2): 73-78.
- Jackson, Joshua Conrad, and Danila Medvedev. 2024. "Worldwide divergence of values." *Nature Communications* 15 (2650): 1-14.
- Schulz, Jonathan F, Duman Bahrami-Rad, Jonathan P Beauchamp, and Joseph Henrich. 2019. "The Church, intensive kinship, and global psychological variation." *Science* 366 (6466): eaau5141.

Recommended

Values and ideology

- Converse, Philip E. 1964. "The nature and origin of belief systems in mass publics." In *Ideology and Discontent*, ed. David E. Apter. New York: Free Press.
- Judd, Charles M., and Jon A. Krosnick. 1989. "The structural bases of consistency among political attitudes: Effects of political expertise and attitude importance." In *Attitude structure and function*, ed. Anthony R. Pratkanis, Breckler Steven J., and Anthony G. Greenwald. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Judd, Charles M., Roger A. Drake, James W. Downing, and Jon A. Krosnick. 1991. "Some Dynamic Properties of Attitude Structures: Context-Induced Response Facilitation and Polarization." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 60 (2): 193-202.
- Schwartz, Shalom H. 1992. "Universals in the Content and Structure of Values: Theoretical Advances and Empirical Tests in 20 Countries." In *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, Vol. 25*, ed. Mark P. Zanna. Vol. 25. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Lavine, Howard, Cynthia J. Thomsen, and Marti Hope Gonzales. 1997. "The Development of Interattitudinal Consistency: The Shared-Consequences Model." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 72 (4): 735-749.
- Duckitt, John. 2001. "A Dual-Process Cognitive-Motivational Theory of Ideology and Prejudice." *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology* 33: 41-113.
- Jost, John T., Jack Glaser, Arie W. Kruglanski, and Frank Sulloway. 2003. "Political Conservatism as Motivated Social Cognition." *Psychological Bulletin* 129 (3): 339-375.

- Feldman, Stanley. 2003. "Values, Ideology, and the Structure of Political Attitudes." In Oxford Handbook of Political Psychology, ed. David O. Sears, Leonie Huddy, and Robert Jervis. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Cohrs, J. Christopher, Barbara Moschner, and Jürgen Maes. 2005. "The Motivational Bases of Right-Wing Authoritarianism and Social Dominance Orientation: Relations to Values and Attitudes in the Aftermath of September 11, 2001." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 31 (10): 1425-1434.
- Kinder, Donald R. 2006. "Belief systems today." Critical Review 18 (1-3): 197–216.
- Liberman, Peter. 2006. "An Eye for an Eye: Public Support for War Against Evildoers." *International Organization* 60 (3): 687-722.
- Rathbun, Brian C. 2007. "Hierarchy and Community at Home and Abroad: Evidence of a Common Structure of Domestic and Foreign Policy Beliefs in American Elites." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 51 (3): 379-407.
- Liberman, Peter. 2007. "Punitiveness and U.S. Elite Support for the 1991 Persian Gulf War." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 51 (1): 3-32.
- Rathbun, Brian C. 2008. "Does One Right Make a Realist? Conservatism, Neoconservatism, and Isolationism in the Foreign Policy Ideology of American Elites." *Political Science Quarterly* 123 (2): 271-299.
- Jost, John T., Christopher M. Federico, and Jaime L. Napier. 2009. "Political Ideology: Its Structure, Functions, and Elective Affinities." *Annual Review of Psychology* 60 (1): 307-337. PMID: 19035826.
- Federico, Christopher M., Corrie V. Hunt, and Damla Ergun. 2009. "Political Expertise, Social Worldviews, and Ideology: Translating "Competitive Jungles" and "Dangerous Worlds" into Ideological Reality." *Social Justice Research* 22 (Sep): 259–279.
- Hennes, Erin P., H. Hannah Nam, Chadly Stern, and John T. Jost. 2012. "Not All Ideologies are Created Equal: Epistemic, Existential, and Relational Needs Predict System-Justifying Attitudes." Social Cognition 30 (6): 669–688.
- Feldman, Stanley. 2013. "Political Ideology." In *The Oxford Handbook of Political Psychology*, ed. Leonie Huddy, David O. Sears, and Jack S. Levy. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Gries, Peter Hays. 2014. The Politics of American Foreign Policy: How Ideology Divides Liberals and Conservatives over Foreign Affairs. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Klar, Samara. 2014. "A multidimensional study of ideological preferences and priorities among the American public." *Public Opinion Quarterly* 78 (S1): 344–359.
- Sanín, Francisco Gutiérrez, and Elisabeth Jean Wood. 2014. "Ideology in civil war: Instrumental adoption and beyond." *Journal of Peace Research* 51 (2): 213–226.
- Bayram, A. Burcu. 2015. "What drives modern Diogenes? Individual values and cosmopolitan allegiance." *European Journal of International Relations* 21 (2): 451-479.
- Carmines, Edward G., and Nicholas J. D'Amico. 2015. "The New Look in Political Ideology Research." *Annual Review of Political Science* 18: 205-216.
- Hatemi, Peter K., and Rose McDermott. 2016. "Give Me Attitudes." *Annual Review of Political Science* 19: 331-350.

- Rathbun, Brian C., Joshua D. Kertzer, Jason Reifler, Paul Goren, and Thomas J. Scotto. 2016.
 "Taking Foreign Policy Personally: Personal Values and Foreign Policy Attitudes." *International Studies Quarterly* 60 (1): 124-137.
- Malka, Ariel, Yphtach Lelkes, and Christopher J. Soto. 2019. "Are Cultural and Economic Conservatism Positively Correlated? A Large-Scale Cross-National Test." *British Journal of Political Science* 49 (3): 1045-1069.
- Caprara, Gian Vittorio, and Michele Vecchione. 2018. "On the left and right ideological divide: Historical accounts and contemporary perspectives." *Political Psychology* 39 (S1): 49–83.
- Jones, Kevin L, Sharareh Noorbaloochi, John T Jost, Richard Bonneau, Jonathan Nagler, and Joshua A Tucker. 2018. "Liberal and conservative values: What we can learn from congressional tweets." *Political Psychology* 39 (2): 423–443.
- Pan, Jennifer, and Yiqing Xu. 2018. "China's ideological spectrum." *The Journal of Politics* 80 (1): 254–273.
- Hanania, Richard. 2019. "Are liberal governments more cooperative? Voting trends at the UN in five Anglophone democracies." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 63 (6): 1403–1432.
- Bertoli, Andrew, Allan Dafoe, and Robert F Trager. 2019. "Is there a war party? Party change, the left–right divide, and international conflict." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 63 (4): 950–975.
- Enke, Benjamin, Ricardo Rodríguez-Padilla, and Florian Zimmerman. 2023. "Moral Universalism and the Structure of Ideology." *Review of Economic Studies* 90 (4): 1934-1962.
- Ballard-Rosa, Cameron, Mashail Malik, Stephanie Rickard, and Kenneth Scheve. 2021. "The economic origins of authoritarian values: evidence from local trade shocks in the United Kingdom." *Comparative Political Studies* 54 (13): 2321-2353.
- Goren, Paul, Matthew Motta, and Brianna Smith. 2020. "The Ideational Foundations of Symbolic Ideology." *Political Psychology* 41 (S1): 75–94.
- Bansak, Kirk, Michael M Bechtel, Jens Hainmueller, and Yotam Margalit. 2020. "Left-Right Ideology and the Debate over International Bailouts: The Case of Grexit." *The Journal of Politics* 82 (2): 509–528.
- Gries, Peter, and Paton Pak Chun Yam. 2020. "Ideology and International Relations." *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences* 34: 135-141.
- Rathbun, Brian. 2020. "Towards a dual process model of foreign policy ideology." *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences* 34: 211-216.
- Hanania, Richard, and Robert Trager. 2021. "The prejudice first model and foreign policy values: Racial and religious bias among conservatives and liberals." *European Journal of International Relations* 27 (1): 204-231.
- Margalit, Yotam, and Moses Shayo. 2020. "How Markets Shape Values and Political Preferences: A Field Experiment." *American Journal of Political Science* 65 (2): 473-492.
- O'Dwyer, Emma, and Ahmet Çoymak. 2020. "Basic human values and their contexts: A multilevel analysis of support for the use of armed drones in the United States, United Kingdom, and Turkey." *Political Psychology* 41 (2): 249–264.
- Kalmoe, Nathan P. 2020. "Uses and Abuses of Ideology in Political Psychology." *Political Psychology* 41 (4): 771-793.

- Lupton, Robert N, and Seth C McKee. 2020. "Dixie's Drivers: Core Values and the Southern Republican Realignment." *The Journal of Politics* 82 (3): 000–000.
- Autor, David, David Dorn, Gordon Hanson, and Kaveh Majlesi. 2020. "Importing Political Polarization? The Electoral Consequences of Rising Trade Exposure." American Economic Review 110 (October): 3139-83.
- Voeten, Erik. 2020. Ideology and International Institutions. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Bai, Xuechunzi, Varun Gauri, and Susan T. Fiske. 2021. "Cosmopolitan morality trades off in-group for the world, separating benefits and protection." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118 (October): e2100991118.
- Chu, Jonathan A. 2021. "Liberal Ideology and Foreign Opinion on China." *International Studies Quarterly* 65 (December): 960–972.
- Haas, Mark L. 2021. "When Do Ideological Enemies Ally?" *International Security* 46 (July): 104–146.
- Justwan, Florian, Sarah K Fisher, Ashley Kerr, and Jeffrey D Berejikian. 2021. "Analyzing Mass Attitudes Toward the International Court of Justice." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 17 (January): oraa023.
- Basedau, Matthias, Mora Deitch, and Ariel Zellman. 2022. "Rebels with a Cause: Does Ideology Make Armed Conflicts Longer and Bloodier?" *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 66 (November): 1826–1853.
- Blair, Christopher W., Erica Chenoweth, Michael C. Horowitz, Evan Perkoski, and Philip B.K. Potter. 2022. "Honor Among Thieves: Understanding Rhetorical and Material Cooperation Among Violent Nonstate Actors." *International Organization* 76 (1): 164–203.
- Olzak, Susan. 2022. "The Impact of Ideological Ambiguity on Terrorist Organizations." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 66 (May): 836–866.
- Johnston, Christopher D., and Gabriel J. Madson. 2022. "Negativity bias, personality and political ideology." *Nature Human Behaviour* 6 (May): 666–676.
- Powers, Kathleen E., Joshua D. Kertzer, Deborah Jordan Brooks, and Stephen G. Brooks. 2022. "What's Fair in International Politics? Equity, Equality, and Foreign Policy Attitudes." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 66 (2): 217-245.
- Zmigrod, Leor. 2022. "A Psychology of Ideology: Unpacking the Psychological Structure of Ideological Thinking." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 17 (4): 1072–1092.
- Cagé, Julia, Anna Dagorret, Pauline Grosjean, and Saumitra Jha. 2023. "Heroes and Villains: The effects of heroism on autocratic values and Nazi collaboration in France." American Economic Review 113 (7): 1888–1932.
- Malka, Ariel, and Christopher M Federico. 2023. "Political Belief Systems Are Not Singularly Rooted in Alliance Psychology." *Psychological Inquiry* 34 (3): 184–191.
- O'Brian, Neil A. 2024. *The Roots of Polarization: From the Racial Realignment to the Culture Wars*. University of Chicago Press.
- Solodoch, Omer. 2024. "The Effect of Education on Support for International Trade: Evidence from Compulsory-Education Reforms." *International Organization* 78 (4): 800–822.

- Koch, Alex, Ron Dotsch, Roland Imhoff, Christian Unkelbach, and Hans Alves. 2025. "Ideological beliefs as cues to exploitation-exploration behavior." *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 117: 104718.
- Kteily, Nour S., and Mark J. Brandt. 2025. "Ideology: Psychological Similarities and Differences Across the Ideological Spectrum Reexamined." *Annual Review of Psychology* 76: 501-529.

Culture

- Hofstede, Geert. 1984. Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-Related Values. Newbury Park: Sage.
- Morris, Michael W, and Kaiping Peng. 1994. "Culture and cause: American and Chinese attributions for social and physical events." *Journal of Personality and Social psychology* 67 (6): 949-971.
- Johnston, Alastair Iain. 1995. Cultural Realism: Strategic Culture and Grand Strategy in Chinese History. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Rosen, Stephen P. 1996. *Societies and Military Power: India and its Armies*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Kier, Elizabeth. 1997. *Imagining War: French and British Military Doctrine Between the Wars*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Choi, Incheol, Richard E Nisbett, and Ara Norenzayan. 1999. "Causal attribution across cultures: Variation and universality." *Psychological bulletin* 125 (1): 47-63.
- Seligson, Mitchell A. 2002. "The renaissance of political culture or the renaissance of the ecological fallacy?" *Comparative Politics*: 273–292.
- Nisbett, Richard E. 2003. *The Geography of Thought: How Asians and Westerners Think Differently and Why*. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Adams, Glenn. 2005. "The Cultural Grounding of Personal Relationship: Enemyship in North American and West African Worlds." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 88 (6): 948-968.
- Norenzayan, Ara, and Steven J Heine. 2005. "Psychological Universals: What Are They and How Can We Know?" *Psychological Bulletin* 131 (5): 763–784.
- Guiso, Luigi, Paola Sapienza, and Luigi Zingales. 2006. "Does culture affect economic outcomes?" *The journal of economic perspectives* 20 (2): 23–48.
- Spencer-Rodgers, Julie, Melissa J Williams, David L Hamilton, Kaiping Peng, and Lei Wang. 2007. "Culture and Group Perception: Dispositional and Stereotypic Inferences About Novel and National Groups." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 93 (4): 525-543.
- Guimond, Serge, Nyla R Branscombe, Sophie Brunot, Abraham P Buunk, Armand Chatard, Michel Désert, Donna M Garcia, Shamsul Haque, Delphine Martinot, and Vincent Yzerbyt. 2007. "Culture, Gender, and the Self: Variations and Impact of Social Comparison Processes." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 92 (6): 1118–1134.
- Torelli, Carlos J, and Sharon Shavitt. 2010. "Culture and concepts of power." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 99 (4): 703–723.
- Fehr, Ernst, and Karla Hoff. 2011. "Introduction: Tastes, Castes and Culture: the Influence of Society on Preferences." *The Economic Journal* 121 (556): F396–F412.

- Gelfand, Michele J., Jana L. Raver, Lisa Nishii, Lisa M. Leslie, Janetta Lun, Beng Chong Lim, Lili Duan, Assaf Almaliach, Soon Ang, Jakobina Arnadottir, Zeynep Aycan, Klaus Boehnke, Pawel Boski, Rosa Cabecinhas, Darius Chan, Jagdeep Chhokar, Alessia D'Amato, Montse Ferrer, Iris C. Fischlmayr, Ronald Fischer, Marta Fülöp, James Georgas, Emiko S. Kashima, Yoshishima Kashima, Kibum Kim, Alain Lempereur, Patricia Marquez, Rozhan Othman, Bert Overlaet, Penny Panagiotopoulou, Karl Peltzer, Lorena R. Perez-Florizno, Larisa Ponomarenko, Anu Realo, Vidar Schei, Manfred Schmitt, Peter B. Smith, Nazar Soomro, Erna Szabo, Nalinee Taveesin, Midori Toyama, Evert Van de Vliert, Naharika Vohra, Colleen Ward, and Susumu Yamaguchi. 2011. "Differences Between Tight and Loose Cultures: A 33-Nation Study." Science 332 (6033): 1100–1104.
- Leung, Angela K.-Y., and Dov Cohen. 2011. "Within- and Between-Culture Variation: Individual Differences and the Cultural Logics of Honor, Face, and Dignity Cultures." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 100 (3): 507-526.
- Inman, Molly, Roudabeh Kishi, Jonathan Wilkenfeld, Michele Gelfand, and Elizabeth Salmon. 2014. "Cultural influences on mediation in international crises." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 58 (4): 685–712.
- Miller, Joshua D, Jessica L Maples, Laura Buffardi, Huajian Cai, Brittany Gentile, Yasemin Kisbu-Sakarya, Virginia SY Kwan, Alex LoPilato, Louise F Pendry, Constantine Sedikides et al. 2015. "Narcissism and United States' culture: The view from home and around the world." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 109 (6): 1068-1089.
- Rosenmann, Amir. 2017. "Mapping Lay Perceptions of Contemporary Global Culture and Its Ideological and Political Correlates." *Political Psychology* 38 (2): 351-369.
- Mesquita, Batja, Michael Boiger, and Jozefien De Leersnyder. 2016. "The cultural construction of emotions." *Current Opinion in Psychology* 8: 31 36. Culture.
- Becker, Jordan, and Edmund Malesky. 2017. "The Continent or the "Grand Large"? Strategic Culture and Operational Burden-Sharing in NATO." *International Studies Quarterly* 61 (1): 163–180.
- Lukaszewski, Aaron W., Michael Gurven, Christopher R. von Rueden, and David P. Schmitt. 2017. "What Explains Personality Covariation? A Test of the Socioecological Complexity Hypothesis." *Social Psychological and Personality Science* 8 (2020/12/21): 943–952.
- Falk, Armin, Anke Becker, Thomas Dohmen, Benjamin Enke, David Huffman, and Uwe Sunde. 2018. "Global evidence on economic preferences." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 133 (4): 1645–1692.
- Pan, Yihui, Stephan Siegel, and Tracy Yue Wang. 2019. "The Cultural Origin of CEOs' Attitudes toward Uncertainty: Evidence from Corporate Acquisitions." *The Review of Financial Studies* 33 (09): 2977-3030.
- Smaldino, Paul E., Aaron Lukaszewski, Christopher von Rueden, and Michael Gurven. 2019.
 "Niche diversity can explain cross-cultural differences in personality structure." *Nature Human Behaviour* 3 (12): 1276–1283.
- Obradovich, Nick, Ömer Özak, Ignacio Martín, Ignacio Ortuño-Ortín, Edmond Awad, Manuel Cebrián, Rubén Cuevas, Klaus Desmet, Iyad Rahwan, and Ángel Cuevas. 2022. "Expanding the measurement of culture with a sample of two billion humans." *Journal of the Royal Society Interface* 19 (190): 2022085.

- Ricard-Huguet, Joan, and Betsy Levy Paluck. 2023. "When the Sorting Hat Sorts Randomly: A Natural Experiment on Culture." *Quarterly Journal of Political Science* 18 (1): 39-73.
- Kaasa, Anneli, and Michael Minkov. 2020. "Are the world's national cultures becoming more similar?" *Journal of cross-cultural psychology* 51 (7-8): 531–550.
- Gelfand, Michele J, Joshua Conrad Jackson, Xinyue Pan, Dana Nau, Dylan Pieper, Emmy Denison, Munqith Dagher, Paul AM Van Lange, Chi-Yue Chiu, and Mo Wang. 2021. "The relationship between cultural tightness–looseness and COVID-19 cases and deaths: a global analysis." *The Lancet planetary health* 5 (3): e135–e144.
- Lu, Jackson G, Verónica Benet-Martínez, and Laura Changlan Wang. 2023. "A Socioecological-Genetic Framework of Culture and Personality: Their Roots, Trends, and Interplay." *Annual Review of Psychology* 74: 369–90.
- Wilson, David Sloan, Guru Madhavan, Michele J Gelfand, Steven C Hayes, Paul WB Atkins, and Rita R Colwell. 2023. "Multilevel cultural evolution: From new theory to practical applications." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 120 (16): e2218222120.

Intergroup I: Small groups, social categorization, and social identity

- Moynihan, Lisa M., and Randall S. Peterson. 2001. "A Contingent Configuration Approach to Understanding the Role of Personality in Organizational Groups." *Research in Organizational Behavior* 23: 327-378.
- Jost, Tyler, Joshua D. Kertzer, Eric Min, and Robert Schub. 2024. "Advisers and Aggregation in Foreign Policy Decision-Making." *International Organization* 78 (1): 1-37.
- Mintz, Alex, and Carly Wayne. 2016. "The Polythink Syndrome and Elite Group Decision-Making." *Political Psychology* 37: 3-21.
- Zhang, Hejing, Jiaxin Yang, Jun Ni, Carsten K. W. De Dreu, and Yina Ma. 2023. "Leader-follower behavioural coordination and neural synchronization during intergroup conflict." *Nature Human Behaviour* 7 (July): 2169–2181.
- Brewer, Marilynn B. 2001. "The Many Faces of Social Identity: Implications for Political Psychology." *Political Psychology* 22 (1): 115-125.
- Gries, Peter Hays. 2005. "Social Psychology and the Identity-Conflict Debate: Is the "China Threat" Inevitable?" *European Journal of International Relations* 11 (2): 235-265.
- Golec de Zavala, Agnieszka, Karolina Dyduch-Hazar, and Dorottya Lantos. 2019. "Collective Narcissism: Political Consequences of Investing Self-Worth in the Ingroup's Image." *Political Psychology* 40: 37–74.
- Egan, Patrick J. 2020. "Identity as dependent variable: How Americans shift their identities to align with their politics." *American Journal of Political Science* 64 (3): 699–716.

Recommended

Small groups

- Lewin, Kurt, Ronald Lippitt, and Ralph K White. 1939. "Patterns of aggressive behavior in experimentally created "social climates"." *The Journal of social psychology* 10 (2): 269–299.
- Allison, Graham. 1971. Essence of Decision. Boston: Little Brown and Company.
- Janis, Irving L. 1972. Victims of groupthink: a psychological study of foreign-policy decisions and fiascoes. Houghton Mifflin.
- Steinbruner, John D. 1974. *The Cybernetic Theory of Decision*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press
- Dyson, James W, Paul HB Godwin, and Leo A Hazlewood. 1976. "Group Composition, Leadership Orientation, and Decisional Outcomes." *Small Group Behavior* 7 (1): 114–128.
- Myers, David G., and Helmut Lamm. 1976. "The Group Polarization Phenomenon." *Psychological Bulletin* 83 (4): 602-627.
- Tetlock, Philip E. 1979. "Identifying victims of groupthink from public statements of decision makers." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 37 (8): 1314.
- Callaway, Michael R, Richard G Marriott, and James K Esser. 1985. "Effects of dominance on group decision making: Toward a stress-reduction explanation of groupthink." *Journal of Personality and social psychology* 49 (4): 949.

- Herek, Gregory M., Irving L. Janis, and Paul Huth. 1987. "Decision Making during International Crises Is Quality of Process Related to Outcome?" *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 31 (2): 203-226.
- Hermann, Margaret G, and Charles F Hermann. 1989. "Who makes foreign policy decisions and how: An empirical inquiry." *International Studies Quarterly* 33 (4): 361–387.
- Maoz, Zeev. 1990. "Framing the national interest: The manipulation of foreign policy decisions in group settings." *World Politics* 43 (1): 77-110.
- Driskell, James E, and Eduardo Salas. 1991. "Group decision making under stress." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 76 (3): 473.
- Tetlock, Philip E, Randall S Peterson, Charles McGuire, Shi-jie Chang, and Peter Feld. 1992. "Assessing political group dynamics: a test of the groupthink model." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 63 (3): 403.
- Hart, Paul't, Eric K Stern, and Bengt Sundelius. 1997. Beyond groupthink: Political group dynamics and foreign policy-making. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.
- Esser, James K. 1998. "Alive and well after 25 years: A review of groupthink research." Organizational behavior and human decision processes 73 (2): 116–141.
- Whyte, Glen. 1998. "Recasting Janis's Groupthink Model: The Key Role of Collective Efficacy in Decision Fiascoes." *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes* 73 (2/3): 185-209.
- Turner, Marlene E, and Anthony R Pratkanis. 1998. "Twenty-five years of groupthink theory and research: Lessons from the evaluation of a theory." *Organizational behavior and human decision processes* 73 (2): 105-115.
- Stern, Eric, and Bertjan Verbeek. 1998. "Whither the Study of Governmental Politics in Foreign Policymaking? A Symposium." *Mershon International Studies Review* 42: 205-210.
- Kaarbo, Juliet. 1998. "Power politics in foreign policy: The influence of bureaucratic minorities." European Journal of International Relations 4 (1): 67–97.
- Preston, Thomas, and Paul 't Hart. 1999. "Understanding and Evaluating Bureaucratic Politics: The Nexus between Political Leaders and Advisory Systems." *Political Psychology* 20 (1): 49-98.
- Schafer, Mark, and Scott Crichlow. 2002. "The Process-Outcome Connection in Foreign Policy Decision Making: A Quantitative Study Building on Groupthink." *International Studies Quarterly* 46 (1): 45.
- Mendelberg, Tali. 2002. "The Deliberative Citizen: Theory and Evidence." In *Research in Micropolitics*, ed. Michael X. Delli Carpini, Leonie Huddy, and Robert Y. Shapiro. Vol. 6. Elsevier.
- Redd, Steven B. 2002. "The Influence of Advisers on Foreign Policy Decision Making: An Experimental Study." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 46 (3): 335-364.
- Redd, Steven B. 2005. "The Influence of Advisers and Decision Strategies on Foreign Policy Choices: President Clinton's Decision to Use Force in Kosovo." *International Studies Perspectives* 6 (1): 129–150.
- Hermann, Margaret G. 2001. "How Decision Units Shape Foreign Policy: A Theoretical Framework." *International Studies Review 3* (2): 47-81.

- Garrison, Jean A. 2001. "Framing Foreign Policy Alternatives in the Inner Circle: President Carter, His Advisors, and the Struggle for the Arms Control Agenda." *Political Psychology* 22 (4): 775–807.
- Haney, Patrick J. 2005. "Foreign-Policy Advising: Models and Mysteries from the Bush Administration." *Presidential Studies Quarterly* 35 (2): 289–302.
- Salas, Eduardo, Dana E. Sims, and C. Shawn Burke. 2005. "Is there a "Big Five" in Teamwork?" Small Group Research 36 (5): 555-599.
- Chilton, Adam, and Dustin Tingley. 2012. "The Doctrinal Paradox & International Law." University of Pennsylvania Journal of International Law 34 (1): 67-137.
- Jervis, Robert. 2013. "Do Leaders Matter and How Would We Know?" *Security Studies* 22 (2): 153-179.
- Cohen, Dara Kay. 2013. "Explaining rape during civil war: Cross-national evidence (1980–2009)." *American Political Science Review* 107 (03): 461–477.
- Oberfield, Zachary W. 2014. *Becoming bureaucrats: socialization at the front lines of government service*. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Baumeister, Roy F, Sarah E Ainsworth, and Kathleen D Vohs. 2016. "Are groups more or less than the sum of their members? The moderating role of individual identification." *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 39: 1-14.
- Bruch, Elizabeth E., and Fred Feinberg. 2017. "Decision Making Processes in Social Contexts." *Annual Review of Sociology* 43.
- Kranton, Rachel E, and Seth G. Sanders. 2017. "Groupy versus Non-Groupy Social Preferences: Personality, Region, and Political Party." *American Economic Review* 107 (5): 65-69.
- LeVeck, Brad L., and Neil Narang. 2017. "The Democratic Peace and the Wisdom of Crowds." *International Studies Quarterly* 61 (4): 867-880.
- Saunders, Elizabeth N. 2017. "No Substitute for Experience: Presidents, Advisers, and Information in Group Decision-Making." *International Organization* 71 (S1): S219-S247.
- Blagden, David. 2019. "Do Democracies Possess the Wisdom of Crowds? Decision Group Size, Regime Type, and Strategic Effectiveness." *International Studies Quarterly* 63 (4): 1192–1195.
- Gildea, Ross James. 2020. "Psychology and aggregation in International Relations." *European Journal of International Relations* 26 (1): 166–183.
- Harel, Matan, Elchanan Mossel, Philipp Strack, and Omer Tamuz. 2021. "Rational groupthink." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 136 (1): 621–668.
- Myers, C. Daniel. 2022. "The Dynamics of Social Identity: Evidence from Deliberating Groups." *Political Psychology* 43 (April): 237–254.
- Schub, Robert. 2022. "Informing the Leader: Bureaucracies and International Crises." *American Political Science Review* 116 (4): 1460-1476.
- Fehrler, Sebastian, and Volker Hahn. 2023. "Committee Decision-Making under the Threat of Leaks." *The Journal of Politics* 85 (July): 1107–1122.

- Rogers, Benjamin A., Ovul Sezer, and Nadav Klein. 2023. "Too naïve to lead: When leaders fall for flattery." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 125 (December): 1394–1419.
- Rucker, Derek D., Jesse D'Agostino, Mark Dyer, and Zakary L. Tormala. 2024. "The allure of consensus: People (over)seek consensus in selecting group persuasion strategies." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 126 (April): 566–586.
- Malis, Matt. 2024. "Foreign Policy Appointments." International Organization 78 (3): 501-537.
- Wayne, Carly N., Mitsuru Mukaigawara, Joshua D. Kertzer, and Marcus Holmes. 2024. "Diplomacy by Committee: Assessing Resolve and Costly Signals in Group Settings." *American Journal of Political Science* Forthcoming.
- Saunders, Elizabeth N. 2024. *The Insiders' Game: How Elites Make War and Peace*. Princeton University Press.
- Social categorization, social identity, and social dominance
 - Tajfel, Henri, and John Turner. 1986. "The Social Identity Theory of Intergroup Behavior." In *Psychology of intergroup relations*, ed. S. Worchel and W. Austin. Chicago: Nelson-Hall.
 - Pratto, Felicia, Jim Sidanius, Lisa M. Stallworth, and Bertram F. Malle. 1994. "Social Dominance Orientation: A Personality Variable Predicting Social and Political Attitudes." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 67 (4): 741-763.
 - Mercer, Jonathan. 1995. "Anarchy and Identity." International Organization 49 (2): 229-52.
 - Brewer, Marilynn B., and Rupert J. Brown. 1998. "Intergroup Relations." In *The Handbook of Social Psychology*, ed. Daniel T. Gilbert, Susan T. Fiske, and Gardner Lindzey. New York: McGraw-Hill.
 - Brown, Rupert. 2000. "Social identity theory: past achievements, current problems and future challenges." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 30 (6): 745–778.
 - Sidanius, Jim, and Felicia Pratto. 2001. Social Dominance: An Intergroup Theory of Social Hierarchy and Oppression. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
 - Kurzban, Robert, John Tooby, and Leda Cosmides. 2001. "Can race be erased? Coalitional computation and social categorization." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 98 (26): 15387-15392.
 - Hogg, Michael A. 2001. "A Social Identity Theory of Leadership." *Personality and Social Psychology Review* 5 (3): 184-200.
 - Roccas, Sonia, and Marilynn B. Brewer. 2002. "Social Identity Complexity." *Personality and Social Psychology Review* 6 (2): 88-106.
 - Chandra, Kanchan. 2006. "What is Ethnic Identity and Does it Matter?" *Annual Review of Political Science* 9: 397-424.
 - Chen, Yan, and Sherry Xin Li. 2009. "Group identity and social preferences." *The American Economic Review* 99 (1): 431-457.
 - Mansfield, Edward D., and Diana C. Mutz. 2009. "Support for Free Trade: Self-Interest, Sociotropic Politics, and Out-Group Anxiety." *International Organization* 63 (3): 425-457.

- Swann Jr, William B, Ángel Gómez, D Conor Seyle, J Morales, and Carmen Huici. 2009. "Identity fusion: the interplay of personal and social identities in extreme group behavior." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 96 (5): 995-1011.
- De Zavala, Agnieszka Golec, Aleksandra Cichocka, Roy Eidelson, and Nuwan Jayawickreme. 2009. "Collective narcissism and its social consequences." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 97 (6): 1074-1096.
- Benjamin, Daniel J., James J. Choi, and A. Joshua Strickland. 2010. "Social Identity and Preferences." *American Economic Review* 100 (4): 1913-1928.
- Klor, Esteban F., and Moses Shayo. 2010. "Social Identity and Preferences over Redistribution." *Journal of Public Economics* 94 (3-4): 269-278.
- Gómez, Ángel, Matthew L Brooks, Michael D Buhrmester, Alexandra Vázquez, Jolanda Jetten, and William B Swann Jr. 2011. "On the nature of identity fusion: insights into the construct and a new measure." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 100 (5): 918-933.
- Ljujic, Vanja, Paul Vedder, and Henk Dekker. 2012. "Romaphobia Among Serbian Adolescents: The Role of National In-group Attitudes and Perceived Threat." *Political Psychology* 33 (6): 911–924.
- Abrams, Dominic, Georgina Randsley de Moura, and Giovanni A Travaglino. 2013. "A double standard when group members behave badly: Transgression credit to ingroup leaders." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 105 (5): 799-815.
- de Zavala, Agnieszka Golec, Aleksandra Cichocka, and Michał Bilewicz. 2013. "The paradox of in-group love: Differentiating collective narcissism advances understanding of the relationship between in-group and out-group attitudes." *Journal of Personality* 81 (1): 16–28.
- Enos, Ryan D. 2014. "Causal effect of intergroup contact on exclusionary attitudes." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 111 (10): 3699-3704.
- Kim, Hee Young, and Batia M. Wiesenfeld. 2017. "Who Represents Our Group? The Effects of Prototype Content on Perceived Status Dispersion and Social Undermining." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 43 (6): 814-827.
- Ille, Sebastian. 2017. "Towards Better Economic Models of Social Behaviour? Identity Economics." *Studies in Ethnicity and Nationalism* 17 (1): 5–24.
- Kaufman, Stuart J. 2019. "War as Symbolic Politics." International Studies Quarterly 63 (3): 614-625.
- Condra, Luke N, and Sera Linardi. 2019. "Casual contact and ethnic bias: experimental evidence from Afghanistan." *The Journal of Politics* 81 (3): 1028–1042.
- Leshem, Oded Adomi, and Eran Halperin. 2020. "Lay theories of peace and their influence on policy preference during violent conflict." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 117 (31): 18378–18384.
- Spater, Jeremy. 2022. "Exposure and Preferences: Evidence from Indian Slums." *American Journal of Political Science* 66 (2): 302-317.
- Spears, Russell. 2021. "Social Influence and Group Identity." *Annual Review of Psychology* 72: 367-390.
- Wang, Dong, Alastair Iain Johnston, and Baoyu Wang. 2021. "The Effect of Imagined Social Contact on Chinese Students' Perceptions of Japanese People." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 65 (1): 223–251.
- Green, Donald P., and Oliver Hyman-Metzger. 2024. "The Vietnam Draft Lottery and Whites' Racial Attitudes: Evidence from the General Social Survey." *American Political Science Review* Forthcoming: 1–8.

Intergroup II: Honor, reputation, status, reciprocity, revenge

- O'Neill, Barry. 1999. *Honor, Symbols and War*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press. Chapters 1,6.
- Wendt, Alexander. 2003. "Why a World State is Inevitable." *European Journal of International Relations* 9 (4): 491-542.
- Jervis, Robert, Keren Yarhi-Milo, and Don Casler. 2021. "Redefining the Debate over Reputation and Credibility in International Security: Promises and Limits of New Scholarship." *World Politics* 73 (1).
- Goldfien, Michael A., Michael F. Joseph, and Roseanne W. McManus. 2023. "The Domestic Sources of International Reputation." *American Political Science Review* 117 (May): 609–628.
- Renshon, Jonathan. 2016. "Status Deficits and War." International Organization 70 (3): 513-550.
- Strange, Austin. 2024. "Symbols of State: Explaining Prestige Projects in the Global South." *International Studies Quarterly* 68 (March): sqae049.
- Ager, Philipp, Leonardo Bursztyn, Lukas Leucht, and Hans-Joachim Voth. 2022. "Killer Incentives: Relative Position, Performance and Risk-Taking among German Fighter Pilots, 1939-45." *Review of Economic Studies* 89 (5): 2257-2292.
- Rand, David G., and Martin A. Nowak. 2013. "Human cooperation." *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 17 (8): 413-425.

Recommended

Honor, reputation, status, and the struggle for recognition

- Volgy, Thomas J, and Stacey Mayhall. 1995. "Status inconsistency and international war: Exploring the effects of systemic change." *International Studies Quarterly* 39 (1): 67-84.
- Nisbett, Richard E., and Dov Cohen. 1996. *Culture of Honor: The Psychology of Violence in the South.* Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Mercer, Jonathan. 1996. Reputation and International Politics. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Huth, Paul K. 1997. "Reputations and Deterrence: A Theoretical and Empirical Assessment." *Security Studies* 7 (1): 72-99.
- Ball, Sheryl, Catherine Eckel, Philip J Grossman, and William Zame. 2001. "Status in Markets." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 116 (1): 161–188.
- Henrich, Joseph, and Francisco J Gil-White. 2001. "The evolution of prestige: freely conferred deference as a mechanism for enhancing the benefits of cultural transmission." *Evolution and Human Behavior* 22 (3): 165 196.
- McElreath, Richard. 2003. "Reputation and the Evolution of Conflict." *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 220: 345-357.
- Press, Daryl G. 2005. Calculating Credibility: How Leaders Assess Military Threats. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Tang, Shiping. 2005. "Reputation, Cult of Reputation, and International Conflict." *Security Studies* 14 (1): 34-62.

- Crescenzi, Mark JC. 2007. "Reputation and interstate conflict." *American Journal of Political Science* 51 (2): 382–396.
- Shannon, Vaughn P., and Michael Dennis. 2007. "Militant Islam and the Futile Fight for Reputation." *Security Studies* 16 (2): 287-317.
- Besley, Timothy, and Maitreesh Ghatak. 2008. "Status Incentives." *The American Economic Review* 98 (2): 206-211.
- Wohlforth, William C. 2009. "Unipolarity, Status Competition and Great Power War." World Politics 61 (1): 28-57.
- Larson, Deborah Welch, and Alexei Shevchenko. 2010. "Status Seekers: Chinese and Russian Responses to U.S. Primacy." *International Security* 34 (4): 63-95.
- Tingley, Dustin H., and Barbara F. Walter. 2011b. "The Effect of Repeated Play on Reputation Building: An Experimental Approach." *International Organization* 65 (2): 343-365.
- Wolf, Reinhard. 2011. "Respect and disrespect in international politics: the significance of status recognition." *International Theory* 3 (1): 105-142.
- Mattes, Michaela. 2012. "Reputation, Symmetry, and Alliance Design." *International Organization* 66 (4): 679-707.
- Wood, Steve. 2013. "Prestige in world politics: History, theory, expression." *International Politics* 50 (3): 387-411.
- Dafoe, Allan, Jonathan Renshon, and Paul Huth. 2014. "Reputation and Status as Motives for War." *Annual Review of Political Science* 17: 371–393.
- Bar-Isaac, Heski, and Joyee Deb. 2014. "What is a good reputation? Career concerns with heterogeneous audiences." *International Journal of Industrial Organization* 34: 44-50.
- Anderson, Cameron, John Angus D Hildreth, and Laura Howland. 2015. "Is the desire for status a fundamental human motive? A review of the empirical literature." *Psychological Bulletin* 141 (3): 574-601.
- Miller, Jennifer L., Jacob Cramer, Thomas J. Volgy, Paul Bezerra, Megan Hauser, and Christina Sciabarra. 2015. "Norms, Behavioral Compliance, and Status Attribution in International Politics." *International Interactions* 41 (5): 779-804.
- Weisiger, Alex, and Keren Yarhi-Milo. 2015. "Revisiting Reputation: How Do Past Actions Matter In International Politics." *International Organization* 69 (2): 473-495.
- Renshon, Jonathan. 2015. "Losing Face and Sinking Costs: Experimental Evidence on the Judgment of Political and Military Leaders." *International Organization* 69 (3): 659-695.
- Stein, Rachel. 2015. "War and Revenge: Explaining Conflict Initiation by Democracies." *American Political Science Review* 109 (3): 556-573.
- Carson, Austin. 2016. "Facing Off and Saving Face: Covert Intervention and Escalation Management in the Korean War." *International Organization* 70 (12): 103–131.
- Dafoe, Allan, and Devin M. Caughey. 2016. "Honor and War: Southern Presidents and the Effects of Concern for Reputation." *World Politics* 68 (2): 341-381.

- Sechser, Todd S. 2018. "Reputations and Signaling in Coercive Bargaining." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 62 (2): 318-345.
- Barnhart, Joslyn. 2016. "Status Competition and Territorial Aggression: Evidence from the Scramble for Africa." *Security Studies* 25 (3): 385-419.
- Lupton, Danielle L. 2018. "Signaling Resolve: Leaders, Reputations, and the Importance of Early Interactions." *International Interactions* 44 (1): 59-87.
- Mercer, Jonathan. 2017. "The Illusion of International Prestige." *International Security* 41 (4): 133-168.
- Barnhart, Joslyn. 2017. "Humiliation and Third-Party Aggression." World Politics 69 (3): 532-568.
- Brutger, Ryan, and Joshua D. Kertzer. 2018. "A Dispositional Theory of Reputation Costs." *International Organization* 72 (3): 693-724.
- Pu, Xiaoyu. 2017. "Controversial Identity of a Rising China." The Chinese Journal of International Politics 10 (2): 131.
- Ward, Steven Michael. 2017. "Lost in Translation: Social Identity Theory and the Study of Status in World Politics." *International Studies Quarterly* 61 (4): 821-834.
- Bjarnegard, Elin, Karen Brounéus, and Erik Melander. 2017. "Honor and political violence: Micro-level findings from a survey in Thailand." *Journal of Peace Research* 54 (6): 748-761.
- Gidron, Noam, and Peter A Hall. 2017. "The politics of social status: economic and cultural roots of the populist right." *The British journal of sociology* 68: S57–S84.
- Crescenzi, Mark J.C. 2018. Of Friends and Foes: Reputation and Learning in World Politics. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Mantilla, Giovanni. 2018. "Forum Isolation: Social Opprobrium and the Origins of the International Law of Internal Conflict." *International Organization* 72 (2): 317-349.
- Duque, Marina. 2018. "Recognizing International Status: A Relational Approach." *International Studies Quarterly* 62 (3): 577-592.
- McClendon, Gwyneth H. 2018. Envy in politics. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Bursztyn, Leonardo, Bruno Ferman, Stefano Fiorin, Martin Kanz, and Gautam Rao. 2018. "Status goods: experimental evidence from platinum credit cards." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 133 (3): 1561-1595.
- Larson, Deborah Welch, and Alexei Shevchenko. 2019. "Lost in Misconceptions about Social Identity Theory." *International Studies Quarterly* 63 (4): 1189–1191.
- Origgi, Gloria. 2019. *Reputation: What It Is and Why It Matters*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Bush, Sarah Sunn, and Pär Zetterberg. 2021. "Gender Quotas and International Reputation." *American Journal of Political Science* 65 (2): 326-341.
- Lupton, Danielle L. 2020. Reputation for Resolve: How Leaders Signal Determination in International Politics. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.

- Carnegie, Allison, and Lindsay R. Dolan. 2020. "The effects of rejecting aid on recipients' reputations: Evidence from natural disaster responses." *Review of International Organizations* 16: 495-519.
- Sundaram, Sasikumar S. 2020. "The Practices of Evaluating Entitlements: Rethinking "Reputation" in International Politics." *International Studies Quarterly* 64 (3): 657–668.
- Thal, Adam. 2020. "The Desire for Social Status and Economic Conservatism among Affluent Americans." *American Political Science Review* 114 (2): 426–442.
- Barnhart, Joslyn. 2021. "The Consequences of Defeat: The Quest for Status and Morale in the Aftermath of War." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 65 (1): 195-222.
- Van Der Westhuizen, Janis. 2021. "Status Signaling and the Risk of Domestic Opposition: Comparing South Africa and Brazil's Hosting of the 2010 and 2014 World Cups." Foreign Policy Analysis 17 (April): orab004.
- Long, Tom, and Francisco Urdinez. 2021. "Status at the Margins: Why Paraguay Recognizes Taiwan and Shuns China." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 17 (January): oraa002.
- MacDonald, Paul K., and Joseph M. Parent. 2021. "The Status of Status in World Politics." *World Politics* 73 (April): 358–391.
- Bor, Alexander, and Michael Bang Petersen. 2022. "The psychology of online political hostility: A comprehensive, cross-national test of the mismatch hypothesis." *American political science review* 116 (1): 1–18.
- Rathbun, Brian, Nina Srinivasan Rathbun, and Caleb Pomeroy. 2022. "No Fair! Distinguishing Between the Pursuit of Status and Equity in International Relations." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (February): sqac002.
- Srna, Shalena, Alixandra Barasch, and Deborah A Small. 2022. "On the value of modesty: How signals of status undermine cooperation." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 123 (4): 676.
- Wolf, Reinhard. 2022. "Between Deference and Defiance: Hierarchical Status Roles and International Conflict." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (February): sqab063.
- Johnson, Richard A.I., and Aaron P. Shreve. 2023. "Boys and Their Toys: Status Inconsistency in Non-democratic Regimes and the Import of Major Weapon Systems." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* (December): 00220027231220021.
- Dobrescu, Madalina. 2023. "Status Seeking through Peacekeeping: Ukraine's Quest for a Positive Social Identity in the International System." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 19 (January): orad009.
- Powers, Ryan, and Jonathan Renshon. 2023. "International status concerns and domestic support for political leaders." *American Journal of Political Science* 67 (3): 732–747.
- Renshon, Jonathan, Keren Yarhi-Milo, and Joshua D Kertzer. 2023. "Democratic reputations in crises and war." *The Journal of Politics* 85 (1): 1–18.
- Røren, Pål. 2023. "The belligerent bear: Russia, status orders, and war." *International Security* 47 (4): 7–49.
- Masumura, Yuji, and Atsushi Tago. 2023. "Micro-foundations of the Quest for Status: Testing Self-Status Perception and the Multilateral Use of Force." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 19 (July): orad027.

Wohlforth, William. 2024. "The irony of prestige: Status-seeking as rational choice." *Cooperation and Conflict* Forthcoming: 00108367241302453.

Reciprocity and revenge

- Trivers, Robert L. 1971. "The Evolution of Reciprocal Altruism." *The Quarterly Review of Biology* 46 (1): 35-57.
- Axelrod, Robert. 1984. The Evolution of Cooperation. New York: Basic Books.
- Keohane, Robert O. 1986. "Reciprocity in International Relations." *International Organization* 40 (1): 1-27.
- Gould, Eric D., and Esteban F. Klor. 2010. "Does Terrorism Work?" *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 125 (4): 1459-1510.
- Fischbacher, Urs, Simon Gächter, and Ernst Fehr. 2001. "Are people conditionally cooperative? Evidence from a public goods experiment." *Economics Letters* 71 (3): 397-404.
- Lickel, Brian, Norman Miller, Douglas M. Stenstrom, Thomas F. Denson, and Toni Schmader. 2006. "Vicarious Retribution: The Role of Collective Blame in Intergroup Aggression." Personality and Social Psychology Review 10 (4): 372-390.
- Liberman, Peter. 2006. "An Eye for an Eye: Public Support for War Against Evildoers." *International Organization* 60 (3): 687-722.
- Liberman, Peter. 2007. "Punitiveness and U.S. Elite Support for the 1991 Persian Gulf War." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 51 (1): 3-32.
- Löwenheim, Oded, and Gadi Heimann. 2008. "Revenge in International Politics." *Security Studies* 17 (4): 685-724.
- Balcells, Laia. 2010. "Rivalry and Revenge: Violence against Civilians in Conventional Civil Wars." *International Studies Quarterly* 54 (2): 291–313.
- Liberman, Peter. 2013. "Retributive Support for International Punishment and Torture." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 57 (2): 285-306.
- McCullough, Michael E., Robert Kurzban, and Benjamin A. Tabak. 2013. "Cognitive systems for revenge and forgiveness." *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 36 (1): 1–15.
- Souleimanov, Emil Aslan, and Huseyn Aliyev. 2015. "Blood Revenge and Violent Mobilization: Evidence from the Chechen Wars." *International Security* 40 (2): 158–180.
- Romano, Angelo, Daniel Balliet, Toshio Yamagishi, and James H. Liu. 2017. "Parochial trust and cooperation across 17 societies." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114 (48): 12702-12707.
- Chilton, Adam S, Helen V Milner, and Dustin H Tingley. 2020. "Reciprocity and Public Opposition to Foreign Direct Investment." *British Journal of Political Science* 50 (1): 129-153.
- Frank, Morgan R., Nick Obradovich, Lijun Sun, Wei Lee Woon, Brad L. LeVeck, and Iyad Rahwan. 2018. "Detecting reciprocity at a global scale." *Science Advances* 4 (1).
- Chu, Jonathan A. 2019. "A clash of norms? How reciprocity and international humanitarian law affect American opinion on the treatment of POWs." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 63 (5): 1140-1164.

- Sagan, Scott D, and Benjamin A Valentino. 2019. "On Reciprocity, Revenge, and Replication: A Rejoinder to Walzer, McMahan, and Keohane." *Ethics & International Affairs* 33 (4): 473–479.
- Chiang, Yen-Sheng. 2021. "Indirect Reciprocity for Mitigating Intergroup Hostility: A Vignette Experiment and an Agent-based Model on Intergroup Relations between Mainland Chinese and Taiwanese." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 65 (2-3): 403-426.
- Shaver, Andrew, and Jacob N. Shapiro. 2021. "The Effect of Civilian Casualties on Wartime Informing: Evidence from the Iraq War." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 65 (August): 1337–1377.

Intergroup III: National, subnational, and supranational identities

- Wenzel, Michael, Amélie Mummendey, and Sven Waldzus. 2007. "Superordinate identities and intergroup conflict: the ingroup projection model." *European Review of Social Psychology* 18: 331-372.
- Powers, Kathleen. 2021. *Nationalisms in International Politics*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press. Excerpts.
- Cederman, Lars-Erik, Yannick I. Pengl, Luc Girardin, and Carl Müller-Crepon. 2024. "The Future Is History: Restorative Nationalism and Conflict in Post-Napoleonic Europe." *International Organization* 78 (2): 259–292.
- Gaikwad, Nikhar, Kolby Hanson, and Aliz Tóth. 2024. "Bridging the gulf: How migration fosters tolerance, cosmopolitanism, and support for globalization." *American Journal of Political Science* Forthcoming.
- Zhou, Yang-Yang, and Jason Lyall. 2025. "Prolonged contact does not reshape locals' attitudes toward migrants in wartime settings." *American Journal of Political Science* 69 (2025/01/13): 210–222.
- Noor, Masi, Nurit Shnabel, Samer Halabi, and Arie Nadler. 2012. "When suffering begets suffering: The psychology of competitive victimhood between adversarial groups in violent conflicts." *Personality and Social Psychology Review* 16 (4): 351–374.
- Jo, Eun A. 2022. "Memory, Institutions, and the Domestic Politics of South Korean–Japanese Relations." *International Organization* 76 (4): 767–798.
- Fouka, Vasiliki, and Hans-Joachim Voth. 2023. "Collective Remembrance and Private Choice: German–Greek Conflict and Behavior in Times of Crisis." *American Political Science Review* 117 (August): 851–870.

Recommended

National and transnational identities

- Schatz, Robert T, Ervin Staub, and Howard Lavine. 1999. "On the varieties of national attachment: Blind versus constructive patriotism." *Political Psychology* 20 (1): 151–174.
- Gaertner, Samuel L., and John F. Dovidio. 2000. *Reducing intergroup bias: The Common Ingroup Identity Model*. Philadelphia, PA: The Psychology Press.
- Williams, Kristen P., and Neal G. Jesse. 2001. "Resolving Nationalist Conflicts: Promoting Overlapping Identities and Pooling Sovereignty—The 1998 Northern Irish Peace Agreement." Political Psychology 22 (3): 571-599.
- Csergo, Zsuzsa, and James M Goldgeier. 2004. "Nationalist strategies and European integration." *Perspectives on Politics* 2 (01): 21-37.
- Skitka, Linda J. 2005. "Patriotism or Nationalism? Understanding Post-September 11, 2001, Flag-Display Behavior." *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 35 (10): 1995–2011.
- Elkins, Zachary, and John Sides. 2007. "Can institutions build unity in multiethnic states?" *American Political Science Review* 101 (4): 693-708.
- Spencer-Rodgers, Julie, David L. Hamilton, and Steven J. Sherman. 2007. "The Central Role of Entitativity in Stereotypes of Social Categories and Task Groups." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 92 (3): 369-388.

- Huddy, Leonie, and Nadia Khatib. 2007. "American Patriotism, National Identity, and Political Involvement." *American Journal of Political Science* 51 (1): 63–77.
- Dovidio, John F., Samuel L. Gaertner, and Tamar Saguy. 2009. "Commonality and the Complexity of "We": Social Attitudes and Social Change." *Personality and Social Psychology Review* 13 (1): 3-20.
- Herrmann, Richard K., Pierangelo Isernia, and Paolo Segatti. 2009. "Attachment to the Nation and International Relations: Probing the Dimensions of Identity and their Relationship to War and Peace." *Political Psychology* 30 (5): 721-754.
- Davidov, Eldad. 2009. "Measurement equivalence of nationalism and constructive patriotism in the ISSP: 34 countries in a comparative perspective." *Political Analysis* 17 (1): 64–82.
- Mansfield, Edward D, and Diana C Mutz. 2013. "US versus them: Mass attitudes toward offshore outsourcing." *World Politics* 65 (04): 571–608.
- Schildkraut, Deborah J. 2014. "Boundaries of American Identity: Evolving Understandings of "Us"." *Annual Review of Political Science* 17: 441-460.
- Dragojlovic, Nick. 2015. "Listening to Outsiders: The Impact of Messenger Nationality on Transnational Persuasion in the United States." *International Studies Quarterly* 59 (1): 73–85.
- Charnysh, Volha, Christopher Lucas, and Prerna Singh. 2015. "The Ties That Bind: National Identity Salience and Pro-Social Behavior Toward the Ethnic Other." *Comparative Political Studies* 48 (3): 267-300.
- Radkiewicz, Piotr. 2016. "Does authoritarianism imply ethnocentric national attitudes: A revised look at the "authoritarian triad" and right-wing ideology." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 46: 224-236.
- Bonikowski, Bart, and Paul DiMaggio. 2016. "Varieties of American Popular Nationalism." *American Sociological Review* 81 (5): 949-980.
- Bertoli, Andrew D. 2017. "Nationalism and conflict: Lessons from international sports." *International Studies Quarterly* 61 (4): 835–849.
- Friend, John M., and Bradley A. Thayer. 2017. "The Rise of Han-Centrism and What It Means for International Politics." *Studies in Ethnicity and Nationalism* 17 (1): 91–114.
- Wolak, Jennifer, and Ryan Dawkins. 2017. "The Roots of Patriotism Across Political Contexts." *Political Psychology* 38 (3): 391–408.
- Johnston, Alastair Iain. 2017. "Is Chinese Nationalism Rising: Evidence from Beijing." *International Security* 41 (3): 7–43.
- Ray, Subhasish. 2018. "Ethnic inequality and national pride." Political Psychology 39 (2): 263–280.
- Mader, Matthias, Thomas J. Scotto, Jason Reifler, Peter H. Gries, Pierangelo Isernia, and Harald Schoen. 2018. "How political are national identities? A comparison of the United States, the United Kingdom, and Germany in the 2010s." *Research & Politics* 5 (3): 2053168018801469.
- Peitz, Linus, Kristof Dhont, and Ben Seyd. 2018. "The psychology of supranationalism: Its ideological correlates and implications for EU attitudes and post-Brexit preferences." *Political Psychology* 39 (6): 1305–1322.

- Allan, Bentley B, Srdjan Vucetic, and Ted Hopf. 2018. "The distribution of identity and the future of international order: China's hegemonic prospects." *International Organization* 72 (4): 839–869.
- Klar, Samara. 2018. "When common identities decrease trust: An experimental study of Partisan women." *American Journal of Political Science* 62 (3): 610–622.
- Levendusky, Matthew S. 2018. "Americans, not partisans: Can priming American national identity reduce affective polarization?" *The Journal of Politics* 80 (1): 59–70.
- Hanson, Kristin, and Emma O'Dwyer. 2019. "Patriotism and nationalism, left and right: AQ-methodology study of American national identity." *Political Psychology* 40 (4): 777–795.
- Sengupta, Nikhil K, Danny Osborne, and Chris G Sibley. 2019. "On the psychological function of nationalistic "whitelash"." *Political Psychology* 40 (4): 759–775.
- Neufeld, Scott D, and Michael T Schmitt. 2019. "Solidarity not homogeneity: Constructing a superordinate Aboriginal identity that protects subgroup identities." *Political Psychology* 40 (3): 599–616.
- Moscatelli, Silvia, Michela Menegatti, Flavia Albarello, Felicia Pratto, and Monica Rubini. 2019. "Can we identify with a nation low in morality? The heavy weight of (im) morality in international comparison." *Political Psychology* 40 (1): 93–110.
- McFarland, Sam, Justin Hackett, Katarzyna Hamer, Iva Katzarska-Miller, Anna Malsch, Gerhard Reese, and Stephen Reysen. 2019. "Global human identification and citizenship: A review of psychological studies." *Political Psychology* 40: 141–171.
- Hur, Aram. 2020. "Citizen duty and the ethical power of communities: Mixed-method evidence from East Asia." *British Journal of Political Science* 50 (3): 1047–1065.
- Nugent, Elizabeth. 2020. "The Psychology of Repression and Polarization." *World Politics* 72 (2): 291-334.
- Vucetic, Srdjan, and Ted Hopf. 2020. "Everyday Nationalism and Making Identity Count." *Nationalities Papers* 48 (6): 1000-1014.
- Carmona, Margarida, Denis Sindic, Rita Guerra, and Joep Hofhuis. 2020. "Human and Global Identities: Different Prototypical Meanings of All-Inclusive Identities." *Political Psychology* 41 (5): 961-978.
- Gillespie, Liam. 2020. "The Imagined Immunities of Defense Nationalism." *Political Psychology* 41 (5): 997-1011.
- Isaksson, Ann-Sofie. 2020. "Chinese aid and local ethnic identification." *International Organization* 74 (4): 833–852.
- Ben David, Yael, and Orly Idan. 2021. "Eyes Wide Shut: Political Ideology as a Tool of Discursive Avoidance Among Israeli-Jewish Students in the Context of Escalating Conflict." *Political Psychology* 42 (June): 371–387.
- Mutz, Diana, Edward D Mansfield, and Eunji Kim. 2021. "The Racialization of International Trade." *Political Psychology* 42 (4): 555-573.
- Powers, Kathleen E, Jason Reifler, and Thomas J Scotto. 2021. "Going Nativist: How Nativism and Economic Ideology Interact to Shape Beliefs about Global Trade." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 17 (May): orab015.

- Sumino, Takanori. 2021. "My Country, Right or Wrong: Education, Accumulated Democratic Experience, and Political Socialization of Blind Patriotism." *Political Psychology* 42 (6): 923-940.
- Mylonas, Harris, and Maya Tudor. 2021. "Nationalism: What We Know and What We Still Need to Know." *Annual Review of Political Science* 24 (May): 109–132.
- Ko, Jiyoung. 2022. "Not So Dangerous? Nationalism and Foreign Policy Preference." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (August): sqac053.
- Friedrichs, Gordon M. 2022. "Populist Minds Think Alike? National Identity Conceptions and Foreign Policy Preferences of Populist Leaders." Foreign Policy Analysis 18 (April): orac004.
- Kikuta, Kyosuke, and Mamoru Uesugi. 2023. "Do Politically Irrelevant Events Cause Conflict? The Cross-continental Effects of European Professional Football on Protests in Africa." *International Organization* 77 (1): 179–216.
- Martínez, Sergi, Vicente Valentim, and Elias Dinas. 2023. "Symbolic Conflict Resolution and Ingroup Favoritism." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 67 (November): 2028–2057.
- Paffrath, Julian, and Bernd Simon. 2023. "Dis-Embedded Identity of Majority Members: The Case of Catholics in Poland." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 67 (October): 1757–1782.
- Mußotter, Marlene. 2024. "On nation, homeland, and democracy: Toward a novel three-factor measurement model for nationalism and patriotism. Evidence from two representative studies." *Political Psychology* 45 (December): 903–921.
- Yeung, Eddy S F, Mengqiao Wang, and Kai Quek. 2024. "What is a Patriot? A Cross-National Study in China and the United States." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 20 (February): orae007.
- Zucker, Noah. Forthcoming. "Identity, Industry, and Perceptions of Climate Futures." *Journal of Politics*.

Constructing nations and ethnic groups

- Sumner, William Graham. 1906. Folkways. Boston, MA: Ginn.
- Fearon, James D., and David D. Laitin. 2000. "Violence and the Social Construction of Ethnic Identity." *International Organization* 54 (4): 845-877.
- Kaufman, Stuart J. 2001. *Modern Hatreds: The Symbolic Politics of Ethnic War*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Green, Donald P., and Rachel L. Seher. 2003. "What Role Does Prejudice Play in Ethnic Conflict?" Annual Review of Political Science 6: 509-531.
- Van Vugt, Mark, and Claire M. Hart. 2004. "Social identity as social glue: the origins of group loyalty." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 86 (4): 585-598.
- Fearon, James D. 2004. "Why Do Some Civil Wars Last So Much Longer Than Others?" *Journal of Peace Research* 41 (3): 275-301.
- Sniderman, Paul M., Louk Hagendoorn, and Markus Prior. 2004. "Predisposing Factors and Situational Triggers: Exclusionary Reactions to Immigrant Minorities." *American Political Science Review* 98 (1): 35-49.
- Hainmueller, Jens, and Michael J. Hiscox. 2007. "Educated Preferences: Explaining Attitudes Toward Immigration in Europe." *International Organization* 61 (2): 399-442.

- Chapman, Thomas, and Philip G Roeder. 2007. "Partition as a solution to wars of nationalism: The importance of institutions." *American Political Science Review* 101 (4): 677-691.
- Johnson, Carter. 2008. "Partitioning to peace: Sovereignty, demography, and ethnic civil wars." *International Security* 32 (4): 140-170.
- Bizumic, Boris, John Duckitt, Dragan Popadic, Vincent Dru, and Stephen Krauss. 2009. "A cross-cultural investigation into a reconceptualization of ethnocentrism." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 39 (6): 871–899.
- Paluck, Elizabeth Levy, and Donald P Green. 2009. "Deference, dissent, and dispute resolution: An experimental intervention using mass media to change norms and behavior in Rwanda." *American Political Science Review* 103 (4): 622.
- Kinder, Donald R, and Cindy D Kam. 2010. *Us against them: Ethnocentric foundations of American opinion*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Wright, Matthew. 2011. "Diversity and the imagined community: Immigrant diversity and conceptions of national identity." *Political Psychology* 32 (5): 837–862.
- Bizumic, Boris, and John Duckitt. 2012. "What Is and Is Not Ethnocentrism? A Conceptual Analysis and Political Implications." *Political Psychology* 33 (6): 887–909.
- Newman, Benjamin J, Todd K Hartman, and Charles S Taber. 2012. "Foreign language exposure, cultural threat, and opposition to immigration." *Political Psychology* 33 (5): 635–657.
- Malhotra, Neil, Yotam Margalit, and Cecilia Hyunjung Mo. 2013. "Economic explanations for opposition to immigration: Distinguishing between prevalence and conditional impact." *American Journal of Political Science* 57 (2): 391–410.
- Cederman, Lars-Erik. 2013. "Nationalism and Ethnicity in International Relations." In *Handbook of International Relations*, ed. Walter Carlsnaes, Thomas Risse, and Beth A. Simmons. 2nd ed. Sage Publications.
- Ozyurt, Saba. 2013. "Negotiating Multiple Identities, Constructing Western-Muslim Selves in the Netherlands and the United States." *Political Psychology* 34 (2): 239–263.
- Newman, Benjamin J, Todd K Hartman, and Charles S Taber. 2014. "Social dominance and the cultural politics of immigration." *Political Psychology* 35 (2): 165–186.
- Bloom, Pazit Ben-Nun, Gizem Arikan, and Marie Courtemanche. 2015. "Religious social identity, religious belief, and anti-immigration sentiment." *The American Political Science Review* 109 (2): 203-221.
- Callahan, Shannon P, and Alison Ledgerwood. 2016. "On the psychological function of flags and logos: Group identity symbols increase perceived entitativity." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 110 (4): 528-550.
- Dinesen, Peter Thisted, Robert Klemmensen, and Asbjørn Sonne Nørgaard. 2016. "Attitudes toward immigration: The role of personal predispositions." *Political Psychology* 37 (1): 55-72.
- Balcells, Laia, Lesley-Ann Daniels, and Abel Escribà-Folch. 2016. "The determinants of low-intensity intergroup violence: The case of northern Ireland." *Journal of Peace Research* 53 (1): 33-48.
- Enos, Ryan D., and Noam Gidron. 2016. "Intergroup Behavioral Strategies as Contextually Determined: Experimental Evidence from Israel." *Journal of Politics* 78 (3): 851-867.

- Flesken, Anaïd. 2018. "Ethnic Parties, Ethnic Tensions? Results of an Original Election Panel Study." *American Journal of Political Science* 62 (4): 967–981.
- Mitzen, Jennifer. 2018. "Feeling at home in Europe: Migration, ontological security, and the political psychology of EU bordering." *Political Psychology* 39 (6): 1373–1387.
- Andrews, Sarah, David Leblang, and Sonal S Pandya. 2018. "Ethnocentrism reduces foreign direct investment." *The Journal of Politics* 80 (2): 697–700.
- Pérez, Efrén O, Maggie Deichert, and Andrew M Engelhardt. 2019. "E Pluribus Unum? How Ethnic and National Identity Motivate Individual Reactions to a Political Ideal." The Journal of Politics 81 (4): 1420–1433.
- Politi, Emanuele, Marion Chipeaux, Fabio Lorenzi-Cioldi, and Christian Staerklé. 2020. "More royalist than the king? Immigration policy attitudes among naturalized citizens." *Political Psychology* 41 (3): 607–625.
- Lee, Siu-yau, and Kee-lee Chou. 2020. "How Nation Building Backfires: Beliefs about Group Malleability and Anti-Chinese Attitudes in Hong Kong." *Political Psychology* 41 (5): 923-944.
- Corstange, Daniel. 2020. "National and Subnational Identification in the Syrian Civil War." *Journal of Politics* 82 (3): 1176-1181.
- Depetris-Chauvin, Emilio, Ruben Durante, and Filipe Campante. 2020. "Building Nations through Shared Experiences: Evidence from African Football." *American Economic Review* 110 (May): 1572-1602.
- Green, Elliott. 2021. "The Politics of Ethnic Identity in Sub-Saharan Africa." *Comparative Political Studies* 54 (7): 1197-1226.
- Mousa, Salma. 2020. "Building social cohesion between Christians and Muslims through soccer in post-ISIS Iraq." *Science* 369 (6505): 866–870.
- Lindstam, Emmy, Matthias Mader, and Harald Schoen. 2021. "Conceptions of National Identity and Ambivalence towards Immigration." *British Journal of Political Science* 51 (January): 93–114.
- Tsygankov, Andrei P, and Pavel A Tsygankov. 2021. "Constructing National Values: The Nationally Distinctive Turn in Russian IR Theory and Foreign Policy." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 17 (July): orab022.
- Cammett, Melani, Christiana Parreira, Dominika Kruszewska-Eduardo, and Sami Atallah. 2022. "Commitment to the "National" in Post-Conflict Countries: Public and Private Security Provision in Lebanon." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 66 (August): 1235–1262.
- Manekin, Devorah, and Tamar Mitts. 2022. "Effective for Whom? Ethnic Identity and Nonviolent Resistance." *American Political Science Review* 116 (February): 161–180.
- Choi, Donghyun Danny, Mathias Poertner, and Nicholas Sambanis. 2022. *Native Bias: Overcoming Discrimination against Immigrants*. Princeton University Press.
- Chu, Jonathan A., and Carrie A. Lee. 2023. "Race, Religion, and American Support for Humanitarian Intervention." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* (November): 00220027231214716.
- Federico, Christopher M., Agnieszka Golec De Zavala, and Wen Bu. 2023. "Collective Narcissism as a Basis for Nationalism." *Political Psychology* 44 (February): 177–196.

- Juon, Andreas. 2023. "Inclusion, Recognition, and Inter-Group Comparisons: The Effects of Power-Sharing Institutions on Grievances." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 67 (October): 1783–1810.
- Balcells, Laia, Juan Fernando Tellez, and Francisco Villamil. 2024. "The Wars of Others: The Effect of the Russian Invasion of Ukraine on Spanish Nationalism." *The Journal of Politics* 86 (January): 352–357.
- Getmansky, Anna, Konstantinos Matakos, and Tolga Sinmazdemir. 2024. "Diversity without Adversity? Ethnic Bias toward Refugees in a Co-Religious Society." *International Studies Quarterly* 68 (March): sqae031.
- Gómez, Diana, José D. López, Luz S. Giraldo, David A. Huepe, Adolfo M. García, and Natalia Trujillo. 2024. "Exposure to armed conflict and monitoring as predictors of aggression in a population immersed in a long-term conflict." *Political Psychology* 45 (October): 827–839.
- Harding, Robin, and Arinze Nwokolo. 2024. "Terrorism, Trust, and Identity: Evidence from a Natural Experiment in Nigeria." *American Journal of Political Science* 68 (July): 942–957.
- Helms, Benjamin. 2024. "Global Economic Integration and Nativist Politics in Emerging Economies." *American Journal of Political Science* 68 (April): 595–612.
- Pepinsky, Thomas B, Ádám Reiff, and Krisztina Szabo. 2024. "The Ukrainian refugee crisis and the politics of public opinion: Evidence from Hungary." *Perspectives on Politics* 22 (4): 989-1014.
- Historical memory, apologies, and collective victimhood
 - Bar-Tal, Daniel, Lily Chernyak-Hai, Noa Schori, and Ayelet Gundar. 2009. "A sense of self-perceived collective victimhood in intractable conflicts." *International review of the Red Cross* 91 (874): 229–258.
 - Zarakol, Ayşe. 2010. "Ontological (in) security and state denial of historical crimes: Turkey and Japan." *International relations* 24 (1): 3–23.
 - Lind, Jennifer. 2011. Sorry states: Apologies in international politics. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
 - Wohl, Michael JA, Matthew J Hornsey, and Catherine R Philpot. 2011. "A critical review of official public apologies: Aims, pitfalls, and a staircase model of effectiveness." *Social Issues and Policy Review* 5 (1): 70–100.
 - Wohl, Michael JA, Matthew J Hornsey, and Shannon H Bennett. 2012. "Why group apologies succeed and fail: Intergroup forgiveness and the role of primary and secondary emotions." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 102 (2): 306.
 - Schori-Eyal, Noa, Eran Halperin, and Daniel Bar-Tal. 2014. "Three layers of collective victimhood: effects of multileveled victimhood on intergroup conflicts in the Israeli–Arab context." *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 44 (12): 778–794.
 - Cohrs, J Christopher, Andrew McNeill, and Johanna Ray Vollhardt. 2015. "The two-sided role of inclusive victimhood for intergroup reconciliation: Evidence from Northern Ireland." *Peace and Conflict: Journal of Peace Psychology* 21 (4): 634.
 - Hornsey, Matthew J., Tyler G. Okimoto, and Michael Wenzel. 2017. "The appraisal gap: Why victim and transgressor groups disagree on the need for a collective apology." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 47 (2): 135–147.

- Noor, Masi, Johanna Ray Vollhardt, Silvia Mari, and Arie Nadler. 2017. "The social psychology of collective victimhood." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 47 (2): 121–134.
- Imhoff, Roland, Micha'l Bilewicz, Katja Hanke, Dennis T Kahn, Naomi Henkel-Guembel, Slieman Halabi, Tal-Shani Sherman, and Gilad Hirschberger. 2017. "Explaining the inexplicable: Differences in attributions for the Holocaust in Germany, Israel, and Poland." Political Psychology 38 (6): 907–924.
- Licata, Laurent, Sammyh S Khan, Simona Lastrego, Rosa Cabecinhas, Joaquim Pires Valentim, and James H Liu. 2018. "Social representations of colonialism in Africa and in Europe: Structure and relevance for contemporary intergroup relations." *International Journal of Intercultural Relations* 62: 68–79.
- Nyhan, Brendan, and Thomas Zeitzoff. 2018. "Fighting the past: Perceptions of control, historical misperceptions, and corrective information in the Israeli-Palestinian conflict." *Political Psychology* 39 (3): 611–631.
- Wenzel, Michael, Ellie Lawrence-Wood, Tyler G Okimoto, and Matthew J Hornsey. 2018. "A long time coming: Delays in collective apologies and their effects on sincerity and forgiveness." *Political Psychology* 39 (3): 649–666.
- Chudy, Jennifer, Spencer Piston, and Joshua Shipper. 2019. "Guilt by association: White collective guilt in American politics." *The Journal of Politics* 81 (3): 968–981.
- Bouchat, Pierre, Laurent Licata, Valérie Rosoux, Christian Allesch, Heinrich Ammerer, Maria Babinska, Michal Bilewicz, Magdalena Bobowik, Inna Bovina, Susanne Bruckmüller, Rosa Cabecinhas, Xenia Chryssochoou, István Csertő, Sylvain Delouvée, Federica Durante, Andreea Ernst-Vintila, Christine Flassbeck, Renata Franc, Denis Hilton, Serap Keles, Chantal Kesteloot, Reşit Kışlıoğlu, Alice Krenn, Irina Macovei, Silvia Mari, Vanja Medugorac, Nebojša Petrović, Tibor Pólya, Maaris Raudsepp, Alberto Sá, Inari Sakki, Vladimir Turjacanin, Salman Türken, Laurence van Ypersele, Danijel Vojak, Chiara Volpato, Geneviève Warland, and Olivier Klein. 2019. "Greedy Elites and Poor Lambs: How Young Europeans Remember the Great War." *Journal of Social and Political Psychology* 7 (Aug.): 52-75.
- Roediger III, Henry L, Magdalena Abel, Sharda Umanath, Ruth A Shaffer, Beth Fairfield, Masanobu Takahashi, and James V Wertsch. 2019. "Competing national memories of World War II." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 116 (34): 16678–16686.
- Subotić, Jelena. 2019. Yellow Star, Red Star: Holocaust Remembrance after Communism. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Nair, Rashmi, and Johanna Ray Vollhardt. 2019. "Intersectional consciousness in collective victim beliefs: Perceived intragroup differences among disadvantaged groups." *Political Psychology* 40 (5): 917–934.
- Antoniou, Georgios, Elias Dinas, and Spyros Kosmidis. 2020. "Collective Victimhood and Social Prejudice: A Post-Holocaust Theory of Anti-Semitism." *Political Psychology* 41 (5): 861–886.
- Silverman, Daniel. 2020. "Too Late to Apologize? Collateral Damage, Post-Harm Compensation, and Insurgent Violence in Iraq." *International Organization* 74 (4): 853-871.
- Chu, Jonathan A., and Risa Kitigawa. 2021. "The Impact of Political Apologies on Public Opinion: Survey Experimental Evidence from Japan and the U.S." World Politics 73 (3): 441-481.
- Markiewicz, Tadek, and Keren Sharvit. 2021. "When Victimhood Goes to War? Israel and Victim Claims." *Political Psychology* 42 (February): 111–126.

- Aaskoven, Lasse. 2022. "Foreign Occupation and Support for International Cooperation: Evidence from Denmark." *World Politics* 74 (April): 285–325.
- Balcells, Laia, Valeria Palanza, and Elsa Voytas. 2022. "Do transitional justice museums persuade visitors? Evidence from a field experiment." *The Journal of Politics* 84 (1): 496–510.
- Berenskötter, Felix, and Mor Mitrani. 2022. "Is It Friendship? An Analysis of Contemporary German–Israeli Relations." *International Studies Quarterly* 66 (February): sqac001.
- Lin, Ying, Nava Caluori, Engin Bağış Öztürk, and Michele J Gelfand. 2022. "From virility to virtue: the psychology of apology in honor cultures." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 119 (41): e2210324119.
- Fittante, Daniel. 2023. "Memory Entrepreneurship: Armenian Genocide Recognition in Europe." *International Studies Quarterly* 68 (December): sqad100.
- Kazarovytska, Fiona, Roland Imhoff, and Gilad Hirschberger. 2025. "Beyond victimhood and perpetration: Reconstruction of the ingroup's historical role in eight Eastern and Western European countries under Nazi occupation." *Political Psychology* Forthcoming.
- Shelef, Nadav, and Ethan vanderWilden. 2025. "Re-evaluating the impact of collective victimhood on conflict attitudes: Results from a natural experiment, a survey experiment, and panel study using Israel's Holocaust Memorial Day." *American Journal of Political Science* Forthcoming.
- Mattes, Michaela, and Jessica L. P. Weeks. 2025. "Apology Diplomacy: The International Image Effects of Interstate Apologies." Working paper.

Violence as cause and effect: Political violence and exposure to threat and repression

- De Juan, Alexander, Felix Haass, Carlo Koos, Sascha Riaz, and Thomas Tichelbaecker. 2024. "War and Nationalism: How WW1 Battle Deaths Fueled Civilians' Support for the Nazi Party." American Political Science Review 118 (1): 144–162.
- Lupu, Noam, and Leonid Peisakhin. 2017. "The Legacy of Political Violence across Generations." American Journal of Political Science 61 (4): 836-851.
- Wayne, Carly, and Yuri M. Zhukov. 2022. "Never Again: The Holocaust and Political Legacies of Genocide." *World Politics* 74 (3): 367-404.
- Getmansky, Anna, and Thomas Zeitzoff. 2014. "Terrorism and Voting: The Effect of Rocket Threat on Voting in Israeli Elections." *American Political Science Review* 108 (3): 588-604.
- Godefroidt, Amélie. 2023. "How Terrorism Does (and Does Not) Affect Citizens' Political Attitudes: A Meta-Analysis." *American Journal of Political Science* 67 (January): 22–38.
- Myrick, Rachel. 2021. "Do External Threats Unite or Divide? Security Crises, Rivalries, and Polarization in American Foreign Policy." *International Organization* 75 (4): 921-958.
- Atran, Scott. 2021. "Psychology of Transnational Terrorism and Extreme Political Conflict." *Annual Review of Political Science* 72: 471-501.
- Shaver, Andrew, and Alexander K. Bollfrass. 2023. "Disorganized Political Violence: A Demonstration Case of Temperature and Insurgency." *International Organization* 77 (2): 440–474.

Recommended

Exposure to threat, violence, and repression

- Coser, Lewis A. 1956. The Functions of Social Conflict. New York: The Free Press.
- Greenberg, Jeff, Sheldon Solomon, and Tom Pyszczynski. 1997. "Terror management theory of self-esteem and cultural worldviews: Empirical assessments and conceptual refinements." *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology* 29: 61-139.
- Sechser, Todd S. 2004. "Are soldiers less war-prone than statesmen?" *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 48 (5): 746-774.
- Kam, Cindy D, and Donald R Kinder. 2007. "Terror and ethnocentrism: Foundations of American support for the war on terrorism." *Journal of Politics* 69 (2): 320-338.
- Berrebi, Claude, and Esteban F Klor. 2008. "Are voters sensitive to terrorism? Direct evidence from the Israeli electorate." *American Political Science Review* 102 (03): 279–301.
- Fritsche, Immo, Eva Jonas, and Thomas Fankhänel. 2008. "The Role of Control Motivation in Mortality Salience Effects on Ingroup Support and Defense." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 95 (3): 524-541.
- Vollhardt, Johanna Ray. 2009. "Altruism born of suffering and prosocial behavior following adverse life events: A review and conceptualization." *Social Justice Research* 22 (1): 53–97.
- Bellows, John, and Edward Miguel. 2009. "War and local collective action in Sierra Leone." *Journal of Public Economics* 93 (11): 1144–1157.

- Blattman, Christopher. 2009. "From violence to voting: War and political participation in Uganda." American Political Science Review 103 (02): 231–247.
- Canetti-Nisim, Daphna, Eran Halperin, Keren Sharvit, and Stevan E Hobfoll. 2009. "A new stress-based model of political extremism: personal exposure to terrorism, psychological distress, and exclusionist political attitudes." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 53 (3): 363-389.
- Lyall, Jason. 2009. "Does Indiscriminate Violence Incite Insurgent Attacks?: Evidence from Chechnya." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 53 (3): 331-362.
- Lambert, Alan J., Laura D. Scherer, John Paul Schott, Kristina R. Olson, Rick K. Andrews, Thomas C. O'Brien, and Alison R. Zisser. 2010. "Rally Effects, Threat, and Attitude Change." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 98 (6): 886-903.
- Kocher, Matthew Adam, Thomas B. Pepinsky, and Stathis N. Kalyvas. 2011. "Aerial Bombing and Counterinsurgency in the Vietnam War." *American Journal of Political Science* 55 (2): 201–218.
- Gneezy, Ayelet, and Daniel M. T. Fessler. 2011. "Conflict, sticks and carrots: war increases prosocial punishments and rewards." *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 279 (1727): 219–223.
- Nunn, Nathan, and Leonard Wantchekon. 2011. "The slave trade and the origins of mistrust in Africa." *The American Economic Review* 101 (7): 3221–3252.
- Wohl, Michael J. A., and Jay J Van Bavel. 2011. "Is identifying with a historically victimized group good or bad for your health? Transgenerational post-traumatic stress and collective victimization." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 41 (7): 818–824.
- Bateson, Regina. 2012. "Crime victimization and political participation." *American Political Science Review* 106 (03): 570–587.
- Jaeger, David A, Esteban F Klor, Sami H Miaari, and M Daniele Paserman. 2012. "The struggle for Palestinian hearts and minds: Violence and public opinion in the Second Intifada." *Journal of Public Economics* 96 (3): 354–368.
- Jha, Saumitra, and Steven Wilkinson. 2012. "Does combat experience foster organizational skill? Evidence from ethnic cleansing during the partition of South Asia." *American Political Science Review* 106 (4): 883–907.
- Condra, Luke N., and Jacob N. Shapiro. 2012. "Who Takes the Blame? The Strategic Effects of Collateral Damage." *American Journal of Political Science* 56 (1): 167–187.
- Voors, Maarten J, Eleonora EM Nillesen, Philip Verwimp, Erwin H Bulte, Robert Lensink, and Daan P Van Soest. 2012. "Violent conflict and behavior: a field experiment in Burundi." *The American Economic Review* 102 (2): 941–964.
- Jackson, Joshua J, Felix Thoemmes, Kathrin Jonkmann, Oliver Lüdtke, and Ulrich Trautwein. 2012. "Military Training and Personality Trait Development Does the Military Make the Man, or Does the Man Make the Military?" *Psychological Science* 23 (3): 270–277.
- Balcells, Laia. 2012. "The Consequences of Victimization on Political Identities: Evidence from Spain." *Politics & Society* 40 (3): 311-347.
- Hersh, Eitan D. 2013. "Long-term effect of September 11 on the political behavior of victims' families and neighbors." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110 (52): 20959-20963.

- Cassar, Alessandra, Pauline Grosjean, and Sam Whitt. 2013. "Legacies of violence: trust and market development." *Journal of Economic Growth* 18 (3): 285–318.
- Payne, Kenneth. 2013. "Social Psychology in Classic Counterinsurgency Writing." *Defence Studies* 13 (1): 80-98.
- Callen, Michael, Mohammad Isaqzadeh, James D. Long, and Charles Sprenger. 2014. "Violence and Risk Preference: Experimental Evidence from Afghanistan." *American Economic Review* 104 (1): 123-148.
- Gilligan, Michael J, Benjamin J Pasquale, and Cyrus Samii. 2014. "Civil war and social cohesion: Lab-in-the-field evidence from Nepal." *American Journal of Political Science* 58 (3): 604–619.
- Longo, Matthew, Daphna Canetti, and Nancy Hite-Rubin. 2014. "A Checkpoint Effect? Evidence from a Natural Experiment on Travel Restrictions in the West Bank." *American Journal of Political Science* 58 (4): 1006–1023.
- Horowitz, Michael C., and Allan C Stam. 2014. "How Prior Military Experience Influences The Future Militarized Behavior of Leaders." *International Organization* 68 (3): 527-559.
- Horowitz, Michael C., Allan C. Stam, and Cali M. Ellis. 2015. *Why Leaders Fight*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Grossman, Guy, Devorah Manekin, and Dan Miodownik. 2015. "The Political Legacies of Combat: Attitudes Toward War and Peace Among Israeli Ex-Combatants." *International Organization* 69 (9): 981–1009.
- Reilly, Jonathan Joseph. 2016. "No Postmaterialists in Foxholes: Postmaterialist Values, Nationalism, and National Threat in the People's Republic of China." *Political Psychology* 37 (4): 565-572.
- Souleimanov, Emil Aslan, and David S. Siroky. 2016. "Random or Retributive?: Indiscriminate Violence in the Chechen Wars." *World Politics* 68 (4): 677-712.
- Canetti, Daphna, Gilad Hirschberger, Carmit Rapaport, Julia Elad-Strenger, Tsachi Ein-Dor, Shifra Rosenzveig, Tom Pyszczynski, and Stevan E. Hobfoll. 2018. "Collective Trauma From the Lab to the Real World: The Effects of the Holocaust on Contemporary Israeli Political Cognitions." *Political Psychology* 39 (1): 3-21.
- Rozenas, Arturas, Sebastian Schutte, and Yuri M. Zhukov. 2017. "The Political Legacy of Violence: The Long-Term Impact of Stalin's Repression in Ukraine." *Journal of Politics* 79 (4): 1147-1161.
- Whitehouse, Harvey, Jonathan Jong, Michael D. Buhrmester, Ángel Gómez, Brock Bastian, Christopher M. Kavanagh, Martha Newson, Miriam Matthews, Jonathan A. Lanman, Ryan McKay, and Sergey Gavrilets. 2017. "The evolution of extreme cooperation via shared dysphoric experiences." *Scientific Reports* 7 (03): 44292 EP -.
- Hall, Jonathan, Iosif Kovras, Djordje Stefanovic, and Neophytos Loizides. 2018. "Exposure to Violence and Attitudes Towards Transitional Justice." *Political Psychology* 39 (2): 345-363.
- Dell, Melissa, and Pablo Querubin. 2018. "Nation Building Through Foreign Intervention: Evidence from Discontinuities in Military Strategies." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 133 (2): 701-764.
- DiCicco, Jonathan M, and Benjamin O Fordham. 2018. "The things they carried: generational effects of the Vietnam war on elite opinion." *International Studies Quarterly* 62 (1): 131–144.

- Littman, Rebecca. 2018. "Perpetrating violence increases identification with violent groups: Survey evidence from former combatants." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 44 (7): 1077–1089.
- Nair, Gautam, and Nicholas Sambanis. 2019. "Violence Exposure and Ethnic Identification: Evidence from Kashmir." *International Organization* 73 (2): 329-363.
- Østby, Gudrun, Michele Leiby, and Ragnhild Nordås. 2019. "The legacy of wartime violence on intimate-partner Abuse: microlevel evidence from Peru, 1980–2009." *International Studies Quarterly* 63 (1): 1–14.
- Tellez, Juan Fernando. 2019. "Worlds apart: Conflict exposure and preferences for peace." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 63 (4): 1053–1076.
- Rapp, Carolin, Sara Kijewski, and Markus Freitag. 2019. "The tolerance of Tamils: War-related experiences, psychological pathways, and the probability of granting civil liberties to former enemies." *The Journal of Politics* 81 (4): 1328–1341.
- Hadzic, Dino, and Margit Tavits. 2019. "The gendered effects of violence on political engagement." *The Journal of Politics* 81 (2): 676–680.
- Hazlett, Chad. 2020. "Angry or Weary? How Violence Impacts Attitudes toward Peace among Darfurian Refugees." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 64 (5): 844-870.
- Homola, Jonathan, Miguel M Pereira, and Margit Tavits. 2020. "Legacies of the Third Reich: Concentration Camps and Out-Group Intolerance." *American Political Science Review* 114 (2): 573–590.
- Meernik, James, and Kimi King. 2020. "The Security Consequences of Bearing Witness." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 64 (5): 933–957.
- Malcolm, Michael, Vidya Diwakar, and George Naufal. 2020. "Child Discipline in Times of Conflict." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 64 (6): 1070–1094.
- Krakowski, Krzysztof. 2020. "Pulled together or torn asunder? Community cohesion after symmetric and asymmetric civil war." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 64 (7-8): 1470–1498.
- Lin, Erin. 2022. "How War Changes Land: Soil Fertility, Unexploded Bombs, and the Underdevelopment of Cambodia." *American Journal of Political Science* 66 (1): 222-237.
- Bolton, Derek. 2021. "Targeting Ontological Security: Information Warfare in the Modern Age." *Political Psychology* 42 (February): 127–142.
- Hadzic, Dino, and Margit Tavits. 2021. "Wartime Violence and Post-War Women's Representation." *British Journal of Political Science* 51 (July): 1024–1039.
- Hartman, Alexandra C., Benjamin S. Morse, and Sigrid Weber. 2021. "Violence, Displacement, and Support for Internally Displaced Persons: Evidence from Syria." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 65 (November): 1791–1819.
- Kupatadze, Alexander, and Thomas Zeitzoff. 2021. "In the shadow of conflict: how emotions, threat perceptions and victimization influence foreign policy attitudes." *British Journal of Political Science* 51 (1): 181–202.
- Dyrstad, Karin, Helga M. Binningsbø, and Kristin M. Bakke. 2022. "Wartime Experiences and Popular Support for Peace Agreements: Comparative Evidence from Three Cases." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 66 (October): 1562–1588.

- Levy, Gabriella. 2022. "Evaluations of Violence at the Polls: Civilian Victimization and Support for Perpetrators after War." *The Journal of Politics* 84 (April): 783–797.
- Peffley, Mark, Marc L. Hutchison, and Michal Shamir. 2022. "Terrorism and Political Tolerance toward "Fellow Travelers"." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 66 (August): 1208–1234.
- Carothers, Christopher. 2022. "Does External Threat Unify? Chinese Pressure and Domestic Politics in Taiwan and South Korea." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 19 (October): orac039.
- Li, Mengyao, Bernhard Leidner, Gilad Hirschberger, and Jiyoung Park. 2023. "From Threat to Challenge: Understanding the Impact of Historical Collective Trauma on Contemporary Intergroup Conflict." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 18 (January): 190–209.
- Lupu, Yonatan, and Geoffrey PR Wallace. 2023. "Targeting and public opinion: An experimental analysis in Ukraine." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 67 (5): 951–978.
- Epifanio, Mariaelisa, Marco Giani, and Ria Ivandic. 2023. "Wait and See? Public Opinion Dynamics after Terrorist Attacks." *Journal of Politics* 85 (July): 843–859.
- Gaikwad, Nikhar, Erin Lin, and Noah Zucker. 2023. "Gender after Genocide: How Violence Shapes Long-Term Political Representation." World Politics 75 (3): 439–481.
- Singh, Shane P., and Jaroslav Tir. 2023. "Threat-Inducing Violent Events Exacerbate Social Desirability Bias in Survey Responses." *American Journal of Political Science* 67 (January): 154–169.
- Hintson, Jamie, and Milan Vaishnav. 2023. "Who Rallies around the Flag? Nationalist Parties, National Security, and the 2019 Indian Election." *American Journal of Political Science* 67 (April): 342–357.
- Aksoy, Deniz, Ted Enamorado, and Tony Zirui Yang. 2024. "Russian Invasion of Ukraine and Chinese Public Support for War." *International Organization* 78 (2): 341–360.
- Balcells, Laia, Juan Fernando Tellez, and Francisco Villamil. 2024. "The Wars of Others: The Effect of the Russian Invasion of Ukraine on Spanish Nationalism." *The Journal of Politics* 86 (January): 352–357.
- Damann, Taylor J., Dahjin Kim, and Margit Tavits. 2024. "Women and Men Politicians' Response to War: Evidence from Ukraine." *International Organization* 78 (2): 321–340.
- DiGiuseppe, Matthew, Alessia Aspide, and Jordan Becker. 2024. "Threats and the Public Constraint on Military Spending." *British Journal of Political Science* 54 (July): 649–666.
- Haran Diman, Amiad, and Dan Miodownik. 2024. "Legacies of Survival: Historical Violence and Ethnic Minority Behavior." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 68 (August): 1636–1670.
- Lesschaeve, Christophe, and Josip Glaurdić. 2024. "The Ties that Bind: War Histories and Online Social Networks in Postwar Societies." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 68 (August): 1443–1467.
- Lueders, Adrian, Robin Wollast, Armelle Nugier, and Serge Guimond. 2024. "Psychological responses to jihadist terrorism: Exploring a small but significant opinion shift towards minority inclusion among French citizens in response to the Charlie Hebdo terrorist attacks." *Political Psychology* 45 (February): 113–131.
- Martínez, Sergi. 2024. "Type of Violence and Ingroup Identity: Evidence From the Spanish Civil War." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 68 (July): 1168–1198.

- Kim, James D. 2024b. "The Long-run Impact of Childhood Wartime Violence on Preferences for Nuclear Proliferation." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 68 (January): 108–137.
- Rozenas, Arturas, Roya Talibova, and Yuri M Zhukov. 2024. "Fighting for tyranny: State repression and combat motivation." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 16 (3): 44–75.

Terrorism and (de)radicalization

- Pape, Robert A. 2003. "The Strategic Logic of Suicide Terrorism." *American Political Science Review* 97 (3): 343-361.
- McCormick, Gordon H. 2003. "Terrorist Decision Making." *Annual Review of Political Science* 6: 473-507.
- Bloom, Mia. 2005. Dying to kill: The allure of suicide terror. Columbia University Press.
- Horgan, John. 2005. The Psychology of Terrorism. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Kruglanski, Arie W., and Shira Fishman. 2006. "The Psychology of Terrorism: "Syndrome" Versus "Tool" Perspectives." *Terrorism and Political Violence* 18 (2): 193-215.
- Crenshaw, Martha. 2007. "Explaining Suicide Terrorism: A Review Essay." Security Studies 16 (1): 133-162.
- Tessler, Mark, and Michael D.H. Robbins. 2007. "What Leads Ordinary Arab Men and Women to Approve of Terrorist Acts Against the United States?" *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 51 (2): 305-328.
- Post, Jerrold M. 2007. *The Mind of the Terrorist: The Psychology of Terrorism from the IRA to al-Qaeda*. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Abrahms, Max. 2008. "What Terrorists Really Want: Terrorist Motives and Counterterrorism Strategy." *International Security* 32 (4): 78-105.
- Horgan, John. 2008. "From profiles to pathways and roots to routes: Perspectives from psychology on radicalization into terrorism." The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 618 (1): 80–94.
- Mintz, Alex, and David Brule. 2009. "Methodological Issues in Studying Suicide Terrorism." *Political Psychology* 30 (3): 365-371.
- Kruglanski, Arie W., Xiaoyan Chen, Mark Dechesne, Shira Fishman, and Edward Orehek. 2009. "Fully Committed: Suicide Bombers' Motivation and the Quest for Personal Significance." Political Psychology 30 (3): 331-357.
- Horgan, John, and Kurt Braddock. 2010. "Rehabilitating the terrorists?: Challenges in assessing the effectiveness of de-radicalization programs." *Terrorism and Political Violence* 22 (2): 267–291.
- King, Michael, and Donald M Taylor. 2011. "The radicalization of homegrown jihadists: A review of theoretical models and social psychological evidence." *Terrorism and Political Violence* 23 (4): 602–622.
- Altier, Mary Beth, Christian N Thoroughgood, and John G Horgan. 2014. "Turning away from terrorism: Lessons from psychology, sociology, and criminology." *Journal of Peace Research* 51 (5): 647-661.

- Kruglanski, Arie W, Michele J Gelfand, Jocelyn J Bélanger, Anna Sheveland, Malkanthi Hetiarachchi, and Rohan Gunaratna. 2014. "The psychology of radicalization and deradicalization: How significance quest impacts violent extremism." *Political Psychology* 35 (S1): 69–93.
- Abrahms, Max, and Philip B.K. Potter. 2015. "Explaining Terrorism: Leadership Deficits and Militant Group Tactics." *International Organization* 69 (3): 311–342.
- Littman, Rebecca, and Elizabeth Levy Paluck. 2015. "The cycle of violence: Understanding individual participation in collective violence." *Political Psychology* 36: 79–99.
- Jasko, Katarzyna, Gary LaFree, and Arie Kruglanski. 2017. "Quest for significance and violent extremism: The case of domestic radicalization." *Political Psychology* 38 (5): 815–831.
- Kruglanski, Arie W, Katarzyna Jasko, Marina Chernikova, Michelle Dugas, and David Webber. 2017. "To the fringe and back: Violent extremism and the psychology of deviance." *American Psychologist* 72 (3): 217.
- Webber, David, Marina Chernikova, Arie W Kruglanski, Michele J Gelfand, Malkanthi Hettiarachchi, Rohan Gunaratna, Marc-Andre Lafreniere, and Jocelyn J Belanger. 2018. "Deradicalizing detained terrorists." *Political Psychology* 39 (3): 539–556.
- Friedman, Rebekka. 2018. "Remnants of a checkered past: Female LTTE and social reintegration in post-war Sri Lanka." *International Studies Quarterly* 62 (3): 632–642.
- Vergani, Matteo, Kerry S O'Brien, Peter Lentini, and Greg Barton. 2019. "Does the Awareness of Mortality Shape People's Openness to Violence and Conflict? An Examination of Terror Management Theory." *Political Psychology* 40 (1): 111–124.
- Kustra, Tyler. 2019. "Make Love, Not War: Do Single Young Men Cause Political Violence?" *International Studies Quarterly* 63 (4): 890–896.
- Ferguson, Neil, and James W McAuley. 2020. "Radicalization or Reaction: Understanding Engagement in Violent Extremism in Northern Ireland." *Political Psychology* 41 (2): 215–230.
- Scull, Nicholas C, Othman Alkhadher, and Salman Alawadi. 2020. "Why People Join Terrorist Groups in Kuwait: A Qualitative Examination." *Political Psychology* 41 (2): 231–247.
- Koehler, Daniel. 2020. "Switching Sides: Exploring Violent Extremist Intergroup Migration Across Hostile Ideologies." *Political Psychology* 41 (3): 499–515.
- Miconi, Diana, Antonio Calcagnì, Abdelwahed Mekki-Berrada, and Cécile Rousseau. 2020. "Are there Local Differences in Support for Violent Radicalization? A Study on College Students in the Province of Quebec, Canada." *Political Psychology* Forthcoming.
- Morris, Andrea Michelle. 2020. "Who Wants to Be a Suicide Bomber? Evidence from Islamic State Recruits." *International Studies Quarterly* 64 (2): 306–315.
- Schmidt, Rachel. 2021. "Contesting the Fighter Identity: Framing, Desertion, and Gender in Colombia." *International Studies Quarterly* 65 (1): 43-55.
- van den Bos, Kees. 2020. "Unfairness and Radicalization." *Annual Review of Psychology* 71 (1): 563-588.
- Stoop, Nik, and Marijke Verpoorten. 2021. "Would You Fight? We Asked Aggrieved Artisanal Miners in Eastern Congo." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 65 (6): 1159-1186.

- Balcells, Laia, and Jessica A. Stanton. 2021. "Violence Against Civilians During Armed Conflict: Moving Beyond the Macro- and Micro-Level Divide." Annual Review of Political Science 24 (May): 45–69.
- Brandsch, Jürgen, and André Python. 2021. "Provoking Ordinary People: The Effects of Terrorism on Civilian Violence." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 65 (1): 135-165.
- Canetti, Daphna, Joshua Gubler, and Thomas Zeitzoff. 2021. "Motives Don't Matter? Motive Attribution and Counterterrorism Policy." *Political Psychology* 42 (June): 483–499.
- Kruglanski, Arie W., Ewa Szumowska, Catalina H. Kopetz, Robert J. Vallerand, and Antonio Pierro. 2021. "On the psychology of extremism: How motivational imbalance breeds intemperance." *Psychological Review* 128 (March): 264–289.
- Jahnke, Sara, Katharina Abad Borger, and Andreas Beelmann. 2022. "Predictors of Political Violence Outcomes among Young People: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *Political Psychology* 43 (February): 111–129.
- Obaidi, Milan, Gulnaz Anjum, Kinga Bierwiaczonek, John F. Dovidio, Simon Ozer, and Jonas R. Kunst. 2023. "Cultural threat perceptions predict violent extremism via need for cognitive closure." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 120 (May): e2213874120.
- Edgerton, Jared F. 2024. "Past and Present Group Exclusion and Conflict: Group Marginalization, Opportunity, and Islamic State Foreign Fighter Mobilization." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 68 (October): 1741–1768.
- Jensen, Michael A., Neil Ferguson, Sheehan Kane, and Gary LaFree. 2024. "Choosing Where to Fight: Do Social Networks Distinguish American ISIS Foreign Fighters from ISIS-Inspired Terrorists?" *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 68 (January): 3–29.

Genetic, neurobiological, evolutionary, and quantum psychology

- Rosen, Stephen Peter. 2005. *War and Human Nature*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, Chapter 3.
- Schaller, Mark, and Justin H Park. 2011. "The behavioral immune system (and why it matters)." Current Directions in Psychological Science 20 (2): 99–103.
- Lopez, Anthony C., Rose McDermott, and Michael Bang Petersen. 2011. "States in Mind: Evolution, Coalitional Psychology, and International Politics." *International Security* 36 (2): 48-83.
- Sell, Aaron, Leda Cosmides, John Tooby, Daniel Sznycer, Christopher von Rueden, and Michael Gurven. 2009. "Human adaptations for the visual assessment of strength and fighting ability from the body and face." *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 275: 575-584.
- Dunbar, R.I.M., and Anna Wallette. 2024. "Are there fitness benefits to violence? The case of medieval Iceland." *Evolution and Human Behavior* 45 (5): 106614.
- Holmes, Marcus. 2018. Face-to-Face Diplomacy: Social Neuroscience and International Relations. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, Excerpts.
- Landau-Wells, Marika. 2024. "Building from the Brain: Advancing the Study of Threat Perception in International Relations." *International Organization* Forthcoming.
- Pothos, Emmanuel M, and Jerome R Busemeyer. 2013. "Can quantum probability provide a new direction for cognitive modeling?" *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 36 (3): 255–274. See also some of the replies in the symposium.

Recommended

Genetic and neurobiological

- Mazur, Allan, and Allan Booth. 1998. "Testosterone and Dominance in Men." *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 21: 353-397.
- Masters, R.D. 2001. "Biology and Politics: Linking Nature and Nurture." *Annual Review of Political Science* 4: 345-369.
- Ochsner, Kevin N, and Matthew D Lieberman. 2001. "The emergence of social cognitive neuroscience." *American Psychologist* 56 (9): 717-734.
- Goldstein, Joshua S. 2001. War and Gender. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Eisenberger, Naomi I, Matthew D Lieberman, and Kipling D Williams. 2003. "Does rejection hurt? An fMRI study of social exclusion." *Science* 302 (5643): 290–292.
- Saxe, Rebecca, and Nancy Kanwisher. 2003. "People thinking about thinking people: the role of the temporo-parietal junction in "theory of mind"." *Neuroimage* 19 (4): 1835–1842.
- Greene, Joshua D, Leigh E Nystrom, Andrew D Engell, John M Darley, and Jonathan D Cohen. 2004. "The neural bases of cognitive conflict and control in moral judgment." *Neuron* 44 (2): 389–400.
- McDermott, Rose. 2004a. "The Feeling of Rationality: The Meaning of Neuroscientific Advances for Political Science." *Perspectives on Politics* 2 (4): 691-706.

- Camerer, Colin, George Loewenstein, and Drazen Prelec. 2005. "Neuroeconomics: How neuroscience can inform economics." *Journal of Economic Literature* 43 (1): 9–64.
- Alford, John R., Carolyn L. Funk, and John R. Hibbing. 2005. "Are Political Orientations Genetically Transmitted?" *American Political Science Review* 99 (2): 153-167.
- Horowitz, Michael, Rose McDermott, and Allan C Stam. 2005. "Leader Age, Regime Type, and Violent International Relations." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 49 (5): 661-685.
- Marler, Catherine, Brian Trainor, and Ellen Davis. 2005. "Paternal Behavior and Offspring Aggression." *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 14: 163-166.
- Johnson, Dominic D. P., Rose McDermott, Emily S. Barrett, Jonathan Cowden, Richard Wrangham, Matthew H. McIntyre, and Stephen Peter Rosen. 2006. "Overconfidence in wargames: experimental evidence on expectations, aggression, gender and testosterone." Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 273 (1600): 2513-2520.
- LaBar, Kevin, and Roberto Cebeza. 2006. "Cognitive neuroscience of emotional memory." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 7 (1): 54-64.
- Mitchell, Jason P, C Neil Macrae, and Mahzarin R Banaji. 2006. "Dissociable medial prefrontal contributions to judgments of similar and dissimilar others." *Neuron* 50 (4): 655–663.
- Poldrack, Russell A. 2006. "Can cognitive processes be inferred from neuroimaging data?" *Trends in cognitive sciences* 10 (2): 59–63.
- Tingley, Dustin. 2006. "Neurological imaging as evidence in political science: a review, critique, and guiding assessment." *Social Science Information* 45 (1): 5–33.
- Koenigs, Michael, Liane Young, Ralph Adolphs, Daniel Tranel, Fiery Cushman, Marc Hauser, and Antonio Damasio. 2007. "Damage to the prefrontal cortex increases utilitarian moral judgements." *Nature* 446 (7138): 908–911.
- McIntyre, Matthew H., Emily S. Barrett, Rose McDermott, Dominic D. P. Johnson, Jonathan Cowden, and Stephen P. Rosen. 2007. "Finger length ratio (2D:4D) and sex differences in aggression during a simulated war game." *Personality and Individual Differences* 42 (4): 755-764.
- McDermott, Rose. 2007. *Presidential Illness, Leadership and Decision Making*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Alford, John R., and John R. Hibbing. 2008. "The New Empirical Biopolitics." *Annual Review of Political Science* 11: 183-203.
- Todorov, Alexander, Chris P Said, Andrew D Engell, and Nikolaas N Oosterhof. 2008. "Understanding evaluation of faces on social dimensions." *Trends in cognitive sciences* 12 (12): 455–460.
- Mehta, Pranjal H, Amanda C Jones, and Robert A Josephs. 2008. "The social endocrinology of dominance: basal testosterone predicts cortisol changes and behavior following victory and defeat." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 94 (6): 1078.
- Settle, Jaime E., Christopher T. Dawes, and James H. Fowler. 2009. "The Heritability of Partisan Attachment." *Political Research Quarterly* 62 (3): 601-613.
- McKay, Ryan T., and Daniel C. Dennett. 2009. "The evolution of misbelief." *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 32 (6): 493–510.

- Becker, William J, and Russell Cropanzano. 2010. "Organizational neuroscience: The promise and prospects of an emerging discipline." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 31 (7): 1055–1059.
- Lewis, Gary J., and Timothy C. Bates. 2010. "Genetic Evidence for Multiple Biological Mechanisms Underlying In-Group Favoritism." *Psychological Science* 21 (11): 1623-1628.
- Kanai, Ryota, Tom Feilden, Colin Firth, and Geraint Rees. 2011. "Political Orientations Are Correlated with Brain Structure in Young Adults." *Current Biology* 21 (04): 677–680.
- Hatemi, Peter K, and Rose McDermott. 2012. "A neurobiological approach to foreign policy analysis: Identifying individual differences in political violence." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 8 (2): 111–129.
- Cikara, Mina, Emile G Bruneau, and Rebecca R Saxe. 2011. "Us and them intergroup failures of empathy." *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 20 (3): 149–153.
- Jacobi, Daniel, and Annette Freyberg-Inan. 2012. "The Forum: Human Being(s) in International Relations." *International Studies Review* 14 (4): 645–665.
- Montoya, Estrella R, David Terburg, Peter A Bos, and Jack Van Honk. 2012. "Testosterone, cortisol, and serotonin as key regulators of social aggression: A review and theoretical perspective." *Motivation and emotion* 36 (1): 65–73.
- McDermott, Rose, Chris Dawes, Elizabeth Prom-Wormley, Lindon Eaves, and Peter K Hatemi. 2013. "MAOA and Aggression A Gene–Environment Interaction in Two Populations." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 57 (6): 1043–1064.
- McDermott, Rose, and Peter K. Hatemi. 2014. "The Study of International Politics in the Neurobiological Revolution: A Review of Leadership and Political Violence." *Millennium* 43 (1): 92-123.
- Cikara, Mina, and Jay J Van Bavel. 2014. "The Neuroscience of Intergroup Relations: An Integrative Review." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 9 (3): 245-274.
- Lewis, G.J., C. Kandler, and R. Riemann. 2014. "Distinct Heritable Influences Underpin In-Group Love and Out-Group Derogation." *Social Psychological and Personality Science* 5 (4): 407-413.
- Jost, John T., H. Hannah Nam, David M. Amodio, and Jay J. Van Bavel. 2014. "Political Neuroscience: The Beginning of a Beautiful Friendship." *Political Psychology* 35: 3–42.
- McDermott, Rose. 2014a. "The Biological Bases for Aggressiveness and Nonaggressiveness in Presidents." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 10 (4): 313–327.
- Achtziger, Anja, Carlos Alós-Ferrer, Sabine Hügelschäfer, and Marco Steinhauser. 2014. "The neural basis of belief updating and rational decision making." *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience* 9 (1): 55-62.
- Fazekas, Zoltán, and Levente Littvay. 2015. "The Importance of Context in the Genetic Transmission of U.S. Party Identification." *Political Psychology* 36 (4): 361-377.
- McDermott, Rose. 2015. "Sex and Death: Gender Differences in Aggression and Motivations for Violence." *International Organization* 69 (6): 753–775.
- Renshon, Jonathan, Jooa Julia Lee, and Dustin Tingley. 2015. "Physiological arousal and political beliefs." *Political Psychology* 36 (5): 569–585.

- Peterson, Rolfe Daus, and Carl L. Palmer. 2018. "Effects of physical attractiveness on political beliefs." *Politics and the Life Sciences* 36 (2): 3–16.
- Schreiber, Darren. 2017. "Neuropolitics: Twenty years later." *Politics and the Life Sciences* 36 (2): 114–131.
- Kam, Cindy D. 2019. "Infectious Disease, Disgust, and Imagining the Other." *The Journal of Politics* 81 (4): 1371–1387.
- Berinsky, Adam J, Sara Chatfield, and Gabriel Lenz. 2019. "Facial dominance and electoral success in times of war and peace." *The Journal of Politics* 81 (3): 1096–1100.
- Petersen, Michael Bang, and Lasse Laustsen. 2019. "Upper-body strength and political egalitarianism: Twelve conceptual replications." *Political Psychology* 40 (2): 375–394.
- Ksiazkiewicz, Aleksander. 2020. "Conservative larks, liberal owls: The relationship between chronotype and political ideology." *The Journal of Politics* 82 (1): 367–371.
- Gammon, Earl. 2020. "Affective neuroscience, emotional regulation, and international relations." *International Theory* 12 (2): 189–219.
- Landau-Wells, Marika, and Rebecca Saxe. 2020. "Political preferences and threat perception: opportunities for neuroimaging and developmental research." *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences* 34: 58–63.
- Peterson, Johnathan C, Kevin B Smith, and John R Hibbing. 2020. "Do people really become more conservative as they age?" *The Journal of Politics* 82 (2): 600–611.
- Aarøe, Lene, Michael Bang Petersen, and Kevin Arceneaux. 2020. "The behavioral immune system shapes partisan preferences in modern democracies: Disgust sensitivity predicts voting for socially conservative parties." *Political Psychology* 41 (6): 1073-1091.
- Han, Xiaochun, Shuai Zhou, Nardine Fahoum, Taoyu Wu, Tianyu Gao, Simone Shamay-Tsoory, Michele J. Gelfand, Xinhuai Wu, and Shihui Han. 2021. "Cognitive and neural bases of decision-making causing civilian casualties during intergroup conflict." *Nature Human Behaviour* 5 (March): 1214–1225.
- Osmundsen, Mathias, David J. Hendry, Lasse Laustsen, Kevin B. Smith, and Michael Bang Petersen. 2022. "The Psychophysiology of Political Ideology: Replications, Reanalyses, and Recommendations." *The Journal of Politics* 84 (January): 50–66.
- Sawyer, Katherine. 2023. "Biophysiological Risk-Factors for Political Violence." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 67 (May): 809–827.

Evolutionary

- Shaw, R. Paul, and Yuwa Wong. 1987. "Ethnic Mobilization and the Seeds of Warfare: An Evolutionary Perspective." *International Studies Quarterly* 31 (1): 5-31.
- Cosmides, Leda, and John Tooby. 1992. "Cognitive Adaptations for Social Exchange." In *The Adapted Mind: Evolutionary Psychology and the Generation of Culture*, ed. Jerome H. Barkow, John Tooby, and Leda Cosmides. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Cosmides, Leda, and John Tooby. 1994. "Evolutionary Psychology and the Invisible Hand." American Economic Review 84 (2): 327-332.

- Thayer, Bradley A. 2000. "Bringing in Darwin: Evolutionary Theory, Realism, and International Politics." *International Security* 25 (2): 124-51.
- Johnson, Dominic D. P., Richard W. Wrangham, and Stephen Peter Rosen. 2002. "Is military incompetence adaptive? An empirical test with risk-taking behaviour in modern warfare." *Evolution and Human Behavior* 23: 245–264.
- Alford, John R., and John R. Hibbing. 2004. "The Origin of Politics: An Evolutionary Theory of Political Behavior." *Perspectives on Politics* 2 (4).
- Rushton, J. Philippe. 2005. "Ethnic nationalism, evolutionary psychology and Genetic Similarity Theory." *Nations and Nationalism* 11 (4): 489–507.
- Bell, Duncan. 2006. "Beware of false prophets: biology, human nature and the future of International Relations theory." *International Affairs* 82 (3): 493-510.
- Jackson, Stevi, and Amanda Rees. 2007. "The Appalling Appeal of Nature: The Popular Influence of Evolutionary Psychology as a Problem for Sociology." *Sociology* 41 (5): 917-930.
- Lieberman, Debra, John Tooby, and Leda Cosmides. 2007. "The architecture of human kin detection." *Nature* 445 (7129): 727-731.
- Thayer, Bradley A. 2007. "Thinking about Nuclear Deterrence Theory: Why Evolutionary Psychology Undermines Its Rational Actor Assumptions." *Comparative Strategy* 26 (4): 311-323.
- Sell, Aaron, Leda Cosmides, John Tooby, Daniel Sznycer, Christopher von Rueden, and Michael Gurven. 2009. "Human adaptations for the visual assessment of strength and fighting ability from the body and face." *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 275: 575-584.
- Kanazawa, Satoshi. 2009. "Evolutionary Psychological Foundations of Civil Wars." *Journal of Politics* 71 (1): 25-34.
- Buss, David M. 2009. "How can evolutionary psychology successfully explain personality and individual differences?" *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 4 (4): 359–366.
- Oaten, Megan, Richard J Stevenson, and Trevor I Case. 2009. "Disgust as a disease-avoidance mechanism." *Psychological bulletin* 135 (2): 303-321.
- Cunningham, Karla J. 2009. "Female Survival Calculations in Politically Violent Settings: How Political Violence and Terrorism Are Viewed as Pathways to Life." *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 32 (7): 561–575.
- Thayer, Bradley A., and Valerie M. Hudson. 2010. "Sex and the Shaheed: Insights from the Life Sciences on Islamic Suicide Terrorism." *International Security* 34 (4): 37-62.
- Johnson, Dominic D. P., Nils B. Weidmann, and Lars-Erik Cederman. 2011. "Fortune Favours the Bold: An Agent-Based Model Reveals Adaptive Advantages of Overconfidence in War." PLoS ONE 6 (6): e20851.
- Mercier, Hugo, and Dan Sperber. 2011. "Why Do Humans Reason? Arguments for an Argumentative Theory." *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 34 (2): 57-111.
- Lopez, Anthony C., and Rose McDermott. 2012. "Adaptation, Heritability, and the Emergence of Evolutionary Political Science." *Political Psychology* 33 (3): 343-362.
- Donnelly, Jack. 2012. "The Elements of the Structures of International Systems." *International Organization* 66 (4): 609-43.

- Johnson, Dominic DP, and Monica Duffy Toft. 2013. "Grounds for War: The Evolution of Territorial Conflict." *International Security* 38 (3): 7–38.
- Tang, Shiping. 2013. The Social Evolution of International Politics. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Petersen, Michael Bang. 2015. "Evolutionary Political Psychology: On the Origin and Structure of Heuristics and Biases in Politics." *Advances in Political Psychology* 36 (S1): 45-78.
- Pinker, Steven. 2015. "The False Allure of Group Selection." In *The Handbook of Evolutionary Psychology*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Lopez, Anthony C. 2016. "The evolution of war: theory and controversy." *International Theory* 8 (01): 97–139.
- von Hippel, William, and David M. Buss. 2017. "Do ideologically driven scientific agendas impede the acceptance of evolutionary principles in social psychology?" In *The Politics of Social Psychology*, ed. Jarret T. Crawford and Lee Jussim. Psychology Press.
- McDermott, Rose. 2017. "The evolved psychology of coercion." Comparative Strategy 36 (2): 91-98.
- Wrangham, Richard W. 2018. "Two types of aggression in human evolution." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115 (2): 245-253.
- Glowacki, Luke, Michael L. Wilson, and Richard W. Wrangham. 2017. "The evolutionary anthropology of war." *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization* Forthcoming.
- Rusch, Hannes, and Sergey Gavrilets. 2020. "The logic of animal intergroup conflict: A review." Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 178: 1014-1030.
- Henrich, Joseph, and Michael Muthukrishna. 2021. "The Origins and Psychology of Human Cooperation." *Annual Review of Psychology* 72: 207-240.
- Houghton, David Patrick, and Alvaro Mendez. 2022. "Visceral Politics and Its Impact on US Foreign Policy Decision-Making." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 19 (October): orac025.
- Miller, Ross A. 2022. "Facial Metrics, Aggression, and the Use of Military Force." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 18 (October): orac023.
- Rathbun, Brian C., and Caleb Pomeroy. 2022. "See No Evil, Speak No Evil? Morality, Evolutionary Psychology, and the Nature of International Relations." *International Organization* 76 (3): 656–689.

Quantum cognition

- Busemeyer, Jerome R, and Peter D Bruza. 2012. *Quantum models of cognition and decision*. Cambridge University Press.
- Wang, Zheng, Tyler Solloway, Richard M Shiffrin, and Jerome R Busemeyer. 2014. "Context effects produced by question orders reveal quantum nature of human judgments." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 111 (26): 9431–9436.
- Bruza, Peter D, Zheng Wang, and Jerome R Busemeyer. 2015. "Quantum cognition: a new theoretical approach to psychology." *Trends in cognitive sciences* 19 (7): 383–393.
- Busemeyer, Jerome R, and Zheng Wang. 2015. "What is quantum cognition, and how is it applied to psychology?" *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 24 (3): 163–169.
- Wendt, Alexander. 2015. Quantum mind and social science. Cambridge University Press.
- Pothos, Emmanuel M., and Jerome R. Busemeyer. 2022. "Quantum Cognition." *Annual Review of Psychology* 73: 749–78.